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PART I—FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. Financial Statements.
MAGELLAN HEALTH, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except per share amounts)
March 31,
2020
(unaudited)

December 31,
2019

ASSETS
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents ($146,455 and $123,877 restricted at December 31, 2019 and March 31, 2020,
respectively)
Accounts receivable, net
Short-term investments ($318,464 and $329,237 restricted at December 31, 2019 and March 31, 2020, respectively)
Pharmaceutical inventory
Other current assets ($38,602 and $42,900 restricted at December 31, 2019 and March 31, 2020, respectively)
Total Current Assets
Property and equipment, net
Long-term investments ($10,111 and $6,178 restricted at December 31, 2019 and March 31, 2020, respectively)
Deferred income taxes
Other long-term assets
Goodwill
Other intangible assets, net
Total Assets
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Medical claims payable
Other medical liabilities
Current debt, finance lease and deferred financing obligations
Total Current Liabilities
Long-term debt, finance lease and deferred financing obligations
Deferred income taxes
Tax contingencies
Deferred credits and other long-term liabilities
Total Liabilities
Preferred stock, par value $.01 per share
Authorized—10,000 shares at December 31, 2019 and March 31, 2020-Issued and outstanding-none
Common stock, par value $.01 per share
Authorized—100,000 shares at December 31, 2019 and March 31, 2020-Issued and outstanding-54,285 and 24,623
shares at December 31, 2019, respectively, and 54,631 and 24,969 shares at March 31, 2020, respectively
Other Stockholders’ Equity:
Additional paid-in capital
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income
Treasury stock, at cost, 29,662 and 29,662 shares at December 31, 2019 and March 31, 2020, respectively
Total Stockholders’ Equity
Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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$

$

$

325,249
890,065
334,489
44,962
78,278
1,673,043
138,422
10,668
1,840
82,700
1,018,156
167,344
3,092,173

$

88,415
284,024
409,533
124,684
3,491
910,147
679,125
17,034
14,841
73,243
1,694,390

$

$

383,963
923,716
350,192
42,333
106,820
1,807,024
143,260
6,289
698
96,389
1,018,156
153,095
3,224,911

104,359
320,826
392,141
128,454
84,402
1,030,182
647,624
23,235
16,021
76,246
1,793,308

—

—

543

546

1,386,616
1,475,207
144
(1,464,727)
1,397,783
$ 3,092,173

$

1,402,797
1,493,044
(57)
(1,464,727)
1,431,603
3,224,911
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MAGELLAN HEALTH, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(Unaudited)
(In thousands, except per share amounts)
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2019
2020

Net revenue:
Managed care and other
PBM
Total net revenue
Costs and expenses:
Cost of care
Cost of goods sold
Direct service costs and other operating expenses (1)(2)
Depreciation and amortization
Interest expense
Interest and other income
Total costs and expenses
Income before income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net income
Net income per common share:
Basic (See Note 6)
Diluted (See Note 6)
Other comprehensive income
Unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale securities (3)
Comprehensive income

$ 1,223,979
515,510
1,739,489

$ 1,272,936
521,371
1,794,307

941,961
489,793
271,924
30,708
9,107
(4,974)
1,738,519
970
539
$
431

951,642
486,142
287,731
28,684
9,029
(3,759)
1,759,469
34,838
16,588
$
18,250

$
$

0.02
0.02

$
$

0.74
0.73

$

320
751

$

(201)
18,049

(1) Includes stock compensation expense of $9,607 and $6,057, for the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2020,
respectively.
(2) Includes changes in fair value of contingent consideration of $144 for the three months ended March 31, 2019.
(3) Net of income tax provision (benefit) of $100 and $(67) for the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2020,
respectively.
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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MAGELLAN HEALTH, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(Unaudited)
(In thousands)

Balance at December 31, 2018
Stock compensation expense
Exercise of stock options
Issuance of equity
Repurchase of stock
Net income
Other comprehensive income—other
Adoption of ASC 842
Balance at March 31, 2019

Common Stock
Shares
Amount
53,536
535
—
—
41
1
118
1
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
53,695
537

Common Stock
In Treasury
Shares
Amount
(29,601)
(1,461,002)
—
—
—
—
—
—
(61)
(3,725)
—
—
—
—
—
—
(29,662)
(1,464,727)

Balance at December 31, 2019
Stock compensation expense
Exercise of stock options
Issuance of equity
Repurchase of stock
Net income
Other comprehensive income—other
Adoption of ASC 326
Balance at March 31, 2020

54,285
—
216
130
—
—
—
—
54,631

(29,662)
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
(29,662)

$

$

543
—
2
1
—
—
—
—
546

$ (1,464,727)
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
$ (1,464,727)

Additional
Paid in
Capital
1,326,645
9,607
2,044
(447)
—
—
—
—
1,337,849

Retained
Earnings
1,419,449
—
—
—
—
431
—
(145)
1,419,735

$ 1,386,616
6,057
11,261
(1,137)
—
—
—
—
$ 1,402,797

$ 1,475,207
—
—
—
—
18,250
—
(413)
$ 1,493,044

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
(Loss) Income
(324)
—
—
—
—
—
320
—
(4)
$

$

144
—
—
—
—
—
(201)
—
(57)

Total
Stockholders’
Equity
1,285,303
9,607
2,045
(446)
(3,725)
431
320
(145)
1,293,390
$

$

1,397,783
6,057
11,263
(1,136)
—
18,250
(201)
(413)
1,431,603
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MAGELLAN HEALTH, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31,
(Unaudited)
(In thousands)
2019

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash from operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Non-cash interest expense
Non-cash stock compensation expense
Non-cash income tax (benefit) provision
Non-cash amortization on investments
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effects from acquisitions of businesses:
Accounts receivable, net
Pharmaceutical inventory
Other assets
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Medical claims payable and other medical liabilities
Contingent consideration
Tax contingencies
Deferred credits and other long-term liabilities
Other
Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures
Acquisitions and investments in businesses, net of cash acquired
Purchases of investments
Proceeds from maturities and sales of investments
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from borrowings on revolving line of credit
Payments to acquire treasury stock
Proceeds from exercise of stock options
Payments on debt, finance lease and deferred financing obligations
Payments on contingent consideration
Other
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period
Supplemental cash flow data:
Non-cash investing activities:
Assets acquired under finance leases and deferred financing obligations
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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$

431

2020

$

18,250

30,708
326
9,607
(250)
(192)

28,684
585
6,057
7,802
325

(23,804)
(6,333)
(10,835)
20,399
19,671
(1,609)
83
(2,889)
111
35,424

(33,291)
2,629
(41,862)
52,746
(13,622)
—
925
3,003
(505)
31,726

(12,642)
(320)
(172,766)
128,748
(56,980)

(15,719)
(369)
(164,311)
152,394
(28,005)

—
80,000
(4,124)
—
2,045
10,903
(7,323)
(34,774)
(6,247)
—
(1,702)
(1,136)
(17,351)
54,993
(38,907)
58,714
272,308
325,249
$ 233,401 $ 383,963

$

3,302

$

3,599
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MAGELLAN HEALTH, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
March 31, 2020
(Unaudited)
NOTE A—General
Basis of Presentation
The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements of Magellan Health, Inc., a Delaware corporation
(“Magellan”), include Magellan and its subsidiaries (together with Magellan, the “Company”). The financial statements
have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States for interim financial
information and with the Securities and Exchange Commission’s (the “SEC”) instructions to Form 10-Q. Accordingly, the
financial statements do not include all of the information and footnotes required by accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States for complete financial statements. In the opinion of management, all adjustments, consisting
of normal recurring adjustments considered necessary for a fair presentation, have been included. The results of operations
for the three months ended March 31, 2020 are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the full year. All
significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.
These unaudited consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the Company’s audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2019 and the notes thereto, which are included in the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 28, 2020.
Business Overview
The Company provides managed care services for some of the most complex areas of healthcare. The Company
offers innovative solutions that combine analytics, technology and clinical rigor to drive better decision making, positively
impact members’ health outcomes and optimize the cost of care for the customers Magellan serves. The Company provides
services to health plans and other managed care organizations (“MCOs”), employers, labor unions, various military and
governmental agencies and third-party administrators (“TPAs”). Magellan operates three segments: Healthcare, Pharmacy
Management and Corporate.
Healthcare
The Healthcare segment “Healthcare” consists of two reporting units – Behavioral & Specialty Health and
Magellan Complete Care (“MCC”). On April 30, 2020, the Company and Molina Healthcare, Inc. (“Molina”) entered into
a Stock and Asset Purchase Agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) pursuant to which the Company has agreed to sell its
MCC business to Molina (the “MCC Sale”), as further described below in Part I. Item 2. Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations under the heading “Healthcare – Recent Developments – MCC
Stock and Asset Purchase Agreement”.
The Behavioral & Specialty Health reporting unit’s customers include health plans, accountable care organizations
(“ACOs”), employers, the United States military and various federal government agencies for whom Magellan provides
carve-out management services for (i) behavioral health, (ii) employee assistance plans (“EAP”) and (iii) other areas of
specialty healthcare including diagnostic imaging, musculoskeletal management, cardiac and physical medicine. These
management services can be applied broadly across commercial, Medicaid and Medicare populations, or on a more
targeted basis for our health plans and ACO customers. The Behavioral & Specialty Health unit also includes Magellan’s
carve-out behavioral health contracts with various state Medicaid agencies.
The MCC reporting unit contracts with state Medicaid agencies and the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid
Services (“CMS”) to manage care for beneficiaries under various Medicaid and Medicare programs. MCC manages a wide
range of services from total medical cost to carve out long-term support services. MCC largely focuses on managing care
for more acute special populations including individuals with serious mental illness (“SMI”), dual eligibles, aged, blind and
disabled (“ABD”) and other populations with unique and often complex healthcare needs.
Magellan’s coordination and management of these healthcare and long-term support services are provided through
its comprehensive network of medical and behavioral health professionals, clinics, hospitals, skilled nursing facilities,
home care agencies and ancillary service providers. This network of credentialed providers is integrated with clinical and
quality improvement programs to improve access to care and enhance the healthcare experience for
6

Table of Contents
MAGELLAN HEALTH, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
March 31, 2020
(Unaudited)
individuals in need of care, while at the same time making the cost of these services more affordable for our customers.
The Company generally does not directly provide or own any provider of treatment services, although it does employ
licensed behavioral health counselors to deliver non-medical counseling under certain government contracts.
The Company provides its Healthcare management services primarily through: (i) risk-based contractual
arrangements, where the Company assumes all or a substantial portion of the responsibility for the cost of providing
treatment services in exchange for a fixed PMPM fee, or (ii) administrative services only (“ASO”) contractual
arrangements, where the Company provides services such as utilization review, claims administration and/or provider
network management, but does not assume full responsibility for the cost of the treatment services, in exchange for an
administrative fee and, in some instances, a gain share.
Pharmacy Management
The Pharmacy Management segment (“Pharmacy Management”) is comprised of services that provide clinical
and financial management of pharmaceuticals paid under both the medical and the pharmacy benefit. Pharmacy
Management’s customer solutions include: (i) pharmacy benefit management (“PBM”) services, including pharmaceutical
dispensing operations; (ii) pharmacy benefit administration (“PBA”) for state Medicaid and other government sponsored
programs; (iii) clinical and formulary management programs; (iv) medical pharmacy management programs; and
(v) programs for the integrated management of specialty drugs across both the medical and pharmacy benefit that treat
complex conditions, regardless of site of service, method of delivery, or benefit reimbursement.
These services are available individually, in combination, or in a fully integrated manner. The Company markets
its pharmacy management services to managed care organizations, employers, third party administrators, state
governments, Medicare Part D, and other government agencies, exchanges, brokers and consultants. In addition, the
Company will continue to upsell its pharmacy services to its existing customers and market its pharmacy solutions to the
Healthcare customer base.
Pharmacy Management contracts with its customers for services using risk-based, gain share or ASO
arrangements. In addition, Pharmacy Management provides services to the Healthcare segment for most of the MCC
business.
Corporate
This segment of the Company is comprised primarily of amounts not allocated to the Healthcare and Pharmacy
Management segments that are largely associated with costs related to being a publicly traded company.
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13, “Financial Instruments-Credit Losses (Topic 326):
Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments” (“ASU 2016-13” or “ASC 326”). This ASU amends the
accounting on reporting credit losses for assets held at amortized cost basis and available for sale debt securities. This
guidance is effective for annual and interim periods of public entities beginning after December 15, 2019, with early
adoption permitted for fiscal years beginning after December 31, 2018. The Company adopted ASC 326 on a modified
retrospective basis on January 1, 2020. The adoption of ASC 326 did not have a material impact on the Company’s
consolidated results of operation, financial position and cash flows.
In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-04, “Intangibles-Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Simplifying
the Test for Goodwill Impairment” (“ASU 2017-04”). The amendments in this ASU eliminate the requirement to calculate
the implied fair value of goodwill to measure a goodwill impairment charge. This guidance is effective for annual and
interim periods of public entities beginning after December 15, 2019, and was adopted by the
7
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MAGELLAN HEALTH, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
March 31, 2020
(Unaudited)
Company in the quarter ended March 31, 2020. The effect of this guidance was immaterial to the Company’s consolidated
results of operations, financial position and cash flows.
In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-15, “Intangibles-Goodwill and Other–Internal-Use Software
(Subtopic 350-40): Customer’s Accounting for Implementation Costs Incurred in a Cloud Computing Arrangement That Is
a Service Contract” (“ASU 2018-15”). This ASU aligns the requirements for capitalizing implementation costs incurred in
a hosting arrangement that is a service contract with the requirements for capitalizing implementation costs incurred to
develop or obtain internal-use software. This guidance is effective for annual and interim periods of public entities
beginning after December 15, 2019, and was adopted by the Company in the quarter ended March 31, 2020. The effect of
this guidance was immaterial to the Company’s consolidated results of operations, financial position and cash flows.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue
and expenses during the reporting period. Significant estimates of the Company can include, among other things, valuation
of goodwill and intangible assets, medical claims payable, other medical liabilities, stock compensation assumptions, tax
contingencies and legal liabilities. In addition, the Company also makes estimates in relation to revenue recognition under
Accounting Standard Codification 606 (“ASC 606”) which are explained in more detail in “Revenue Recognition” below.
Actual results could differ from those estimates.

8
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MAGELLAN HEALTH, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
March 31, 2020
(Unaudited)

Revenue Recognition
Virtually all of the Company’s revenues are derived from business in North America. The following tables
disaggregate our revenue for the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2020 by major service line, type of customer and
timing of revenue recognition (in thousands):
Three Months Ended March 31, 2019
Pharmacy
Management
Elimination

Healthcare

Major Service Lines
Behavioral & Specialty Health
Risk-based, non-EAP
EAP risk-based
ASO
Magellan Complete Care
Risk-based, non-EAP
ASO
PBM, including dispensing
Medicare Part D
PBA
Formulary management
Other
Total net revenue
Type of Customer
Government
Non-government
Total net revenue
Timing of Revenue Recognition
Transferred at a point in time
Transferred over time
Total net revenue

$

$

$
$

$
$

361,808
89,617
55,203
642,571
15,054
—
—
—
—
—
1,164,253

$

$

888,492
275,761
1,164,253

$

—
1,164,253
1,164,253

$

9

$

$

—
—
8,143
—
—
493,224
63,341
33,977
17,183
592
616,460

$

$

203,271
413,189
616,460

$

556,565
59,895
616,460

$

$

$

(78)
—
(91)
—
—
(41,055)
—
—
—
—
(41,224)

Total

$

$

—
(41,224)
(41,224)

$

(41,055)
(169)
(41,224)

$

$

$

361,730
89,617
63,255
642,571
15,054
452,169
63,341
33,977
17,183
592
1,739,489

1,091,763
647,726
1,739,489

515,510
1,223,979
1,739,489
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MAGELLAN HEALTH, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
March 31, 2020
(Unaudited)

Three Months Ended March 31, 2020
Pharmacy
Management
Elimination

Healthcare

Major Service Lines
Behavioral & Specialty Health
Risk-based, non-EAP
EAP risk-based
ASO
Magellan Complete Care
Risk-based, non-EAP
ASO
PBM, including dispensing
Medicare Part D
PBA
Formulary management
Other
Total net revenue
Type of Customer
Government
Non-government
Total net revenue
Timing of Revenue Recognition
Transferred at a point in time
Transferred over time
Total net revenue

$

$

$
$

$
$

349,580
79,939
59,122
703,369
16,664
—
—
—
—
—
1,208,674

$

$

947,136
261,538
1,208,674

$

—
1,208,674
1,208,674

$

$

$

—
—
11,533
—
—
518,112
55,666
30,128
22,161
613
638,213

$

$

203,957
434,256
638,213

$

573,778
64,435
638,213

$

$

$

(90)
—
(83)
—
—
(52,407)
—
—
—
—
(52,580)

Total

$

$

—
(52,580)
(52,580)

$

(52,407)
(173)
(52,580)

$

$

$

349,490
79,939
70,572
703,369
16,664
465,705
55,666
30,128
22,161
613
1,794,307

1,151,093
643,214
1,794,307

521,371
1,272,936
1,794,307

Per Member Per Month (“PMPM”) Revenue. Almost all of the Healthcare revenue and a small portion of the
Pharmacy Management revenue is paid on a PMPM basis. PMPM revenue is inclusive of revenue from the Company’s
risk, EAP and ASO contracts and primarily relates to managed care contracts for services such as the provision of
behavioral healthcare, specialty healthcare, pharmacy management, or fully integrated healthcare services. PMPM
contracts generally have a term of one year or longer, with the exception of government contracts where the customer can
terminate with as little as 30 days’ notice for no significant penalty. All managed care contracts have a single performance
obligation that constitutes a series for the provision of managed healthcare services for a population of enrolled members
for the duration of the contract. The transaction price for PMPM contracts is entirely variable as it primarily includes
PMPM fees associated with unspecified membership that fluctuates throughout the contract. In certain contracts, PMPM
fees also include adjustments for things such as performance incentives, performance guarantees and risk shares. The
Company generally estimates the transaction price using an expected value methodology and amounts are only included in
the net transaction price to the extent that it is probable that a significant reversal of cumulative revenue will not occur once
any uncertainty is resolved. The majority of the Company’s net PMPM transaction price relates specifically to its efforts to
transfer the service for a distinct increment of the series (e.g. day or month) and is recognized as revenue in the month in
which members are entitled to service. The remaining transaction price is recognized over the contract period (or portion of
the series to which it specifically relates) based upon estimated membership as a measure of progress.
Under certain government contracts, our risk scores are compared with the overall average risk scores for the
relevant state and market pool. Generally, if our risk score is below the average risk score we are required to make a risk
adjustment payment into the risk pool, and if our risk score is above the average risk score we will receive a risk
adjustment payment from the risk pool. Risk adjustments can have a positive or negative retroactive impact to rates.
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MAGELLAN HEALTH, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
March 31, 2020
(Unaudited)
Pharmacy Benefit Management Revenue. The Company’s customers for PBM business, including pharmaceutical
dispensing operations, are generally comprised of MCOs, employer groups and health plans. PBM relationships generally
have an expected term of one year or longer. A master services arrangement (“MSA”) is executed by the Company and the
customer, which outlines the terms and conditions of the PBM services to be provided. When a member in the customer’s
organization submits a prescription, a claim is created which is presented for approval. The acceptance of each individual
claim creates enforceable rights and obligations for each party and represents a separate contract. For each individual
claim, the performance obligations are limited to the processing and adjudication of the claim, or dispensing of the
products purchased. Generally, the transaction price for PBM services is explicitly listed in each contract and does not
represent variable consideration. The Company recognizes PBM revenue, which consists of a negotiated prescription price
(ingredient cost plus dispensing fee), co-payments and any associated administrative fees, when claims are adjudicated or
the drugs are shipped. The Company recognizes PBM revenue on a gross basis (i.e. including drug costs and co-payments)
as it is acting as the principal in the arrangement, controls the underlying service, and is contractually obligated to its
clients and network pharmacies, which is a primary indicator of gross reporting. In addition, the Company is solely
responsible for the claims adjudication process, negotiating the prescription price for the pharmacy, collecting payments
from the client for drugs dispensed by the pharmacy, and managing the total prescription drug relationship with the client’s
members. If the Company enters into a contract where it is only an administrator, and does not assume any of the risks
previously noted, revenue will be recognized on a net basis. For dispensing, at the time of shipment, the earnings process is
complete; the obligation of the Company’s customer to pay for the specialty pharmaceutical drugs is fixed, and, due to the
nature of the product, the member may neither return the specialty pharmaceutical drugs nor receive a refund.
Medicare Part D. The Company is contracted with CMS as a Prescription Drug Plan (“PDP”) to provide
prescription drug benefits to Medicare beneficiaries. The accounting for Medicare Part D revenue is primarily the same as
that for PBM, as previously discussed. However, there is certain variable consideration present only in Medicare Part D
arrangements. The Company estimates the annual amount of variable consideration using a most likely amount
methodology, which is allocated to each reporting period based upon actual utilization as a percentage of estimated
utilization for the year. Amounts estimated throughout the year for interim reporting are substantially resolved and fixed as
of December 31st, the end of the plan year.
Pharmacy Benefit Administration Revenue. The Company provides Medicaid pharmacy services to states and
other government sponsored programs. PBA contracts are generally multi-year arrangements but include language
regarding early termination for convenience without material penalty provisions that results in enforceable rights and
obligations on a month-to-month basis. In PBA arrangements, the Company is generally paid a fixed fee per month to
provide PBA services. In addition, some PBA contracts contain upfront fees that constitute a material right. For contracts
without an upfront fee, there is a single performance obligation to stand ready to provide the PBA services required for the
contracted period. The Company believes that the customer receives the PBA benefits each day from access to the claims
processing activities, and has concluded that a time-based measure is appropriate for recognizing PBA revenue. For
contracts with an upfront fee, the material right represents an additional performance obligation. Amounts allocated to the
material right are initially recorded as a contract liability and recognized as revenue over the anticipated period of benefit
of the material right, which generally ranges from 2 to 10 years.
Formulary Management Revenue. The Company administers formulary management programs for certain clients
through which the Company coordinates the achievement, calculation and collection of rebates and administrative fees
from pharmaceutical manufacturers on behalf of clients. Formulary management contracts generally have a term of one
year or longer. All formulary management contracts have a single performance obligation that constitutes a series for the
provision of rebate services for a drug, with utilization measured and settled on a quarterly basis, for the duration of the
arrangement. The Company retains its administrative fee and/or a percentage of rebates that is included in its contract with
the client from collecting the rebate from the manufacturer. While the administrative fee and/or the percentage of rebates
retained is fixed, there is an unknown quantity of pharmaceutical purchases (utilization) during each quarter; therefore the
transaction price itself is variable. The Company uses the expected value methodology to estimate the total rebates earned
each quarter based on estimated volumes of pharmaceutical purchases by the Company’s clients during the quarter, as well
as historical and/or anticipated retained rebate percentages. The Company does not record as rebate revenue any rebates
that are passed through to its clients.
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In relation to the Company’s PBM business, the Company administers rebate programs through which it receives
rebates from pharmaceutical manufacturers that are shared with its customers. The Company recognizes rebates when the
Company is entitled to them and when the amounts of the rebates are determinable. The amount recorded for rebates
earned by the Company from the pharmaceutical manufacturers is recorded as a reduction of cost of goods sold.
Government EAP Risk-Based Revenue. The Company has certain contracts with federal customers for the
provision of various managed care services, which are classified as EAP risk-based business. These contracts are generally
multi-year arrangements. The Company’s federal contracts are reimbursed on either a fixed fee basis or a cost
reimbursement basis. The performance obligation on a fixed fee contract is to stand ready to provide the staffing required
for the contracted period. For fixed fee contracts, the Company believes the invoiced amount corresponds directly with the
value to the customer of the Company’s performance completed to date; therefore, the Company is utilizing the “right to
invoice” practical expedient, with revenue recognition in the amount for which the Company has the right to invoice.
The performance obligation on a cost reimbursement contract is to stand ready to provide the activity or services
purchased by the customer, such as the operation of a counseling services group or call center. The performance obligation
represents a series for the duration of the arrangement. The reimbursement rate is fixed per the contract; however, the level
of activity (e.g., number of hours, number of counselors or number of units) is variable. A majority of the Company’s cost
reimbursement transaction price relates specifically to its efforts to transfer the service for a distinct increment of the series
(e.g. day or month) and is recognized as revenue when the portion of the series for which it relates has been provided (i.e.
as the Company provides hours, counselors or units of service).
In accordance with ASC 606-10-50-13, the Company is required to include disclosure on its remaining
performance obligations as of the end of the current reporting period. Due to the nature of the contracts in the Company’s
PBM and Part D business, these reporting requirements are not applicable. The majority of the Company’s remaining
contracts meet certain exemptions as defined in ASC 606-10-50-14 through 606-10-50-14A, including (i) performance
obligation is part of a contract that has an original expected duration of one year or less; (ii) the right to invoice practical
expedient; and (iii) variable consideration related to unsatisfied performance obligations that is allocated entirely to a
wholly unsatisfied promise to transfer a distinct service that forms part of a single performance obligation, and the terms of
that variable consideration relate specifically to our efforts to transfer the distinct service, or to a specific outcome from
transferring the distinct service. For the Company’s contracts that pertain to these exemptions: (i) the remaining
performance obligations primarily relate to the provision of managed healthcare services to the customers’ membership;
(ii) the estimated remaining duration of these performance obligations ranges from the remainder of the current calendar
year to three years; and (iii) variable consideration for these contracts primarily includes net PMPM fees associated with
unspecified membership that fluctuates throughout the contract.
Accounts Receivable, Contract Assets and Contract Liabilities
Accounts receivable, contract assets and contract liabilities consisted of the following (in thousands, except
percentages):

Accounts receivable
Contract assets
Contract liabilities - current
Contract liabilities - long-term

December 31,
2019
$
915,656
2,231
6,728
11,099

March 31,
2020
$
961,441
12,333
38,687
10,895

$

$ Change
45,785
10,102
31,959
(204)

% Change
5.0%
452.8%
475.0%
(1.8%)

Accounts receivable, which are included in accounts receivable, other current assets and other long-term assets on
the consolidated balance sheets, increased by $45.8 million, mainly due to timing of receipts. Contract assets, which are
included in other current assets on the consolidated balance sheets, increased by $10.1 million, mainly due to the timing of
accrual of certain performance incentives. Contract liabilities – current, which are included in accrued liabilities on the
consolidated balance sheets, increased by $32.0 million, mainly due to the HIF accrual booked in current year quarter.
Contract liabilities – long-term, which are included in deferred credits and other long-term
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liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets, decreased by $0.2 million, mainly due to certain balances which became
current.
During the three months ended March 31, 2020, the Company recognized revenue of $2.0 million that was
included in current contract liabilities at December 31, 2019. The estimated timing of recognition of amounts included in
contract liabilities at March 31, 2020 are as follows: 2020—$37.8 million; 2021—$3.5 million; 2022—$3.1 million; 2023
and beyond—$5.2 million. During the three months ended March 31, 2020, the revenue the Company recognized related to
performance obligations that were satisfied, or partially satisfied, in previous periods was not material.
The Company’s accounts receivable consists of amounts due from customers throughout the United States.
Collateral is generally not required. A majority of the Company’s contracts have payment terms in the month of service, or
within a few months thereafter. The timing of payments from customers from time to time generates contract assets or
contract liabilities; however, these amounts are immaterial.
The Company’s accounts receivable is net of an allowance for credit losses. The estimate of current expected
credit losses on trade receivables considers historical credit loss information that is adjusted for current conditions and
reasonable and supportable forecasts. Management elected to disaggregate trade receivables into business segments due to
risk characteristics unique to each platform given the individual lines of business and market. Pooling was further
disaggregated based on either geography or product type.
The Company evaluated multiple approaches before deciding to utilize a loss rate methodology. The Company
leveraged historical write offs over a defined lookback period in deriving a historical loss rate. The expected credit loss
model further considers current conditions and reasonable and supportable forecasts through the use of an adjustment for
current and projected macroeconomic factors. Management identified appropriate macroeconomic indicators based on
tangible correlation to historical losses, giving consideration to the location and risks associated with the Company’s
customers.
Significant Customers
Customers exceeding ten percent of the consolidated Company’s net revenues
The Company has contracts with the Commonwealth of Virginia (the “Virginia Contracts”). The Company began
providing Medicaid managed long-term services and supports to enrollees in the Commonwealth Coordinated Care Plus
(“CCC Plus”) program on August 1, 2017. The CCC Plus contract expires annually on December 31 and automatically
renews annually on January 1 for a period of five calendar years, with potential of up to five 12-month extensions. The
Commonwealth of Virginia has the right to terminate the CCC Plus contract with cause at any time and for convenience
upon 90 days’ notice. On August 1, 2018, the Company began providing integrated healthcare services to Medicaid
enrollees in the Commonwealth of Virginia under the Medallion 4.0/FAMIS Managed Care Program (“Medallion”). The
initial term of the Medallion contract is from August 1, 2018 through June 30, 2019, with six 12-month renewal options.
The Medallion contract has been renewed through June 30, 2020. The Commonwealth of Virginia has the right to terminate
the Medallion contract with cause at any time and for convenience upon 180 days’ notice. The Virginia Contracts generated
net revenues of $193.9 million and $232.5 million for the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2020, respectively.
The Company had a contract with the State of New York (the “New York Contract”) to provide integrated
managed care services to Medicaid and Medicare enrollees in the State of New York. The Company’s New York Contract
terminated on December 31, 2016; however, the Company, along with other participating managed care plans in the state,
continues to provide services while a new contract is being finalized. The Company began recognizing revenue in relation
to the New York Contract on January 1, 2014 as a result of the acquisition of AlphaCare Holdings, Inc. The Company’s
revenues under the New York Contracts increased starting on November 1, 2017 as a result of the acquisition of SWH
Holdings, Inc. The New York Contracts generated net revenues of $195.2 million and $215.9 million for the three months
ended March 31, 2019 and 2020, respectively.
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The Company has contracts with the Commonwealth of Massachusetts and CMS (the “Massachusetts Contracts”)
to provide integrated managed care services to Medicaid and Medicare enrollees in the Commonwealth of Massachusetts.
Medicaid services are provided under a Senior Care Options contract (“SCO Contract”) which began on January 1, 2016
and extends through December 31, 2021, with the potential for up to five additional one-year extensions. The
Commonwealth of Massachusetts may terminate the contract with cause without prior notice and upon 180 days’ notice
without cause. Medicare services are provided under a one-year contract with CMS. The CMS contract currently extends
through December 31, 2020. The Company began recognizing revenue in relation to the Massachusetts Contracts on
November 1, 2017 as a result of the acquisition of SWH Holdings, Inc. The Massachusetts Contracts generated net
revenues of $179.2 million and $176.0 million for the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2020, respectively.
Customers exceeding ten percent of segment net revenues
In addition to the Massachusetts Contract, New York Contract and Virginia Contract previously discussed, the
following customers generated in excess of ten percent of net revenues for the respective segment for the three months
ended March 31, 2019 and 2020 (in thousands):
Segment

Term Date

2019

2020

Healthcare
None
Pharmacy Management
Customer A

March 31, 2021

$

89,340

$

98,617

Concentration of Business
The Company also has a significant concentration of business with various counties in the State of Pennsylvania
(the “Pennsylvania Counties”) which are part of the Pennsylvania Medicaid program, with members under its contract with
CMS and with various agencies and departments of the United States federal government. Net revenues from the
Pennsylvania Counties in the aggregate totaled $131.7 million and $137.0 million for the three months ended
March 31, 2019 and 2020, respectively. Net revenues from members in relation to its contracts with CMS in aggregate
totaled $63.3 million and $55.7 million for the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2020, respectively. As of
December 31, 2019 and March 31, 2020, the Company had $117.4 million and $115.2 million, respectively, in net
receivables associated with Medicare part D from CMS and other parties related to this business. Net revenues from
contracts with various agencies and departments of the United States federal government in aggregate totaled $79.5 million
and $69.9 million for the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2020, respectively.
The Company’s contracts with customers typically have stated terms of one to three years, and in certain cases
contain renewal provisions (at the customer’s option) for successive terms of between one and two years (unless terminated
earlier). Substantially all of these contracts may be immediately terminated with cause and many of the Company’s
contracts are terminable without cause by the customer or the Company either upon the giving of requisite notice and the
passage of a specified period of time (typically between 30 and 180 days) or upon the occurrence of other specified events.
In addition, the Company’s contracts with federal, state and local governmental agencies generally are conditioned on
legislative appropriations. These contracts generally can be terminated or modified by the customer if such appropriations
are not made.
Leases
The Company leases certain office space, distribution centers, land and equipment. We assess our contracts to
determine if it contains a lease. This assessment is based on (i) the right to control the use of an identified asset; (ii) the
right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from the use of the identified asset; and (iii) the right to use the
identified asset. The Company elected the short-term lease practical expedient; thus, leases with an initial term of twelve
months or less are not capitalized and the expense is recognized on a straight-line basis. Most leases include one or more
options to renew, with renewal terms that can extend the lease from one to ten years. The exercise of renewal options are
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at the sole discretion of the Company. Renewal options that the Company is reasonably certain to accept are recognized as
part of the right-of use (“ROU”) asset.
Operating leases are included in other long-term assets, accrued liabilities and deferred credits and other long-term
liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets. Finance leases are included in property and equipment, current debt, capital
lease deferred financing obligations and long-term debt, capital lease and deferred financing obligations in the consolidated
balance sheets.
ROU assets represent our right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and lease liabilities represent our
obligation to make lease payments per the lease. Operating lease ROU assets and liabilities are recognized at lease
commencement date based on the present value of lease payments over the lease term. As the rate implicit in most of our
leases is not readily determinable, the Company used its incremental borrowing rate to determine the present value of lease
payments.
The following table shows the components of lease expenses for the three months ended March 31, 2020 (in
thousands):
Three Months Ended
March 31, 2020
$
3,835

Operating lease cost
Finance lease cost:
Amortization of right-of-use asset
Interest on lease liabilities
Total finance lease cost
Short-term lease cost
Variable lease cost
Total lease cost
Sublease income
Net lease cost

1,332
214
1,546
124
789
6,294
(112)
6,182

$

The following table shows the components of the lease assets and liabilities as of March 31, 2020 (in thousands):
March 31, 2020
Operating leases:
Other long-term assets
Accrued liabilities
Deferred credits and other long-term liabilities
Total operating lease liabilities
Finance leases:
Property and equipment, net
Current debt, finance lease and deferred financing obligations
Long-term debt, finance lease and deferred financing obligations
Total finance lease liabilities

15

$

46,778

$
$

13,787
40,987
54,774

$

15,479

$

5,136
15,138
20,274

$
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The maturity dates of the Company’s leases as of March 31, 2020 are summarized below (in thousands):
March 31, 2020
14,695
18,349
17,297
11,922
10,040
4,658
76,961
(1,913)
$
75,048

2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025 and beyond
Total lease payments
Less interest
Present value of lease liabilities

$

The following table shows the weighted average remaining lease term and discount rate as of March 31, 2020:
March 31, 2020
Weighted average remaining lease term
Operating leases
Finance leases
Weighted average discount rate
Operating leases
Finance leases

4.20
4.29
4.79%
4.40%

Supplemental cash flow information relating to leases is as follows (in thousands):
Three months ended
March 31, 2020
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:
Operating cash flows from operating leases
Operating cash flows from finance leases
Financing cash flows from finance leases
Right-of-use asset obtained in exchange for new lease obligation
Operating leases
Finance leases

$

4,277
1,402
214
902
3,599

Fair Value Measurements
The Company has certain assets and liabilities that are required to be measured at fair value on a recurring basis.
These assets and liabilities are to be measured using inputs from the three levels of the fair value hierarchy, which are as
follows:
Level 1—Inputs are unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the
Company has the ability to access at the measurement date.
Level 2—Inputs include quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets, quoted prices
for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active, inputs other than quoted prices that are
observable for the asset or liability (i.e., interest rates, yield curves, etc.), and inputs that are derived principally
from or corroborated by observable market data by correlation or other means (market corroborated inputs).
Level 3—Unobservable inputs that reflect the Company’s assumptions about the assumptions that market
participants would use in pricing the asset or liability. The Company develops these inputs based on the best
information available, including the Company’s data.
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In accordance with the fair value hierarchy described above, the following table shows the fair value of the
Company’s assets and liabilities that are required to be measured at fair value as of December 31, 2019 and
March 31, 2020 (in thousands):
Level 1

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents (1)
Investments:
U.S. Government and agency securities
Corporate debt securities
Certificates of deposit
Total assets held at fair value

$

—

$ 313,509

104,159
—
—
$ 104,159

—
239,693
1,305
$ 554,507

Level 1

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents (2)
Investments:
U.S. Government and agency securities
Corporate debt securities
Certificates of deposit
Total assets held at fair value

December 31, 2019
Level 2
Level 3

$

—

$ 313,509

$

—
—
—
—

104,159
239,693
1,305
$ 658,666

March 31, 2020
Level 2
Level 3

$

—

$ 189,556

$

90,714
—
—
90,714

—
264,462
1,305
$ 455,323

Total

Total

$

—

$ 189,556

$

—
—
—
—

90,714
264,462
1,305
$ 546,037

(1) Excludes $11.7 million of cash held in bank accounts by the Company.
(2) Excludes $194.4 million of cash held in bank accounts by the Company.
For the three months ended March 31, 2020, the Company has not transferred any assets between fair value
measurement levels.
The carrying values of financial instruments, including accounts receivable and accounts payable approximate
their fair values due to their short-term maturities. The fair value of the Notes (as defined below) of $331.2 million as of
March 31, 2020 was determined based on quoted market prices and would be classified within Level 1 of the fair value
hierarchy. The estimated fair value of the Company’s term loan of $276.3 million as of March 31, 2020 was based on
current interest rates for similar types of borrowings and is in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. The estimated fair values
may not represent actual values of the financial instruments that could be realized as of the balance sheet date or that will
be realized in the future.
All of the Company’s investments are classified as “available-for-sale” and are carried at fair value.
As of the balance sheet date, the fair value of contingent consideration is determined based on probabilities of
payment, projected payment dates, discount rates, projected operating income, member engagement and new contract
execution. The Company used a probability weighted discounted cash flow method to arrive at the fair value of the
contingent consideration. As the fair value measurement for the contingent consideration is based on inputs not observed in
the market, these measurements are classified as Level 3 measurements as defined by fair value measurement guidance.
The unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement include the discount rate, probabilities of payment and
projected payment dates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid interest-bearing investments with maturity dates of three months or
less when purchased, consisting primarily of money market instruments. Book overdrafts are reflected within
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accounts payable on the balance sheets. At December 31, 2019, the Company had $0.5 million in book overdrafts. At
March 31, 2020, the Company had no book overdrafts. At March 31, 2020, the Company’s excess capital and undistributed
earnings for the Company’s regulated subsidiaries of $123.3 million are included in cash and cash equivalents.
Investments
If a debt security is in an unrealized loss position and the Company has the intent to sell the debt security, or it is
more likely than not that the Company will have to sell the debt security before recovery of its amortized cost basis, the
decline in value is deemed to be other-than-temporary and is recorded to other-than-temporary impairment losses
recognized in income in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income. For impaired debt securities that the
Company does not intend to sell or it is more likely than not that the Company will not have to sell such securities, but the
Company expects that it will not fully recover the amortized cost basis, the credit component of the other-than-temporary
impairment is recognized in other-than-temporary impairment losses recognized in net income and the non-credit
component of the other-than-temporary impairment is recognized in other comprehensive income in the consolidated
statements of comprehensive income.
As of December 31, 2019 and March 31, 2020, there were no material unrealized losses that the Company
determined to be other-than-temporary. No realized gains or losses were recorded for the three months ended
March 31, 2019 or 2020. The following is a summary of short-term and long-term investments at December 31, 2019 and
March 31, 2020 (in thousands):
Amortized
Cost

U.S. Government and agency securities
Corporate debt securities
Certificates of deposit
Total investments at December 31, 2019

$ 104,096
239,564
1,305
$ 344,965

Amortized
Cost

U.S. Government and agency securities
Corporate debt securities
Certificates of deposit
Total investments at March 31, 2020

$

90,166
265,086
1,305
$ 356,557

December 31, 2019
Gross
Gross
Unrealized
Unrealized
Gains
Losses

$

$

75
175
—
250

$

$

(12)
(46)
—
(58)

Estimated
Fair Value

$ 104,159
239,693
1,305
$ 345,157

March 31, 2020
Gross
Gross
Unrealized
Unrealized
Gains
Losses

$

$

554
26
—
580

$

$

(7)
(649)
—
(656)

Estimated
Fair Value

$

90,713
264,463
1,305
$ 356,481

The maturity dates of the Company’s investments as of March 31, 2020 are summarized below (in thousands):
Amortized
Cost

2020
2021
Total investments at March 31, 2020

$
$

321,201
35,356
356,557

Estimated
Fair Value

$
$

321,197
35,284
356,481

Income Taxes
The Company’s effective income tax rates were 55.6 percent and 47.6 percent for the three months ended March
31, 2019 and 2020, respectively. These rates differ from the applicable federal statutory income tax rate primarily due to
state income taxes and permanent differences between book and tax income. The Company also accrues interest and
penalties related to uncertain tax positions in its provision for income taxes. The effective income tax rate for the three
months ended March 31, 2019 is higher than the effective income tax rate for the three months ended March 31, 2020
primarily due to recognized stock compensation expense in excess of tax deductions.
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The Company files a consolidated federal income tax return with its eighty-percent or more controlled
subsidiaries. The Company and its subsidiaries also file income tax returns in various state and local jurisdictions.
On March 27, 2020, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (“CARES Act”) was signed into law
to provide widespread emergency relief for the economy and to provide aid to corporations. The CARES Act includes
several significant provisions related to taxes. While the Company does not believe the CARES Act will result in a material
impact on its results, we continue to evaluate the relief options available under the CARES Act, as well as other emergency
relief initiatives and stimulus packages instituted by the Federal Government.
Net Operating Loss Carryforwards
The Company has $16.2 million of federal net operating loss carryforwards (“NOLs”) available to reduce
consolidated taxable income in 2020 and subsequent years. These NOLs were incurred by AlphaCare prior to its
membership in the Magellan consolidated group will expire in 2032 through 2035 if not used and are subject to
examination and adjustment by the IRS. In addition, the Company’s utilization of these NOLs is subject to limitations
under the Internal Revenue Code as to the timing and use. At this time, the Company does not believe these limitations will
restrict the Company’s ability to use any federal NOLs before they expire. The Company and its subsidiaries also have
$89.0 million of NOLs available to reduce state and local taxable income at certain subsidiaries in 2020 and subsequent
years. Most of these NOLs will expire in 2020 through 2038 if not used and are subject to examination and adjustment by
the respective tax authorities. In addition, the Company’s utilization of certain of these NOLs is subject to limitations as to
the timing and use. Other than those considered in determining the valuation allowances discussed below, the Company
does not believe these limitations will restrict the Company’s ability to use any of these state and local NOLs before they
expire.
Deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2019 and March 31, 2020 are shown net of valuation allowances of $2.1
million. These valuation allowances mostly relate to uncertainties regarding the eventual realization of certain state NOLs.
Reversals of valuation allowances are recorded in the period they occur, typically as reductions to income tax expense.
Determination of the amount of deferred tax assets considered realizable requires significant judgment and estimation
regarding the forecasts of future taxable income which are consistent with the plans and estimates the Company uses to
manage the underlying businesses. Although consideration is also given to potential tax planning strategies which might be
available to improve the realization of deferred tax assets, none were identified which were both prudent and reasonable.
The Company believes taxable income expected to be generated in the future will be sufficient to support realization of the
Company’s deferred tax assets, as reduced by valuation allowances. This determination is based upon earnings history and
future earnings expectations.
Health Care Reform
The Patient Protection and the Affordable Care Act, as amended by the Health Care and Education Reconciliation
Act of 2010 (collectively, the “Health Reform Law”), imposes a mandatory annual fee on health insurers for each calendar
year beginning on or after January 1, 2014. The Company has obtained rate adjustments from customers which the
Company expects will cover the direct costs of these fees and the impact from non-deductibility of such fees for federal
and state income tax purposes. To the extent the Company has such a customer that does not renew, there may be some
impact due to taxes paid where the timing and amount of recoupment of these additional costs is uncertain. In the event the
Company is unable to obtain rate adjustments to cover the financial impact of the annual fee, the fee may have a material
impact on the Company. On January 23, 2018, the United States Congress passed the Continuing Resolution which
imposed a one-year moratorium on the HIF fee, suspending its application for 2019. For 2020 the HIF fee is expected to be
$39.4 million which is included in accrued liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets.
Stock Compensation
At December 31, 2019 and March 31, 2020, the Company had equity-based employee incentive plans, which are
described more fully in Note 6 in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019,
which was filed with the SEC on February 28, 2020. The Company recorded stock compensation
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expense of $9.6 million and $6.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2020, respectively. Stock
compensation expense recognized in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income for the three months ended
March 31, 2019 and 2020 has been reduced for forfeitures, estimated at between zero and four percent for all periods.
The weighted average grant date fair value of all stock options granted during the three months ended
March 31, 2020 was $20.17 as estimated using the Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing model, which also assumed an
expected volatility of 35.56 percent based on the historical volatility of the Company’s stock price.
For the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2020 tax on deficiencies (net of the tax deductions in excess of
recognized stock compensation expense) were $0.8 million and $1.4 million, respectively, and was included as an increase
to tax expense.
Summarized information related to the Company’s stock options for the three months ended March 31, 2020 is as
follows:

Outstanding, beginning of period
Granted
Forfeited
Exercised
Outstanding, end of period
Vested and expected to vest at end of period
Exercisable, end of period

Options

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

2,125,861
50,271
(3,333)
(216,734)
1,956,065
1,947,250
1,613,491

$ 69.22
67.90
83.55
51.97
$ 71.07
$ 71.07
$ 70.48

All of the Company’s options granted during the three months ended March 31, 2020 vest ratably on each
anniversary date over the three years subsequent to grant and have a ten year life.
Summarized information related to the Company’s nonvested restricted stock awards (“RSAs”) for the three
months ended March 31, 2020 is as follows:

Shares

Outstanding, beginning of period
Awarded
Vested
Forfeited
Outstanding, ending of period

39,761
—
—
—
39,761
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Summarized information related to the Company’s nonvested restricted stock units (“RSUs”) for the three months ended
March 31, 2020 is as follows:

Shares

Outstanding, beginning of period
Awarded
Vested
Forfeited
Outstanding, ending of period

Weighted
Average
Grant Date
Fair Value

256,430 $
307,892
(98,165)
(2,524)
463,633

74.12
60.88
75.12
72.92
65.12

Grants of RSAs vest on the anniversary of the grant. In general, RSUs vest ratably on each anniversary over the
three years subsequent to grant.
Summarized information related to the Company’s nonvested restricted performance stock units (“PSUs”) for the
three months ended March 31, 2020 is as follows:

Shares

Outstanding, beginning of period
Awarded
Vested
Forfeited
Outstanding, end of period

Weighted
Average
Grant Date
Fair Value

248,559 $ 104.27
133,752
75.65
(52,861)
76.24
(29,735)
76.24
299,715
99.22

The weighted average estimated fair value of the PSUs granted in the three months ended March 31, 2020 was
$75.65, which was derived from a Monte Carlo simulation. Significant assumptions utilized in estimating the value of the
awards granted include an expected dividend yield of 0%, a risk free rate of 0.68%, and expected volatility of 20% to 70%
(average of 35%). The PSUs granted in the three months ended March 31, 2020, will entitle the grantee to receive a
number of shares of the Company’s common stock determined over a three-year performance period ending on December
31, 2022 and vesting on March 5, 2023, the settlement date, provided the grantee remains in the service of the Company on
the settlement date. The Company expenses the cost of these awards ratably over the requisite service period. The number
of shares for which the PSUs will be settled is calculated as a percentage of the award target and will depend on the
Company’s total shareholder return (as defined below), expressed as a percentile ranking of the Company’s total
shareholder return as compared to the Company’s peer group (as defined below). The number of shares for which the PSUs
will be settled varies from zero to 200 percent of the shares specified in the grant. Total shareholder return is determined by
dividing the average share value of the Company’s common stock over the 30 trading days preceding January 1, 2023 by
the average share value of the Company’s common stock over the 30 trading days beginning on January 1, 2020, with a
deemed reinvestment of any dividends declared during the performance period. The Company’s peer group includes 48
companies which comprise the S&P Health Care Services Industry Index, which was selected by the compensation
committee of the Company’s board of directors and includes a range of healthcare companies operating in several business
segments.
Goodwill
At March 31, 2020, we evaluated whether changes in facts and circumstances would rise to an impairment
indicator that it was more likely than not that any of our reporting units were impaired. The evaluation included whether
our forecast for 2020 and beyond would have changed from what was used in our annual test performed as of October 1,
2019 test. We also considered the impact of economic and market volatility caused by the novel coronavirus (“COVID19”) pandemic in the first quarter of 2020. Based on our evaluation we do not believe that as of March 31, 2020 it was
more likely than not that any of our reporting units were impaired. We do believe however, that while the fair value of
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the Pharmacy Management reporting unit continues to be in excess of its carrying value, the margin by which the fair value
exceeds the carrying value has decreased. While the reporting unit was not determined to be impaired at this time, the
Pharmacy Management reporting unit goodwill is at risk of future impairment in the event of significant unfavorable
changes in the Company’s forecasted future results and cash flows. In addition, market factors utilized in the impairment
analysis, including long-term growth rates or discount rates, could negatively impact the fair value of our reporting units.
For testing purposes, management's best estimates of the expected future results are the primary driver in determining the
fair value. Fair value determinations require considerable judgment and are sensitive to changes in underlying assumptions
and factors. As a result, there can be no assurance that the estimates and assumptions made for purposes of the annual
goodwill test will prove to be an accurate prediction of the future.
Examples of events or circumstances that could reasonably be expected to negatively affect the underlying key
assumptions and ultimately impact the estimated fair value of our reporting units may include such items as: (i) a decrease
in expected future cash flows, specifically, a decrease in membership or rates or customer attrition and increase in costs that
could significantly impact our immediate and long-range results, unfavorable working capital changes and an inability to
successfully achieve our cost savings targets, (ii) adverse changes in macroeconomic conditions or an economic recovery
that significantly differs from our assumptions in timing and/or degree (such as a recession); and (iii) volatility in the equity
and debt markets or other country specific factors which could result in a higher weighted-average cost of capital.
Based on known facts and circumstances, we evaluate and consider recent events and uncertain items, as well as
related potential implications, as part of our annual assessment and incorporate into the analyses as appropriate. These facts
and circumstances are subject to change and may impact future analyses.
While historical performance and current expectations have resulted in fair values of our reporting units and
indefinite-lived intangible assets in excess of carrying values, if our assumptions are not realized, it is possible that an
impairment charge may need to be recorded in the future.
Long-Term Debt and Finance Lease Obligations
Senior Notes
On September 22, 2017, the Company completed the public offering of $400.0 million aggregate principal amount
of its 4.400% Senior Notes due 2024 (the “Notes”). The Notes are governed by an indenture, dated as of September 22,
2017 (the “Base Indenture”), between the Company, as issuer, and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee, as
supplemented by a first supplemental indenture, dated as of September 22, 2017 (the “First Supplemental Indenture”
together with the Base Indenture, the “Indenture”), between the Company, as issuer, and U.S. Bank National Association,
as trustee. During the quarters ended December 31, 2019 and March 31, 2020, the Company purchased and subsequently
retired $11.1 million and $28.9 million of its Notes, respectively, which resulted in a loss on retirement of $0.3 million and
$0.7 million, respectively, that is included in interest expense. The Notes were issued at a discount and had a carrying value
of $388.4 million and $359.6 million at December 31, 2019 and March 31, 2020, respectively.
The Notes bear interest payable semiannually in cash in arrears on March 22 and September 22 of each year,
commencing on March 22, 2018, which rate is subject to an interest rate adjustment upon the occurrence of certain credit
rating events. The Notes mature on September 22, 2024. The Indenture provides that the Notes are redeemable at the
Company’s option, in whole or in part, at any time on or after July 22, 2024, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the
principal amount of the Notes being redeemed plus accrued and unpaid interest thereon to, but excluding, the redemption
date.
The Indenture also contains certain covenants which restrict the Company’s ability to, among other things, create
liens on its and its subsidiaries’ assets; engage in sale and lease-back transactions; and engage in a consolidation, merger or
sale of assets.
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Credit Agreement
On September 22, 2017, the Company entered into a credit agreement with various lenders that provides for a
$400.0 million senior unsecured revolving credit facility and a $350.0 million senior unsecured term loan facility to the
Company, as the borrower (the “2017 Credit Agreement”). On August 13, 2018, the Company entered into an amendment
to the 2017 Credit Agreement, which extended the maturity date by one year. On February 27, 2019, the Company entered
into a second amendment to the 2017 Credit Agreement, which amended the total leverage ratio covenant, and which was
necessary in order for us to remain in compliance with the terms of the 2017 Credit Agreement. The 2017 Credit
Agreement is scheduled to mature on September 22, 2023.
Under the 2017 Credit Agreement, the annual interest rate on the loan borrowing is equal to (i) in the case of base
rate loans, the sum of an initial borrowing margin of 0.500 percent plus the higher of the prime rate, one-half of one percent
in excess of the overnight “federal funds” rate, or the Eurodollar rate for one month plus 1.000 percent, or (ii) in the case of
Eurodollar rate loans, the sum of an initial borrowing margin of 1.500 percent plus the Eurodollar rate for the selected
interest period. The borrowing margin is subject to adjustment based on the Company’s debt rating as provided by certain
rating agencies. The Company has the option to borrow in base rate loans or Eurodollar rate loans at its discretion. The
commitment commission on the revolving credit facility under the 2017 Credit Agreement is 0.200 percent of the unused
revolving credit commitment, which rate shall be subject to adjustment based on the Company’s debt rating as provided by
certain rating agencies. For the three months ended March 31, 2020, the weighted average interest rate was approximately
3.6928 percent.
In August 2019, the Company made voluntary term loan repayments of $30.0 million. As of March 31, 2020, the
contractual maturities of the term loan under the 2017 Credit Agreement were as follows: 2020—$4.4 million; 2021—$0.6
million; 2022—$17.5 million; and 2023—$258.1 million. Due to the timing of working capital needs, the Company will
periodically borrow from the revolving loan under the 2017 Credit Agreement. At December 31, 2019, the Company had
no revolving loan borrowings. At March 31, 2020 the Company had a revolving loan of $80.0 million due on May 26,
2020. At March 31, 2020, the Company had a borrowing capacity of $400.0 million under the 2017 Credit Agreement.
Included in long-term debt, capital lease and deferred financing obligations are deferred loan and bond issuance costs as of
December 31, 2019 and March 31, 2020 of $5.7 million and $5.2 million, respectively.
Letter of Credit Agreement
On August 22, 2017, the Company entered into a Continuing Agreement for Standby Letters of Credit with The
Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ, Ltd. (“BTMU”), as issuer (the “L/C Agreement”), under which BTMU, at its sole
discretion, may provide stand-by letter of credit to the Company. The Company had letters of credit outstanding under the
L/C Agreement as of December 31, 2019 and March 31, 2020 of $66.4 million and $67.1 million, respectively.
Finance Lease and Deferred Financing Obligations
There were $18.1 million and $20.3 million of finance lease and deferred financing obligations at
December 31, 2019 and March 31, 2020, respectively. The Company’s finance lease and deferred financing obligations
represent amounts due under leases for certain properties, computer software (acquired prior to the prospective adoption of
ASU 2015-05 on January 1, 2016) and equipment. The recorded gross cost of finance lease assets was $56.0 million and
$59.6 million at December 31, 2019 and March 31, 2020, respectively.
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NOTE B—Net Income per Common Share Attributable to Magellan Health, Inc.
The following table reconciles income attributable to common shareholders (numerator) and shares (denominator)
used in the computations of net income per share attributable to common shareholders (in thousands, except per share data)
for the three months ended March 31:
Three Months Ended
March 31,

Numerator:
Net income
Denominator:
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding—basic
Common stock equivalents—stock options
Common stock equivalents—RSAs
Common stock equivalents—RSUs
Common stock equivalents—PSUs
Common stock equivalents—employee stock purchase plan
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding—diluted
Net income per common share—basic
Net income per common share—diluted

2019

$

2020

431

$ 18,250

23,946
111
7
19
124
6
24,213
$ 0.02
$ 0.02

24,728
61
21
50
9
24,869
$
0.74
$
0.73

The weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the three months ended March 31, 2019 and
2020 were calculated using outstanding shares of the Company’s common stock. Common stock equivalents included in
the calculation of diluted weighted average common shares outstanding for the three months ended March 31, 2019 and
2020 represent stock options to purchase shares of the Company’s common stock, RSAs, RSUs, PSUs and stock purchased
under the Employee Stock Purchase Plan.
The Company had additional potential dilutive securities outstanding representing 1.2 million and 1.4 million
options for the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2020, respectively, that were not included in the computation of
dilutive securities because they were anti-dilutive for the period. Had these shares not been anti-dilutive, all of these shares
would not have been included in the net income attributable to common shareholder per common share calculation as the
Company uses the treasury stock method of calculating diluted shares.
NOTE C—Business Segment Information
The accounting policies of the Company’s segments are the same as those described in Note A—“General.” The
Company evaluates performance of its segments based on profit or loss from operations before stock compensation
expense, depreciation and amortization, interest expense, interest and other income, changes in the fair value of contingent
consideration recorded in relation to acquisitions, gain on sale of assets, special charges or benefits, and income taxes
(“Segment Profit”). Management uses Segment Profit information for internal reporting and control purposes and considers
it important in making decisions regarding the allocation of capital and other resources, risk assessment and employee
compensation, among other matters. Healthcare subcontracts with Pharmacy Management to provide pharmacy benefits
management services for certain of Healthcare’s customers. In addition, Pharmacy Management provides pharmacy
benefits management for the Company’s employees covered under its medical plan. As such, revenue, cost of goods sold
and direct service costs and other related to these arrangements are eliminated. The Company’s segments are defined in
Note A—“General.”
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The following tables summarize, for the periods indicated, operating results by business segment (in thousands):
Healthcare

Three Months Ended March 31, 2019
Managed care and other revenue
PBM revenue
Cost of care
Cost of goods sold
Direct service costs and other
Stock compensation expense (1)
Changes in fair value of contingent consideration (1)
Segment Profit (Loss)

$ 1,164,253
—
(941,961)
—
(179,190)
1,750
144
$
44,996

Healthcare

Three Months Ended March 31, 2020
Managed care and other revenue
PBM revenue
Cost of care
Cost of goods sold
Direct service costs and other
Stock compensation expense (1)
Changes in fair value of contingent consideration (1)
Segment Profit (Loss)

(1)

$ 1,208,674
—
(951,642)
—
(196,909)
2,021
$

62,144

Corporate
and
Elimination

Pharmacy
Management

$

59,895
556,565
—
(530,207)
(79,635)
1,672
—
$
8,290

$

$

Corporate
and
Elimination

Pharmacy
Management

$

64,435
573,778
—
(537,574)
(81,866)
2,107
—
$
20,880

(169)
(41,055)
—
40,414
(13,099)
6,185
—
(7,724)

$

$

(173)
(52,407)
—
51,432
(8,956)
1,929
—
(8,175)

Consolidated

$ 1,223,979
515,510
(941,961)
(489,793)
(271,924)
9,607
144
$
45,562

Consolidated

$ 1,272,936
521,371
(951,642)
(486,142)
(287,731)
6,057
—
$
74,849

Stock compensation expense, changes in the fair value of contingent consideration recorded in relation to
acquisitions and impairment of intangible assets are included in direct service costs and other operating
expenses; however, these amounts are excluded from the computation of Segment Profit.
The following table reconciles income before income taxes to Segment Profit (in thousands):
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2019
2020

Income before income taxes
Stock compensation expense
Changes in fair value of contingent consideration
Depreciation and amortization
Interest expense
Interest and other income
Segment Profit

$

$

970
9,607
144
30,708
9,107
(4,974)
45,562

$

$

34,838
6,057
—
28,684
9,029
(3,759)
74,849

NOTE D—Commitments and Contingencies
Legal
The Company’s operating activities entail significant risks of liability. From time to time, the Company is subject
to various actions and claims arising from the acts or omissions of its employees, network providers or other
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parties. In the normal course of business, the Company receives reports relating to deaths and other serious incidents
involving patients whose care is being managed by the Company. Such incidents occasionally give rise to malpractice,
professional negligence and other related actions and claims against the Company or its network providers. Many of these
actions and claims received by the Company seek substantial damages and, therefore, require the Company to incur
significant fees and costs related to their defense.
The Company is also subject to or party to certain class actions and other litigation and claims relating to its
operations or business practices. The Company has recorded reserves that, in the opinion of management, are adequate to
cover litigation, claims or assessments that have been or may be asserted against the Company, and for which the outcome
is probable and reasonably estimable. Management believes that the resolution of such litigation and claims will not have a
material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition or results of operations; however, there can be no assurance
in this regard.
Regulatory Issues
The managed healthcare industry is subject to numerous laws and regulations. The subjects of such laws and
regulations cover, but are not limited to, matters such as licensure, accreditation, government healthcare program
participation requirements, information privacy and security, reimbursement for patient services, and Medicare and
Medicaid fraud and abuse. Over the past several years, government activity has increased with respect to investigations
and/or allegations concerning possible violations of fraud and abuse and false claims statutes and/or regulations by
healthcare organizations and insurers. Entities that are found to have violated these laws and regulations may be excluded
from participating in government healthcare programs, subjected to fines or penalties or required to repay amounts
received from the government for previously billed patient services. Compliance with such laws and regulations can be
subject to future government review and interpretation, as well as regulatory actions unknown or unasserted at this time.
In addition, regulators of certain of the Company’s subsidiaries may exercise certain discretionary rights under
regulations including increasing their supervision of such entities, requiring additional restricted cash or other security or
seizing or otherwise taking control of the assets and operations of such subsidiaries.
The Company is subject to certain federal laws and regulations in connection with its contracts with the federal
government. These laws and regulations affect how the Company conducts business with its federal agency customers and
may impose added costs on its business. The Company’s failure to comply with federal procurement laws and regulations
could cause it to lose business, incur additional costs and subject it to a variety of civil and criminal penalties and
administrative sanctions, including termination of contracts, forfeiture of profits, harm to reputation, suspension of
payments, fines, and suspension or debarment from doing business with federal government agencies. The Company’s
wholly owned subsidiary, Armed Forces Services Corporation (“AFSC”), conducts business with federal agency customers
and federal contractors to such agencies. The Company is investigating, with the assistance of outside counsel, matters
relating to compliance by AFSC with Small Business Administration ( “SBA”) regulations and other federal laws
applicable to government contractors and has reported findings to the SBA and the Department of Defense, including facts
indicating violations of SBA regulations and other federal laws, such as the Anti-Kickback Act, by former AFSC
executives, none of which was disclosed to Magellan prior to its acquisition of AFSC. The Company is voluntarily
responding to government requests for further information regarding the Company’s investigation. Contingencies, if any,
arising from the results of this investigation and self-reporting could require us to record balance sheet liabilities or accrue
expenses, the amount of which we are not able to currently estimate. While the Company believes that it has responded
appropriately by self-reporting findings regarding matters that incepted prior to its acquisition of AFSC in order to mitigate
the risk of adverse consequences, should the SBA, Department of Defense and/or other federal agencies seek to hold the
Company or AFSC responsible for the reported conduct, we may be required to pay damages and/or penalties and AFSC
could be suspended or debarred from government contracting. AFSC generated approximately 1.5% of the Company’s
total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2019 and three months ended March 31, 2020.
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Stock Repurchases
The Company’s board of directors has previously authorized a series of stock repurchase plans. Stock repurchases
for each such plan could be executed through open market repurchases, privately negotiated transactions, accelerated share
repurchases or other means. The board of directors authorized management to execute stock repurchase transactions from
time to time and in such amounts and via such methods as management deemed appropriate. Each stock repurchase
program could be limited or terminated at any time without prior notice.
On October 26, 2015, the Company’s board of directors approved a stock repurchase plan which authorized the
Company to purchase up to $200 million of its outstanding common stock through October 26, 2017 (the “2015
Repurchase Program”). On July 26, 2017, the Company’s board of directors approved an extension of the 2015 Repurchase
Program through October 22, 2018. On May 24, 2018, the Company’s board of directors approved an increase of $200
million to the current $200 million stock repurchase plan which will now authorize the Company to purchase up to
$400 million of its outstanding common stock under the 2015 Repurchase Program. As of March 31, 2020, the remaining
capacity under the 2015 Repurchase Program was $186.3 million. The board also extended the program from October 22,
2018 to October 22, 2020. Stock repurchases under the programs may be carried out from time to time in open market
transactions (including blocks) or in privately negotiated transactions. The timing of repurchases and the actual amount
purchased will depend on a variety of factors including the market price of the Company’s shares, general market and
economic conditions, and other corporate considerations. Repurchases may be made pursuant to plans intended to comply
with Rule 10b5-1 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, which could allow the Company to purchase its shares
during periods when it otherwise might be prevented from doing so under insider trading laws or because of self-imposed
trading blackout periods. Repurchases are expected to be funded from working capital and anticipated cash from
operations. The repurchase authorization does not require the purchase of a specific number of shares and is subject to
suspension or termination by the Company’s board of directors at any time.
Pursuant to the 2015 Stock Repurchase Program, the Company made purchases as follows (aggregate cost
excludes broker commissions and is reflected in millions):
Period

October 26, 2015 - December 31, 2015
January 1, 2016 - December 31, 2016
January 1, 2017 - December 31, 2017
January 1, 2018 - December 31, 2018
January 1, 2019 - December 31, 2019
January 1, 2020 - March 31, 2020

Total Number
of Shares
Purchased

Average
Price Paid
per Share

345,044
1,828,183
280,140
844,872
60,901
—
3,359,140

$ 53.46
58.40
77.67
74.59
61.15
—

The Company made no share repurchases from April 1, 2020 through May 1, 2020.
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Aggregate
Cost

$ 18.4
106.8
21.8
63.0
3.7
—
$ 213.7
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NOTE E—Subsequent Events
Magellan Complete Care – Stock and Asset Purchase Agreement
On April 30, 2020, the Company and Molina entered into the Purchase Agreement pursuant to which the
Company has agreed to sell its MCC business to Molina for $850.0 million in cash, subject to certain adjustments, and
Molina has agreed to assume liabilities of the MCC business. Consummation of the MCC Sale is subject to various
conditions, including state regulatory approvals and the termination or expiration of the waiting period under the HartScott-Rodino Antitrust Act.
Medicare Part D Business
On May 11, 2020, the Company announced its decision to exit the Medicare Part D business at the end of 2020.
The Company will retain its Medicare Employer Group Waiver Plan as well as full capabilities to service the PBM needs
of its existing and prospective Medicare customers.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
Business Overview
The Company is engaged in the healthcare management business, and is focused on meeting needs in areas of
healthcare that are fast growing, highly complex and high cost, with an emphasis on special population management. The
Company provides services to health plans and other MCOs, employers, labor unions, various military and governmental
agencies, TPAs, consultants and brokers. The Company’s business is divided into three segments, based on the services it
provides and/or the customers that it serves. See Item 1—“Business” for more information on the Company’s business
segments.
Results of Operations
The following table summarizes, for the periods indicated, consolidated operating results (in thousands):
Three Months Ended

Consolidated Results
Statement of Operations Data:
Net revenue
Cost of Care
Cost of goods sold
Direct service costs and other operating expenses (1)(2)
Depreciation and amortization
Interest expense
Interest and other income
Income before income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net income

March 31,
2019

$

$

1,739,489
941,961
489,793
271,924
30,708
9,107
(4,974)
970
539
431

Change
2020

$

$

1,794,307
951,642
486,142
287,731
28,684
9,029
(3,759)
34,838
16,588
18,250

'19 vs '20

3.2%
1.0%
(0.7%)
5.8%
(6.6%)
(0.9%)
(24.4%)
3491.5%
2977.6%
4134.3%

(1) Includes stock compensation expense of $9,607 and $6,057 for the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2020,
respectively.
(2) Includes changes in fair value of contingent consideration of $144 for the three months ended March 31, 2019.
Quarter ended March 31, 2020 (“Current Year Quarter”) compared to Quarter ended March 31, 2019 (“Prior Year
Quarter”)
Net revenue, Cost of care, Cost of goods sold and Direct service costs and other operating expenses
Net revenue, cost of care, cost of goods sold and direct service costs and other operating expense variances are
addressed within the segment results that follow.
Depreciation and amortization
Depreciation and amortization expense decreased by 6.6 percent or $2.0 million from the Prior Year Quarter to the
Current Year Quarter, primarily due to asset maturities, partially offset by normal asset additions after the Prior Year
Quarter.
Interest expense
Interest expense was consistent with the Prior Year Quarter.
Interest and other income
Interest income decreased by $1.2 million from the Prior Year Quarter to the Current Year Quarter primarily due
to reduction in rates.
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Income taxes
The Company’s effective income tax rates were 55.6 percent and 47.6 percent for the Prior Year Quarter and
Current Year Quarter, respectively. The effective income tax rate for the Prior Year Quarter is higher than the Current Year
Quarter due to recognized stock compensation in excess of tax deductions. The effective income tax rate for the three
months ended March 31, 2020 is higher than the federal and state statutory rates primary due to stock compensation
expense in excess of tax deductions and the non-deductible HIF fee.
Segment Results
The Company manages and measures operational performance through three segments: Healthcare, Pharmacy
Management and Corporate. The Company evaluates performance of its segments based on Segment Profit. Management
uses Segment Profit information for internal reporting and control purposes and considers it important in making decisions
regarding the allocation of capital and other resources, risk assessment and employee compensation, among other
matters. Stock compensation expense and changes in fair value of contingent consideration recorded in relation to
acquisitions are included in direct service costs and other operating expenses; however, these amounts are excluded from
the computation of Segment Profit.
Healthcare
The Healthcare segment includes the Company’s: (i) management of behavioral healthcare services and EAP
services, (ii) management of other specialty areas including diagnostic imaging and musculoskeletal management, and
(iii) the integrated management of physical, behavioral and pharmaceutical healthcare for special populations, delivered
through Magellan Complete Care. The Healthcare segment’s Behavioral & Specialty Health division provides management
services to health plans, accountable care organizations, employers, state Medicaid agencies, the United States military and
various federal government agencies for whom Magellan provides carve-out management services for behavioral health,
employee assistance plans, and other areas of specialty healthcare including diagnostic imaging, musculoskeletal
management, cardiac, and physical medicine. The MCC division contracts with state Medicaid agencies and CMS to
manage care for beneficiaries under various Medicaid and Medicare programs.
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The following table summarizes, for the periods indicated, operating results for the Healthcare segment (in
thousands):
Three Months Ended
March 31,

Healthcare Segment Results
Behavioral & Specialty Health revenue
Risk-based, non-EAP
EAP risk-based
ASO
Magellan Complete Care revenue
Risk-based, non-EAP
ASO
Managed care and other revenue
Cost of care

2019

$

361,808
89,617
55,203

642,571
15,054
1,164,253
941,961
222,292
Direct service costs and other
179,190
43,102
Stock compensation expense
1,750
Changes in fair value of contingent consideration
144
$
44,996
Segment Profit
Direct service cost as % of revenue
MLR Behavioral & Specialty Health risk
MLR Behavioral & Specialty Health EAP risk
MLR Magellan Complete Care risk
Membership
Behavioral & Specialty Health
Risk (1)
EAP risk
ASO
Magellan Complete Care
Risk
ASO
(1)

Change
2020

$

349,580
79,939
59,122

703,369
16,664
1,208,674
951,642
257,032
196,909
60,123
2,021
$
62,144

'19 vs '20

(3.4%)
(10.8%)
7.1%
9.5%
10.7%
3.8%
1.0%
15.6%
9.9%
39.5%
15.5%
38.1%

15.4%
86.0%
64.8%
89.2%

16.3%
83.6%
71.1%
85.7%

11,754
15,227
26,719

10,329
14,129
24,529

(12.1%)
(7.2%)
(8.2%)

139
23
53,862

160
25
49,172

15.1%
8.7%
(8.7%)

May include some duplicate count of membership for customers that contract with Magellan for both
behavioral and other specialty management services.

Current Year Quarter compared to the Prior Year Quarter
Managed care and other revenue
Net revenue increased by 3.8 percent or $44.4 million from the Prior Year Quarter to the Current Year Quarter.
The increase in revenue is primarily due to favorable rate and membership changes of $53.6 million, new contracts
implemented after (or during) the Prior Year Quarter of $11.6 million, net revenue recorded for HIF fees in current year of
$10.6 million, revenue impact of favorable prior period medical claims development recorded in the Prior Year Quarter of
$3.1 million, unfavorable retroactive rate adjustments in the Prior Year Quarter of $3.1 million, revenue impact of
favorable prior period medical claims development recorded in the Current Year Quarter of $1.0 million and other net
favorable variances of $6.3 million. These increases partially offset by terminated contracts of $42.8 million, program
changes of $1.6 million and unfavorable revenue due to membership and risk adjustments of $0.5 million.
Cost of care
Cost of care increased by 1.0 percent or $9.7 million from the Prior Year Quarter to the Current Year Quarter. The
increase is primarily due to increased membership of $15.8 million, favorable prior period care development recoded in
Prior Year Quarter of $10.5, the care cost for new contracts implemented after (or during) the Prior Year
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Quarter of $5.6 million, the care impact of unfavorable retroactive rate adjustments of $0.2 million in the Current Year
Quarter and care trends and other net unfavorable variances of $15.5 million. These increases were partially offset by
terminated contracts of $27.1 million and favorable prior period care development recorded in the Current Year Quarter of
$10.8 million. For our behavioral specialty health contracts, cost of care as a percentage of risk revenue (excluding EAP
business) decreased from 86.0 percent in Prior Year Quarter to 83.6 percent in the Current Year Quarter mainly due to
business mix. For our MCC contracts, cost of care decreased as a percentage of risk revenue from 89.2 percent in the Prior
Year Quarter to 85.7 percent in the Current Year Quarter mainly due to improvements in utilization and rates, as well as the
net impact of prior period medical claims development.
Direct service costs and other
Direct service costs increased 9.9 percent or $17.7 million from the Prior Year Quarter to the Current Year Quarter
primarily due to HIF fees in the Current Year Quarter. Direct services costs increased as a percentage of revenue from
15.4 percent in the Prior Year Quarter to 16.3 percent in the Current Year Quarter primarily due HIF fees in the Current
Year Quarter.
Recent Developments – MCC Stock and Asset Purchase Agreement
On April 30, 2020, the Company and Molina entered into the Purchase Agreement pursuant to which the
Company has agreed to sell its MCC business to Molina for $850.0 million in cash, subject to certain adjustments, and
Molina has agreed to assume liabilities of the MCC business.
The consummation of the MCC Sale is subject to customary closing conditions, including: (i) the expiration of the
waiting period applicable to the Purchase Agreement under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as
amended, (ii) the absence of any law or governmental order prohibiting the MCC Sale, (iii) obtaining all required consents,
authorizations, permits and approvals under Health Regulatory Laws (as defined in the Purchase Agreement), (iv) no
material adverse effect on the Company having occurred since the signing of the Purchase Agreement, and (v) the accuracy
of the representations and warranties of each party (subject to materiality qualifiers) in the Purchase Agreement and the
compliance by each party with its covenants in all material respects. The consummation of the MCC Sale is not subject to
any financing contingency.
In connection with the MCC Sale, the Company and Molina are entering into commercial agreements for certain
behavioral health, utilization management and related services to be provided by the Company to Molina and the MCC
business. In addition, the parties will enter into a transition services agreement pursuant to which the Company and certain
of its affiliates will provide, or cause third parties to provide, certain services to accommodate the transition of the MCC
business to Molina.
The foregoing description of the Purchase Agreement and the MCC Sale does not purport to be complete and is
qualified in its entirety by the terms and conditions of the Purchase Agreement attached hereto as Exhibit 2.1 and any
related agreements.
Pharmacy Management
The Pharmacy Management segment comprises products and solutions that provide clinical and financial
management of pharmaceuticals paid under medical and pharmacy benefit programs. Pharmacy Management’s services
include: (i) PBM services; (ii) PBA for state Medicaid and other government sponsored programs; (iii) pharmaceutical
dispensing operations; (iv) clinical and formulary management programs; (v) medical pharmacy management programs;
and (vi) programs for the integrated management of specialty drugs. Pharmacy Management’s services are provided under
contracts with health plans, employers, state Medicaid programs, Medicare Part D and other government agencies.
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The following table summarizes, for the periods indicated, operating results for the Pharmacy Management
segment (in thousands, except state count):
Three Months Ended

Pharmacy Segment Results
Formulary management
PBA and other
Managed care and other revenue
PBM, including dispensing
Medicare Part D
PBM revenue
Total net revenue
Cost of goods sold

March 31,
2019

$

Direct service costs and other
Stock compensation expense
Segment Profit

$

17,183
42,712
59,895
493,224
63,341
556,565
616,460
530,207
86,253
79,635
6,618
1,672
8,290

Change
2020

$

$

22,161
42,274
64,435
518,112
55,666
573,778
638,213
537,574
100,639
81,866
18,773
2,107
20,880

Direct service cost as % of revenue
COGS as % of PBM revenue

12.9%
95.3%

12.8%
93.7%

Pharmacy Operational Statistics
Adjusted commercial network claims
Adjusted PBA claims
Total adjusted claims

6,845
19,867
26,712

6,740
17,831
24,571

Generic dispensing rate
Commercial PBM covered lives
Medical pharmacy covered lives
Total states and DC that participate in PBA

87.6%
1,910
13,936
27

87.2%
1,760
16,046
26

'19 vs '20

29.0%
(1.0%)
7.6%
5.0%
(12.1%)
3.1%
3.5%
1.4%
16.7%
2.8%
183.7%
26.0%
151.9%

Current Year Quarter compared to the Prior Year Quarter
Managed care and other revenue
Managed care and other revenue increased by 7.6 percent or $4.5 million from the Prior Year Quarter to the
Current Year Quarter primarily due to increased formulary management revenue of $5.0 million mainly due to utilization,
increased medical pharmacy revenue of $3.4 million mainly due to increased membership and other net favorable
variances of $0.5 million. The increase is partially offset by terminated contracts of $4.4 million.
PBM revenue
PBM revenue increased by 3.1 percent or $17.2 million from the Prior Year Quarter to the Current Year Quarter.
The increase is primarily due to increase in membership and utilization of $18.1 million and is partially offset by other net
unfavorable variances of $0.9 million.
Cost of goods sold
Cost of goods sold increased by 1.4 percent or $7.4 million from the Prior Year Quarter to the Current Year
Quarter. This increase is primarily due to increase in membership and utilization of $12.4. The increase is partially offset
by network penalties in the Prior Year Quarter of $2.7 million and other unfavorable variances of $2.3 million. As a
percentage of the portion of net revenue that relates to PBM, cost of goods sold decreased from 95.3 percent in the Prior
Year Quarter to 93.7 percent in the Current Year Quarter, mainly due to business mix.
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Direct service costs and other
Direct service costs increased by 2.8 percent or $2.2 million from the Prior Year Quarter to the Current Year
Quarter primarily due to higher discretionary benefits. Direct service costs decreased slightly as a percentage of revenue
from 12.9 percent in the Prior Year Quarter to 12.8 percent in the Current Year Quarter.
Corporate Segment
The Corporate segment of the Company is comprised primarily of amounts not allocated to the Healthcare and
Pharmacy Management segments, and that are largely associated with costs related to being a publicly traded company.
The following table summarizes, for the periods indicated, operating results for the Corporate segment (in
thousands):
Three Months Ended

Corporate Segment & Eliminations
Managed care and other revenue
PBM revenue
Cost of goods sold

March 31,
2019

$

Direct service costs and other
Stock compensation expense
Segment Loss

$

(169)
(41,055)
40,414
(810)
13,099
(13,909)
6,185
(7,724)

Change
2020

$

$

(173)
(52,407)
51,432
(1,148)
8,956
(10,104)
1,929
(8,175)

'19 vs '20

2.4%
27.7%
27.3%
41.7%
(31.6%)
(27.4%)
(68.8%)
5.8%

Current Year Quarter compared to the Prior Year Quarter
The Corporate segment loss increased by 5.8 percent or $0.5 million from the Prior Year Quarter to the Current
Year Quarter. As a percentage of revenue, the Corporate segment loss was 0.4 percent in the Prior Year Quarter which is
consistent with the Current Year Quarter.
Inter segment revenues and expenses
Healthcare subcontracts with Pharmacy Management to provide pharmacy benefits management services for
certain of Healthcare’s customers. In addition, Pharmacy Management provides pharmacy benefits management for the
Company’s employees covered under its medical plan. As such, revenue, cost of goods sold and direct service costs and
other related to these arrangements are eliminated within the Corporate segment.
Non-GAAP Measures
The Company reports its financial results in accordance with GAAP; however, the Company’s management also
assesses business performance and makes business decisions regarding the Company’s operations using certain non-GAAP
measures.
In addition to Segment Profit, as defined above, the Company also uses adjusted net income attributable to
Magellan (“Adjusted Net Income”) and adjusted net income per common share attributable to Magellan on a diluted basis
(“Adjusted EPS”). Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted EPS reflect certain adjustments made for acquisitions completed
after January 1, 2013 to exclude non-cash stock compensation expense resulting from restricted stock purchases by sellers,
changes in the fair value of contingent consideration, amortization of identified acquisition intangibles, as well as
impairment of identified acquisition intangibles. The Company believes these non-GAAP measures provide a more useful
comparison of the Company’s underlying business performance from period to period and are more representative of the
earnings capacity of the Company. Non-GAAP financial measures disclosed, such as Segment Profit, Adjusted Net Income
and Adjusted EPS, should not be considered a substitute for, or superior to, financial measures determined or calculated in
accordance with GAAP.
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The following table reconciles income before income taxes to Segment Profit (in thousands):
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2019
2020

Income before income taxes
Stock compensation expense
Changes in fair value of contingent consideration
Depreciation and amortization
Interest expense
Interest and other income
Segment Profit

$

970
9,607
144
30,708
9,107
(4,974)
45,562

$

$

34,838
6,057
—
28,684
9,029
(3,759)
74,849

$

The following table reconciles Adjusted Net Income to net income (in thousands):
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2019
2020

Net income
Adjusted for acquisitions starting in 2013
Changes in fair value of contingent consideration
Amortization of acquired intangibles
Tax impact
Adjusted Net Income

$

431

$

144
12,272
(3,282)
9,565

$

18,250

$

—
14,191
(3,816)
28,625

The following table reconciles Adjusted EPS to net income per common share—diluted:
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2020

2019

Net income per common share—diluted
Adjusted for acquisitions starting in 2013
Changes in fair value of contingent consideration
Amortization of acquired intangibles
Tax impact
Adjusted EPS

$

0.02

$

0.01
0.50
(0.13)
0.40

$

0.73

$

—
0.57
(0.15)
1.15

Outlook—Results of Operations
The Company’s Segment Profit and net income are subject to significant fluctuations from period to period. These
fluctuations may result from a variety of factors such as those set forth under Item 2—“Forward-Looking Statements” as
well as a variety of other factors including: (i) changes in utilization levels by enrolled members of the Company’s riskbased contracts, including seasonal utilization patterns; (ii) contractual adjustments and settlements; (iii) retrospective
membership adjustments; (iv) timing of implementation of new contracts, enrollment changes and contract terminations;
(v) pricing adjustments upon contract renewals (and price competition in general); (vi) the timing of acquisitions;
(vii) changes in estimates regarding medical costs and IBNR; (viii) the timing of recognition of pharmacy revenues,
including rebates and Medicare Part D; and (ix) changes in the estimates of contingent consideration.
A portion of the Company’s business is subject to rising care costs due to an increase in the number and frequency
of covered members seeking healthcare services and higher costs of such services. Many of these factors are beyond the
Company’s control. Future results of operations will be heavily dependent on management’s ability to obtain customer rate
increases that are consistent with care cost increases and/or to reduce operating expenses.
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Interest Rate Risk. Changes in interest rates affect interest income earned on the Company’s cash equivalents and
investments, as well as interest expense on the variable interest rate borrowings under the 2017 Credit Agreement. In
addition, interest rates on the Notes are subject to adjustment upon the occurrence of certain credit rating events. Based on
the amount of cash equivalents and investments, the borrowing levels under the 2017 Credit Agreement and the principal
amount of the Notes as of March 31, 2020, a hypothetical 10 percent increase or decrease in the interest rate associated
with these instruments, with all other variables held constant, would not materially affect the Company’s future earnings
and cash outflows.
Historical—Liquidity and Capital Resources
Operating Activities. The Company reported net cash provided by operating activities of $35.4 million and $31.7
million for the Prior Year Quarter and Current Year Quarter, respectively. The $3.7 million decrease in operating cash flows
from the Prior Year Quarter is mainly attributable to unfavorable working capital changes, partially offset by higher
segment profit.
The net unfavorable impact of working capital changes between periods totaled $33.3 million. For the Prior Year
Quarter, operating cash flows were impacted by net unfavorable working capital changes of $0.3 million, mainly
attributable to timing. For the Current Year Quarter, operating cash flows were impacted by net unfavorable working
capital changes of $33.6 million, mainly attributable to the timing of receivables and payables.
Segment Profit for the Current Quarter increased $29.2 million from the Prior Year Quarter.
Investing Activities. The Company utilized $12.6 million and $15.7 million during the Prior Year Quarter and the
Current Year Quarter, respectively, for capital expenditures. The additions related to hard assets (equipment, furniture, and
leaseholds) and capitalized software for the Prior Year Quarter were $3.6 million and $9.0 million, respectively, as
compared to additions for the Current Year Quarter related to hard assets and capitalized software of $4.2 million and $11.5
million, respectively.
During the Prior Year Quarter and the Current Year Quarter the Company used $44.0 million and $11.9 million,
respectively, for the net purchase of "available-for-sale" securities.
Financing Activities. During the Prior Year Quarter, the Company paid $4.4 million on debt obligations, $6.2
million for payments on contingent consideration, $4.1 million for the repurchase of treasury stock under the Company's
share repurchase program and $2.9 million on finance lease obligations and had other net favorable items of $1.7 million.
In addition, the Company received $2.0 million from the exercise of stock options.
During the Current Year Quarter, the Company received $80.0 million from borrowings, due on May 26, 2020,
under our revolving line of credit and $10.9 million from the exercise of stock options. In addition, the Company paid
$33.3 million on debt obligations, $1.5 million on finance lease obligations and had other net unfavorable items of $1.1
million.
Outlook—Liquidity and Capital Resources
Liquidity. The Company may draw on the 2017 Credit Agreement (discussed further below) as required to meet
working capital needs associated with the timing of receivables and payables, fund share repurchases or support acquisition
activities. The Company currently expects to have adequate liquidity to satisfy its existing financial commitments over the
periods in which they will become due. At March 31, 2020, the Company had a revolving loan of $80.0 million due on
May 26, 2020, and the remaining $320.0 million of the revolving credit facility is still available to the Company for
additional drawdown. The Company plans to maintain its current investment strategy of investing in a diversified, high
quality, liquid portfolio of investments and continues to closely monitor the financial markets. The Company estimates that
it has no risk of any material permanent loss on its investment portfolio; however, there can be no assurance the Company
will not experience any such losses in the future.
Stock Repurchases. On October 26, 2015, the Company’s board of directors approved a stock repurchase plan
which authorized the Company to purchase up to $200 million of its outstanding common stock through October 26, 2017.
On July 26, 2017, the Company’s board of directors approved an extension of the 2015 Repurchase Program through
October 22, 2018. On May 24, 2018, the Company’s board of directors approved an increase of $200 million to
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the current $200 million stock repurchase plan which will now authorize the Company to purchase up to $400 million of its
outstanding common stock. The board also extended the program from October 22, 2018 to October 22, 2020. As of March
31, 2020, the remaining capacity under the 2015 Repurchase Program was $186.3 million. See Part II, Item 2
—“Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds” for more information on the Company’s share repurchase
program.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements. As of March 31, 2020, the Company has no material off-balance sheet
arrangements.
Credit Agreement. On September 22, 2017, the Company entered into the 2017 Credit Agreement with various
lenders that provides for a $400.0 million senior unsecured revolving credit facility and a $350.0 million senior unsecured
term loan facility to the Company, as the borrower. On August 13, 2018, the Company entered into an amendment to the
2017 Credit Agreement, which extended the maturity date by one year. On February 27, 2019, the Company entered into a
second amendment to the 2017 Credit Agreement, which amended the total leverage ratio covenant, and which was
necessary in order for the Company to remain in compliance with the terms of the 2017 Credit Agreement. The 2017
Credit Agreement is scheduled to mature on September 22, 2023. See Note A—“General” for more information on the
2017 Credit Agreement.
Restrictive Covenants in Debt Agreements. The 2017 Credit Agreement contains covenants that potentially limit
management’s discretion in operating the Company’s business by, in certain circumstances, restricting or limiting the
Company’s ability, among other things, to:
●

incur or guarantee additional indebtedness or issue preferred or redeemable stock;

●

pay dividends and make other distributions;

●

repurchase equity interests;

●

make certain advances, investments and loans;

●

enter into sale and leaseback transactions;

●

create liens;

●

sell and otherwise dispose of assets;

●

acquire or merge or consolidate with another company; and

●

enter into some types of transactions with affiliates.

These restrictions could adversely affect the Company’s ability to finance future operations or capital needs or
engage in other business activities that may be in the Company’s interest.
The 2017 Credit Agreement also requires the Company to comply with specified financial ratios and tests. Failure
to do so, unless waived by the lenders under the 2017 Credit Agreement pursuant to its terms, or amended, would result in
an event of default under the 2017 Credit Agreement. As of March 31, 2020, the Company was in compliance with all
covenants, including financial covenants, under the 2017 Credit Agreement.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue
and expenses during the reporting period. Significant estimates of the Company can include, among other things, valuation
of goodwill and intangible assets, medical claims payable, other medical liabilities, stock compensation assumptions, tax
contingencies and legal liabilities. In addition, the Company also makes estimates in
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relation to revenue recognition under ASC 606 which are explained in more detail in Note A—“General – Revenue
Recognition.” Actual results could differ from those estimates. Except as noted above, the Company’s critical accounting
policies are summarized in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the SEC on February 28, 2020.
Forward-Looking Statements
This Form 10-Q includes “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act
and Section 21E of the Exchange Act. Although the Company believes that its plans, intentions and expectations as
reflected in such forward-looking statements are reasonable, it can give no assurance that such plans, intentions or
expectations will be achieved. Prospective investors are cautioned that any such forward-looking statements are not
guarantees of future performance and involve risks and uncertainties, and that actual results may differ materially from
those contemplated by such forward-looking statements. Important factors currently known to management that could
cause actual results to differ materially from those in forward-looking statements include:
●

the Company’s inability to renegotiate or extend expiring customer contracts, or the termination of customer
contracts;

●

the Company’s inability to integrate acquisitions in a timely and effective manner;

●

risks relating to the Company’s proposed sale of the MCC business to Molina, including the ability of the
Company to realize the expected benefits of the transaction, the ability of the Company to obtain regulatory
approvals for the transaction and to satisfy other closing conditions, and the ability of the parties to close the
transaction in the anticipated timeframe;

●

changes in business practices of the industry, including the possibility that certain of the Company’s managed
care customers could seek to provide managed healthcare services directly to their subscribers, instead of
contracting with the Company for such services, particularly as a result of further consolidation in the
managed care industry and especially regarding managed healthcare customers that have already done so
with a portion of their membership;

●

the impact of changes in the contracting model for Medicaid contracts, including certain changes in the
contracting model used by states for managed healthcare services contracts relating to Medicaid lives;

●

the Company’s ability to accurately predict and control healthcare costs, and to properly price the Company’s
services;

●

the Company’s ability to accurately underwrite and control healthcare costs associated with its expansion into
clinically integrated management of special populations eligible for Medicaid and Medicare, including
individuals with serious mental illness and other unique high-cost populations;

●

the Company’s ability to maintain or secure cost-effective healthcare provider contracts;

●

the Company’s ability to maintain relationships with key pharmacy providers, vendors and manufacturers;

●

fluctuation in quarterly operating results due to seasonal and other factors;

●

the Company’s dependence on government spending for managed healthcare, including changes in federal,
state and local healthcare policies;

●

restrictive covenants in the Company’s debt instruments;

●

present or future state regulations and contractual requirements that the Company provide financial assurance
of its ability to meet its obligations;

38

Table of Contents

●

the impact of the competitive environment in the managed healthcare services industry which may limit the
Company’s ability to maintain or obtain contracts, as well as its ability to maintain or increase its rates;

●

the impact of healthcare reform legislation;

●

the Mental Health and Substance Abuse Benefit Parity Law and Regulations;

●

government regulation;

●

proposed changes to current Federal law and regulations;

●

noncompliance with regulations;

●

the Company’s participation in Medicare Part D is subject to government regulation;

●

failure to maintain satisfactory Medicare and Medicaid quality performance measures;

●

the unauthorized disclosure of sensitive or confidential member or other information;

●

a breach or failure in the Company’s operational security systems or infrastructure, or those of third parties
with which it does business;

●

risk associated with outsourcing services and functions to third parties;

●

the possible impact of additional regulatory scrutiny and liability associated with the Company’s Pharmacy
Management segment;

●

the inability to realize the value of goodwill and intangible assets;

●

pending or future actions or claims for professional liability;

●

claims brought against the Company that either exceed the scope of the Company’s liability coverage or
result in denial of coverage;

●

class action suits and other legal proceedings;

●

negative publicity;

●

the impact of governmental investigations;

●

the impact of varying economic and market conditions on the Company’s investment portfolio;

●

the state of the national economy and adverse changes in economic conditions;

●

the Company’s ability to successfully implement its margin improvement initiatives and plans;

●

tax matters, including changes in corporate tax rates, disagreements with taxing authorities and imposition of
new taxes;

●

the impact to contingent consideration as a result of changes in operational forecasts and probabilities of
payment; and

●

the impact of an epidemic or health crisis such as the COVID-19 pandemic, natural disasters, political
disruptions, acts of war or terrorism, cybersecurity attacks or other data breaches or intrusions and other
extraordinary events.
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Further discussion of factors currently known to management that could cause actual results to differ materially
from those in forward-looking statements is set forth under the heading “Risk Factors” in Item 1A of Magellan’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019. When used in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, the words
“estimate,” “anticipate,” “expect,” “believe,” “should,” and similar expressions are intended to be forward-looking
statements. Magellan undertakes no obligation to update or revise forward-looking statements to reflect changed
assumptions, the occurrence of unanticipated events or changes to future operating results over time, except as required by
law.
Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk.
Changes in interest rates affect interest income earned on the Company’s cash equivalents and investments, as
well as interest expense on the variable interest rate borrowings under the 2017 Credit Agreement. In addition, interest
rates on the Notes is subject to adjustment upon the occurrence of certain credit rating events. Based on the amount of cash
equivalents and investments, the borrowing levels under the 2017 Credit Agreement and the principal amount of the Notes
as of March 31, 2020, a hypothetical 10 percent increase or decrease in the interest rate associated with these instruments,
with all other variables held constant, would not materially affect the Company’s future earnings and cash outflows.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures
a)
The Company’s management evaluated, with the participation of the Company’s principal
executive and principal financial officers, the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Exchange Act), as of March 31, 2020. Based on their evaluation, the
Company’s principal executive and principal financial officers concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls
and procedures were effective as of March 31, 2020.
b)
Under the supervision and with the participation of management, including the Company’s
principal executive and principal financial officers, the Company has determined that there has been no change in
the Company’s internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act)
that occurred during the Company’s quarter ended March 31, 2020 that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
PART II—OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1. Legal Proceedings.
The Company’s operating activities entail significant risks of liability. From time to time, the Company is subject
to various actions and claims arising from the acts or omissions of its employees, network providers or other parties. In the
normal course of business, the Company receives reports relating to deaths and other serious incidents involving patients
whose care is being managed by the Company. Such incidents occasionally give rise to malpractice, professional
negligence and other related actions and claims against the Company or its network providers. Many of these actions and
claims received by the Company seek substantial damages and, therefore, require the Company to incur significant fees
and costs related to their defense.
The Company is also subject to or party to certain class actions and other litigation and claims relating to its
operations or business practices. In the opinion of management, the Company has recorded reserves that are adequate to
cover litigation, claims or assessments that have been or may be asserted against the Company, and for which the outcome
is probable and reasonably estimable. Management believes that the resolution of such litigation and claims will not have a
material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition or results of operations; however, there can be no assurance
in this regard.
Item 1A. Risk Factors.
Other than the risk factors below, there have been no material changes in the risk factors as disclosed in Part I—
Item 1A—“Risk Factors” of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10 K for the year ended December 31, 2019, which
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was filed with the SEC on February 28, 2020:
The Company faces risks related to unauthorized disclosure of sensitive or confidential member and other protected
personal or health information.
As part of its normal operations, the Company collects, processes and retains confidential member and protected
personal or health information making the Company subject to various federal and state laws and rules regarding the use
and disclosure of confidential member and protected personal or health information, including HIPAA. The Company also
maintains other confidential information related to its business and operations. Despite our security measures, the
Company is subject to security breaches, acts of vandalism, computer viruses, misplaced or lost data, programming and/or
human errors or other similar events. For example, we have experienced data security breaches resulting in disclosure of
confidential or protected personal or health information. Noncompliance with any privacy or security laws and regulations
(including, but not limited to, state and federal laws and international regulations, such as GDPR) or any security incident
or breach, whether by the Company or by its vendors, could result in enforcement actions, material fines and penalties,
reputational and financial harm to the Company, and could also subject the Company to litigation.
IT Systems – The Company’s ability to effectively maintain and upgrade its information systems is critical to its
business.
The Company’s operations are dependent on effective information systems. Our information systems require
routine maintenance, enhancements and upgrades in order to meet operational needs and regulatory requirements. The
maintenance, upgrade and enhancement of our information systems requires significant economic resources. If the
Company encounters difficulties in its information systems, or with the transition to or from its information systems, or
does not appropriately maintain, enhance and upgrade its information systems, such events could adversely impact the
Company’s operations materially. In addition, our ability to manage effectively our information systems could be impacted
by events outside of our control, including acts of nature, such as floods, earthquakes, fires, pandemics, or acts of terrorism
or war.
Cyber-Security—The Company faces risks related to a breach or failure in our operational security systems or
infrastructure, or those of third parties with which we do business.
Our business requires us to securely store, process and transmit confidential, proprietary and other information in
our operations, including protected personal or health information. Security incidents or breaches may arise from, among
other things, computer hackers penetrating our systems or approaching our employees to obtain personal information for
financial gain, attempting to cause harm to our operations, or intending to obtain competitive, confidential or protected
personal or health information. It is widely reported that the healthcare industry, including providers, plans and pharmacies,
are increasingly prime targets for cyber-attacks. Our data assets and systems continue to be subject to attack by viruses,
worms, phishing attempts and other malicious software programs on a regular basis, and we routinely identify attempts to
gain unauthorized access to our systems.
We maintain a comprehensive system of preventive and detective controls through our security programs;
however given the rapidly evolving nature and proliferation of cyber threats, our controls may not prevent or identify all
such attacks in a timely manner or otherwise prevent unauthorized access to, damage to, or interruption of our systems and
operations, and we cannot eliminate the risk of human error or employee or vendor malfeasance. For example, we were the
target of a criminal ransomware attack on our computer network recently, which resulted in a temporary systems outage
and the exfiltration of certain confidential company and personal information as well as protected health information of
certain members. We are investigating the incident with forensic experts, notifying our customers, employees, impacted
individuals, and appropriate government agencies, as applicable, and working with law enforcement authorities.
Any costs that we incur as a result of a data security incident or breach, including costs to update our security
protocols to mitigate such an incident or breach could be significant. Any breach or failure in our operational security
systems can result in loss of data or an unauthorized disclosure of or access to sensitive or confidential member or
protected personal or health information and could result in significant penalties or fines, litigation, loss of customers,
significant damage to our reputation and business, and other losses, which could adversely impact the Company’s financial
condition and results of operations materially.
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We are subject to risks associated with outsourcing services and functions to third parties.
We contract with third party vendors and service providers who provide services to us and our subsidiaries or to
whom we delegate selected functions. Some of these third parties also have direct access to our systems. Our arrangements
with third party vendors and service providers may make our operations vulnerable if those third parties fail to satisfy their
obligations to us, including their obligations to maintain and protect the security and confidentiality of our information and
data or the protected personal or health information and data relating to our members or customers. We are also at risk of a
data security incident or breach involving a vendor or third party, which could result in a breakdown of such third party’s
data protection processes or cyber-attackers gaining access to our infrastructure through the third party, or can result in loss
of data or an unauthorized disclosure of or access to sensitive or confidential member or protected personal or health
information.
To the extent that a vendor or third party suffers a security incident or breach that compromises its operations, we
could incur significant costs and possible service interruption, which could have an adverse effect on our business,
operations and reputation. In addition, we may have disagreements with third party vendors and service providers
regarding relative responsibilities for any such failures or security incidents or breaches under applicable business associate
agreements or other applicable outsourcing agreements.
Any contractual remedies and/or indemnification obligations we may have for vendor or service provider failures
or security incidents or breaches may not be adequate to fully compensate us for any losses suffered as a result of any
vendor’s failure to satisfy its obligations to us or under applicable law. Further, we may not be adequately indemnified
against all possible losses through the terms and conditions of our contracts with third party vendors and service providers.
Our outsourcing arrangements could be adversely impacted by changes in vendors’ or service providers’ operations or
financial condition or other matters outside of our control.
If we fail to adequately monitor and regulate the performance of our third-party vendors and service providers, we
could be subject to additional risk, including significant cybersecurity risk. Violations of, or noncompliance with, laws
and/or regulations governing our business (including, but not limited to, state and federal laws and international
regulations, such as GDPR) or noncompliance with contract terms by third-party vendors and service providers could
increase our exposure to liability to our members, providers, or other third parties, or sanctions and/or fines from the
regulators that oversee our business, as well as litigation. In turn, this could increase the costs associated with the operation
of our business or have an adverse impact on our business and reputation. Moreover, if these vendor and service provider
relationships were terminated for any reason, we may not be able to find alternative partners in a timely manner or on
acceptable financial terms, and may incur significant costs and/or disruption to our operations in connection with any such
vendor or service provider transition. As a result, we may not be able to meet the full demands of our members or
customers and, in turn, our business, financial condition, or results of operations may be harmed materially. In addition, we
may not fully realize the anticipated economic and other benefits from our outsourcing projects or other relationships we
enter into with third party vendors and service providers, as a result of regulatory restrictions on outsourcing, unanticipated
delays in transitioning our operations to the third party, vendor or service provider noncompliance with contract terms or
violations of laws and/or regulations, or otherwise. This could result in substantial costs or other operational or financial
problems that could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, cash flows, or results of operations.
Extraordinary Events—Extraordinary events, including the COVID-19 pandemic, could adversely affect the Company’s
business, financial condition and results of operations.
The Company’s operations could be subject to an epidemic or health crisis such as the COVID-19 pandemic,
natural disasters, political disruptions, acts of war or terrorism and other such extraordinary events. These events could
cause significant disruptions in the Company’s operations and its ability to serve its members. If a business interruption
occurs and we are unsuccessful in our continuing efforts to minimize the impact of these events, our business, results of
operations, financial position and cash flows could be materially adversely affected. Such events could also impact the
Company’s utilization, which could have a favorable or unfavorable impact to its medical loss ratios. In addition, such
events could impact the financial markets, which could adversely impact the Company’s investment portfolio and its ability
to access the credit markets.
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In the first quarter of 2020, the spread of the COVID-19 pandemic has caused significant financial market
volatility and economic uncertainty, and is currently impacting countries, communities and workforces around the world.
The effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on the Company and the duration of any such effects, including any impact on the
Company’s medical loss ratios (which could increase or decrease), are not known and are not quantifiable at this time. To
date, other than the transition of our employees to a work at home environment, the Company has not experienced any
significant interruptions to normal business activities and has not experienced any disruptions in its services. In addition,
the Company does not expect the valuation of its investments to be materially affected. No effect from the subsequent
events associated with the COVID-19 pandemic has been recorded within the accompanying financial statements.
The extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic impacts our business, results of operations and financial condition are
dependent on future developments for which there is significant uncertainty at this time and cannot be predicted, such as
the scope, duration and severity of the pandemic, the extent and effectiveness of containment actions, any actions that may
be taken by various governmental authorities in response to the outbreak, the possible impact on the global economy and
local economies in which we operate and the resumption of normal economic conditions. The long-term financial and
economic impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic may continue for a significant period of time and cannot be reliably
quantified or estimated at this time due to the uncertainty of future developments.
Risks Associated with the Intended Sale of the MCC Business to Molina.
On April 30, 2020, the Company and Molina entered into the Purchase Agreement pursuant to which the
Company has agreed to sell the MCC business to Molina for $850.0 million in cash, subject to certain adjustments, and
Molina has agreed to assume liabilities of the MCC business. The Company has also agreed to provide certain transition
services to Molina following the closing.
There are numerous risks associated with the MCC Sale, including but not limited to the ability of the Company to
obtain regulatory approvals for the MCC Sale and to satisfy other closing conditions; the anticipated timing of the closing
of the MCC Sale; the benefits to the Company of the commercial agreements entered into in connection with the MCC
Sale; the ability of the Company to use the proceeds of the MCC Sale to fund future growth initiatives or otherwise create
value for the Company, the ability of the Company to strategically focus on enhancing its behavioral and specialty health
business, as well as the continued growth of its pharmacy business; the ability of the Company to achieve our strategic and
growth goals; any disruption that may result from the announcement or pendency of the MCC Sale, including potential
adverse reactions by customers, employees, suppliers, regulators, or federal or state legislators, making it more difficult to
maintain business and operational relationships; any disruption to our operations that may result from the diversion of
management’s attention from our day-today operations and efforts to grow our other businesses due to the significant
resources that the separation of the MCC business from the rest of the Company’s business will require; unexpected costs
are incurred in connection with the completion and/or divestiture of the MCC business; and the possibility that we will be
required to perform under the indemnification obligations that we provided to Molina under the Purchase Agreement in a
manner that has a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. Any of the
foregoing risks could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, cash flows, or results of operations.
Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.
The Company’s board of directors has previously authorized a series of stock repurchase plans. Stock repurchases
for each such plan could be executed through open market repurchases, privately negotiated transactions, accelerated share
repurchases or other means. The board of directors authorized management to execute stock repurchase transactions from
time to time and in such amounts and via such methods as management deemed appropriate. Each stock repurchase
program could be limited or terminated at any time without prior notice.
On October 26, 2015, the Company’s board of directors approved a stock repurchase plan which authorized the
Company to purchase up to $200 million of its outstanding common stock through October 26, 2017. On July 26, 2017, the
Company’s board of directors approved an extension of the 2015 Repurchase Program through October 22, 2018. On May
24, 2018, the Company’s board of directors approved an increase of $200 million to the current $200 million stock
repurchase plan which will now authorize the Company to purchase up to $400 million of its outstanding common stock.
The board also extended the program from October 22, 2018 to October 22, 2020. The Company made no repurchases
during the three months ended March 31, 2020. As of March 31, 2020, the Company had approximately $186.3 million
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remaining available for future repurchases under the current plan. The Company made no share repurchases from April 1,
2020 through May 1, 2020.
Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities.
None.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.
None.
Item 5. Other Information.
None.
Item 6. Exhibits.
See Exhibit Index.
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Exhibit Index
Exhibit Number

Description of Exhibit

2.1

Stock and Asset Purchase Agreement, dated April 30, 2020 among Magellan Health, Inc. and Molina
Healthcare, Inc.

*10.1

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement, relating to options granted under the 2016 Management
Incentive Plan, which was filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s current report on Form 8-K, which
was filed on March 10, 2020 and is incorporated herein by reference.

*10.2

Form of Notice of Restricted Stock Unit Grant, relating to options granted under the 2016 Management
Incentive Plan, which was filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s current report on Form 8-K, which
was filed on March 10, 2020 and is incorporated herein by reference.

*10.3

Form of Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Agreement, relating to performance-based restricted
stock units granted under the 2016 Management Incentive Plan, which was filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the
Company’s current report on Form 8-K, which was filed on March 10, 2020 and is incorporated herein
by reference.

*10.4

Form of Notice of Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Award, relating to performance-based
restricted stock units granted under the 2016 Management Incentive Plan, which was filed as Exhibit
10.4 to the Company’s current report on Form 8-K, which was filed on March 10, 2020 and is
incorporated herein by reference.

31.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
(furnished).

32.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
(furnished).

101

The following materials from the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
March 31, 2020 formatted in Inline Extensible Business Reporting Language (iXBRL): (i) the cover
page, (ii) the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income, (iii) the Consolidated Balance
Sheets, (iv) the Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity, (v) the Consolidated
Statements of Cash Flows and (vi) related notes.

104

Cover Page Interactive Data File – The cover page interactive data file does not appear in the
Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document.
*

Constitutes a management contract, compensatory plan or arrangement.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
Date: May 11, 2020

MAGELLAN HEALTH, INC.
(Registrant)
By:
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/s/ JONATHAN N. RUBIN
Jonathan N. Rubin
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Duly Authorized
Officer)

Exhibit 2.1

STOCK AND ASSET PURCHASE AGREEMENT
by and between
MAGELLAN HEALTH, INC.
and
MOLINA HEALTHCARE, INC.
Dated as of April 30, 2020

-1-

TABLE OF CONTENTS
Page
2

ARTICLE I PURCHASE AND SALE

2

Section 1.01

Purchase and Sale; Assumption of Liabilities

Section 1.02

Purchase Price

Section 1.03

Escrow

Section 1.04

Closing Adjustment

Section 1.05

The Closing

Section 1.06

Certain Closing Deliveries

Section 1.07

Purchase Price Allocation

Section 1.08

Post-Closing Statements

Section 1.09

Reconciliation of Post-Closing Statements

8

Section 1.10

Post-Closing Adjustment

9

Section 1.11

Payments and Computations

Section 1.12

Withholding

2
2
2
3
4
5
6

10
10
10

ARTICLE II ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

10

Section 2.01

Transferred Assets

Section 2.02

Excluded Assets

Section 2.03

Assumed Liabilities

Section 2.04

Excluded Liabilities

Section 2.05

Assignment of Certain Transferred Assets

Section 2.06

Indemnification.

12
15
16
16
18

ARTICLE III REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES
Section 3.01

Representations and Warranties of the Seller

Section 3.02

Representations and Warranties of the Purchaser

-i-

24
24
45

48

ARTICLE IV COVENANTS

48

Section 4.01

Conduct of Business.

Section 4.02

Access; Consultation.

Section 4.03

Post-Closing Access to Information

Section 4.04

Filings; Other Actions; Notification and Cooperation

Section 4.05

Publicity

Section 4.06

Expenses

Section 4.07

Indemnification, Exculpation and Insurance

Section 4.08

Seller Names and Marks

Section 4.09

Insurance

Section 4.10

Post-Closing Transfers

Section 4.11

No Financing Contingencies

Section 4.12

Shared Contracts

60

Section 4.13

Termination of Affiliate Contracts

61

Section 4.14

Intercompany Arrangements

Section 4.15

Guarantees; Other Obligations

Section 4.16

Non-Solicitation; Non-Competition

Section 4.17

Disclosure Updates

Section 4.18

Commercial Agreements

Section 4.19

Transition Services Schedule

Section 4.20

R&W Policy Matters

51
53
53
57
57
57
58
59
59
60

61
61
62
63
63
63
64
64

ARTICLE V CONDITIONS PRECEDENT
Section 5.01

Conditions to Each Party’s Obligation to Effect the Transactions

Section 5.02

Conditions to Obligations of the Seller

Section 5.03

Conditions to Obligations of the Purchaser

-ii-

64
64
65

66

ARTICLE VI TERMINATION
Section 6.01

Termination Rights; Termination Procedure

Section 6.02

Effect of Termination and Abandonment

66
68
68

ARTICLE VII TAX MATTERS

68

Section 7.01

MCC of Virginia

Section 7.02

Tax Returns

Section 7.03

Tax Contests

Section 7.04

Cooperation and Exchange of Information

Section 7.05

Tax Sharing Agreements

Section 7.06

Refunds

Section 7.07

Post-Closing Actions and Elections

Section 7.08

Transfer Taxes

73

Section 7.09

Non-Transferred Assets

73

Section 7.10

Tax Indemnification.

Section 7.11

Written Notice

68
70
71
72

74
74

Offer of Employment; Continuation of Employment
Modification or Amendment

Section 9.02

Waiver

Section 9.03

Notices

Section 9.04

Severability

Section 9.05

Counterparts; Effectiveness

Section 9.06

Entire Agreement

Section 9.07

No Third-Party Beneficiaries

74
78

ARTICLE IX GENERAL PROVISIONS
Section 9.01

72

73

ARTICLE VIII EMPLOYEE MATTERS
Section 8.01

71

78
79
79
80
80
80
80

-iii-

81

Section 9.08

Governing Law and Venue; Waiver of Jury Trial

Section 9.09

Assignment

82

Section 9.10

Specific Performance

82

Section 9.11

Further Assurances

Section 9.12

Interpretation

Section 9.13

Definitions

82
82
83

-iv-

ANNEX
Annex A(I)
Annex A(II)
Annex B

MCC Companies
MCC Subsidiaries
First-Level Allocation of Purchase Price

EXHIBITS
Exhibit A
Exhibit B
Exhibit C
Exhibit D
Exhibit E
Exhibit F
Exhibit G
Exhibit H
Exhibit I

Escrow Agreement
Accounting Principles
Applicable RBC Entity Accounting Principles
Assignment and Assumption Agreement and Bill of Sale
Insolvency Protection Reserve Requirement Capital Schedule
Reference Statutory Capital Schedule
Reference Net Asset Value Schedule
Reference Net Working Capital Schedule
Transition Services Agreement

-v-

INDEX OF DEFINED TERMS
Defined Term
ACA Insurer Taxes
Accessible Information
Accounting Principles
Accounts Receivable Accrual
Action
Additional Contract
Adjusted Allocations
Adjusted SWH Holdings Allocation
Affiliate
Affiliate Contract
Agreement
AlphaCare Stock
Ancillary Agreements
Antitrust Laws
Applicable Date
Applicable RBC Entity Accounting Principles
Approved Seller Guarantee
Assigned IP
Assigned IT Assets
Assignment and Assumption Agreement and Bill of Sale
Assumed Employee Plan
Assumed Employee Plan Assets
Assumed Liabilities
Bankruptcy and Equity Exceptions
Base Purchase Price
Basket
Books and Records
Business Day
Business Seller
Cash
Claim Notice
Closing
Closing Adjustment
Closing Date
Closing Date Cash
Closing Date Indebtedness
Closing Notice
Closing Payment
Closing Insolvency Protection Reserve Capital
Closing Adjusted Statutory Capital
Closing Net Asset Value
Closing Net Working Capital
CMS
Code
-vi-

Section
Section 9.13
Section 4.03
Section 9.13
Section 9.13
Section 9.13
Section 3.01(n)
Section 1.07(c)
Section 1.07(b)
Section 9.13
Section 9.13
Preamble
Section 9.13
Section 9.13
Section 9.13
Section 9.13
Section 9.13
Section 4.15
Section 2.01(g)
Section 2.01(f)
Section 9.13
Section 9.13
Section 2.01(h)
Section 2.03
Section 9.13
Section 1.02
Section 2.06(d)(i)
Section 2.01(i)
Section 9.13
Recitals
Section 9.13
Section 2.06(e)(i)
Section 1.05
Section 1.04(c)
Section 1.05
Section 9.13
Section 9.13
Section 1.04
Section 1.04(d)
Section 1.08(a)
Section 1.08(a)
Section 1.08(a)
Section 1.08(a)
Section 9.13
Section 9.13

Combined Income Tax Returns
Commercial Agreements
Commercially Reasonable Efforts
Confidentiality Agreements
Consent Achievement Date
Consultation Period
Continuation Period
Contract
Control
D&O Costs
D&O Expenses
Direct Claim
Employee Plan
Enrollee
Environmental Laws
ERISA
Escrow Agent
Escrow Agreement
Escrow Amount
Escrow Funds
Estimated Adjusted Regulatory Capital
Estimated Closing Date Cash
Estimated Closing Date Indebtedness
Estimated Insolvency Protection Reserve Capital
Estimated Net Asset Value
Estimated Net Working Capital
Estimated Seller Transaction Expenses
Exchange Act
Excluded Assets
Excluded Liabilities
FCPA
Federal Health Care Program
Final Statements
First-Level Allocation
Fraud
Fundamental Representations
Financial Statement
GAAP
Governmental Entity
Government Official
Government Program Contract
Health Care Licenses
Health Care Programs
Health Regulatory Laws
HIPAA
HIPAA Commitments

Section 7.02(a)
Section 9.13
Section 9.13
Section 9.13
Section 2.05(c)
Section 1.09(b)
Section 8.01(b)
Section 9.13
Section 9.13
Section 4.07(a)
Section 4.07(a)
Section 2.06(e)(ii)
Section 9.13
Section 9.13
Section 9.13
Section 9.13
Section 1.03
Section 1.03
Section 1.03
Section 1.06(c)
Section 1.04(a)
Section 1.04(b)
Section 1.04(b)
Section 1.04(a)
Section 1.04(a)
Section 1.04(a)
Section 1.04(b)
Section 9.13
Section 2.02
Section 2.04
Section 3.01(l)(iv)
Section 3.01(s)(i)(A)
Section 1.09(d)
Section 1.07(a)
Section 9.13
Section 9.13
Section 3.01(f)(i)
Section 9.13
Section 9.13
Section 3.01(l)(v)
Section 3.01(s)(xi)
Section 3.01(s)(iv)
Section 9.13
Section 9.13
Section 9.13
Section 9.13

-vii-

HSR Act
HSR Clearance
Income Taxes
Indebtedness
Indemnified Parties
Indemnifying Party
Independent Accounting Firm
Initial Statement
Insolvency Protection Reserve Capital
Insolvency Protection Reserve Requirement
Insolvency Protection Reserve Requirement Capital Schedule
Intellectual Property
Interim Balance Sheet
Interim Balance Sheet Date
Interim Financial Statements
Interim Statutory Statements
Intermediate Holding Companies
IRS
IT Assets
Knowledge of the Purchaser
Knowledge of the Seller
Late Payment Interest
Law
Lease
Legal Restraint
Letter Agreements
Liability
License
Lien
Losses
Material Adverse Effect
Material Contracts
Material Customer
Material Health Care Providers
Material Vendor
MCC Arizona
MCC Business
MCC Business Employee
MCC Companies
MCC Environmental Liabilities
MCC Florida
MCC IP
MCC of Virginia
MCC Registered IP
MCC Subsidiaries
Measurement Time

-viii-

Section 9.13
Section 5.01(a)
Section 9.13
Section 9.13
Section 2.06(e)(i)
Section 2.06(e)(i)
Section 1.09(c)
Section 1.08(a)
Section 9.13
Section 9.13
Section 9.13
Section 9.13
Section 3.01(f)(i)
Section 3.01(f)(i)
Section 3.01(f)(i)
Section 3.01(f)(ii)
Section 3.01(x)
Section 9.13
Section 9.13
Section 9.13
Section 9.13
Section 1.11
Section 9.13
Section 9.13
Section 5.01(c)
Recitals
Section 9.13
Section 9.13
Section 1.01(a)
Section 9.13
Section 9.13
Section 3.01(n)
Section 3.01(n)(i)
Section 9.13
Section 3.01(n)(ii)
Recitals
Section 9.13
Section 9.13
Recitals
Section 9.13
Section 4.19
Section 9.13
Recitals
Section 3.01(q)(i)
Recitals
Section 9.13

Medical Claims
Medical Claims Reserve
MHS Arizona
Moelis
NASDAQ
Net Asset Value
Net Working Capital
Non-Assignable Asset
Non-MCC Entity
Non-RBC Entities
Non-Transferred Asset
Non-Transferred Liability
Notice of Disagreement
Order
Ordinary Course of Business
Organizational Documents
Part D Requirements
Parties
Party
PCI DSS
PCT Laws
Permitted Liens
Person
Personal Information
Post-Closing Adjustment
Post-Closing Tax Period
Pre-Closing Tax Period
Pre-Closing Taxes
Privacy Policy
Proceedings
Provider
Provider Advances
Provider Advances Receivable
Purchase Price
Purchaser
Purchaser 401(k) Plan
Purchaser Disclosure Letter
Purchaser Indemnified Party
Purchaser Material Adverse Effect
RBC Entities
Reference Adjusted Statutory Capital Schedule
Reference Net Asset Value Schedule
Reference Net Working Capital Schedule
Regulatory Actions
Regulated Subsidiary
Representatives

Section 9.13
Section 9.13
Recitals
Section 9.13
Section 9.13
Section 9.13
Section 9.13
Section 2.05(a)
Section 9.13
Section 9.13
Section 4.10
Section 4.10
Section 1.09(a)
Section 9.13
Section 9.13
Section 9.13
Section 9.13
Preamble
Preamble
Section 9.13
Section 9.13
Section 9.13
Section 9.13
Section 9.13
Section 1.10
Section 9.13
Section 9.13
Section 9.13
Section 3.01(s)(viii)(A)
Section 9.13
Section 9.13
Section 9.13
Section 9.13
Section 1.02
Preamble
Section 8.01(m)
Section 3.02
Section 2.06(b)
Section 9.13
Section 9.13
Section 9.13
Section 9.13
Section 9.13
Section 4.04(e)
Section 3.01(s)(v)
Section 9.13

-ix-

Required Statutory Capital
Review Period
R&W Policy
SAP
Schedule Update
SEC
Second Request
Section 338(h)(10) Election
Securities Act
Seller
Seller 401(k) Plan
Seller Common Stock
Seller Disclosure Letter
Seller FSA Plans
Seller Guarantees
Seller Indemnified Party
Seller Names and Marks
Seller Parties
Seller Transaction Expenses
Shared Contracts
Statutory Statements
Straddle Period
Subsidiary
SWH MA
Target Net Working Capital
Tax Claim
Tax Return
Taxes
Taxing Authority
Termination Date
Third-Party
Third-Party Claim
Third-Party Defense
Transfer
Transfer Taxes
Transferable Permits
Transferee Party
Transferor Party
Transferred Assets
Transferred Contracts
Transferred Employee
Transferred Entities
Transferred Equity Interests
Transferred FSA Balances
Transferred Leases
Transition Services Agreement

Section 9.13
Section 1.08(b)
Section 9.13
Section 9.13
Section 4.17
Section 9.13
Section 4.04(b)
Section 7.07(d)
Section 9.13
Preamble
Section 8.01(m)
Section 9.13
Section 3.01
Section 8.01(l)
Section 9.13
Section 2.06(c)
Section 2.02(j)
Recitals
Section 9.13
Section 9.13
Section 3.01(f)(ii)
Section 9.13
Section 9.13
Section 9.13
Section 9.13
Section 9.13
Section 9.13
Section 9.13
Section 9.13
Section 6.01(b)(i)
Section 9.13
Section 9.13
Section 2.06(c)(i)
Section 1.01(a)
Section 9.13
Section 2.01(c)
Section 4.10
Section 4.10
Section 2.01
Section 2.01(b)
Section 8.01(b)
Recitals
Section 9.13
Section 8.01(l)
Section 2.01(a)
Section 9.13

-x-

Treasury Regulations
WARN Act
Willful Breach
Year-End Financial Statements
Year-End Statutory Statements

Section 9.13
Section 8.01(o)
Section 9.13
Section 3.01(f)(i)
Section 3.01(f)(ii)

-xi-

STOCK AND ASSET PURCHASE AGREEMENT
This STOCK AND ASSET PURCHASE AGREEMENT (hereinafter referred to as this “Agreement”),
dated as of April 30, 2020, is by and between Magellan Health, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Seller”), and
Molina Healthcare, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Purchaser”). Each of the Seller and the Purchaser are
referred to herein as a “Party” and, collectively, as the “Parties.”
RECITALS
WHEREAS, the Seller owns all of the issued and outstanding equity interests of Magellan Healthcare,
Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Business Seller”);
WHEREAS, (i) the Business Seller owns all of the issued and outstanding equity interests of the entities
set forth on Annex A(I) and (ii) Magellan Health Services of Arizona, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Business Seller (“MHS Arizona” and, together with the Seller and the Business Seller, the “Seller Parties”), owns
all of the issued and outstanding equity interests of Magellan Complete Care of Arizona, Inc. (“MCC Arizona”
and, together with the entities set forth on Annex A(I), the “MCC Companies”);
WHEREAS, the MCC Companies (together, in the case of AlphaCare Holdings, Inc., with the Business
Seller) directly or indirectly own all of the issued and outstanding equity interests of the entities set forth on
Annex A(II) (the “MCC Subsidiaries”, and together with the MCC Companies, the “Transferred Entities”);
WHEREAS, the Seller Parties and the Transferred Entities own and operate the MCC Business;
WHEREAS, subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, the Seller Parties desire to
sell, or cause the sale of, the Transferred Equity Interests and the Transferred Assets to the Purchaser, and the
Purchaser desires to purchase the Transferred Equity Interests and the Transferred Assets from the Seller Parties
and assume the Assumed Liabilities; and
WHEREAS, concurrently with the execution and delivery of this Agreement, and as a condition and
inducement to the Parties’ willingness to enter into this Agreement, the Parties have entered into those certain
Letter Agreements and Term Sheets, dated as of the date hereof, by and between the Seller and the Purchaser for
the provision of (i) behavioral health care services, (ii) utilization management services and (iii) medical
pharmacy services (collectively the “Letter Agreements”).
AGREEMENT
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises, and of the representations, warranties, covenants
and agreements contained herein, the sufficiency of which is acknowledged and agreed and incorporating the
recitals set forth above, the Parties hereto agree as follows:
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ARTICLE I
PURCHASE AND SALE
Section 1.01 Purchase and Sale; Assumption of Liabilities.
(a)
At and effective as of the Closing, (i) the Seller shall cause the other Seller Parties to sell,
assign, transfer, convey and deliver (“Transfer”) to the Purchaser, and the Purchaser shall purchase, assume and
accept from such Seller Parties, the Transferred Equity Interests, free and clear of any Lien thereon, except for
Liens under applicable U.S. federal and state securities Laws, and (ii) the Seller Parties shall, or shall cause their
applicable Subsidiaries to, Transfer to the Purchaser all of the Seller Parties’ and each such Subsidiary’s right, title
and interest in and to and the Transferred Assets, free and clear of all Liens thereon, except for Permitted Liens.
(b)
At and effective as of the Closing, the Purchaser shall assume, agree to pay, perform, fulfill
and discharge when due in accordance with their terms the Assumed Liabilities.
Section 1.02 Purchase Price. The aggregate consideration to be paid by the Purchaser to the Seller for
the Transferred Equity Interests and the Transferred Assets shall be (a) an amount in cash equal to Eight Hundred
Fifty Million Dollars ($850,000,000) (the “Base Purchase Price”), which amount shall be adjusted as a result of
the Closing Adjustment, if any, pursuant to Section 1.04, and the Post-Closing Adjustment, if any, pursuant to
Section 1.10 (such Base Purchase Price, as so adjusted, the “Purchase Price”) and plus (b) the assumption of the
Assumed Liabilities.
Section 1.03
Escrow. At or prior to the Closing, the Purchaser, the Seller and Citibank, National
Association (the “Escrow Agent”) shall enter into an Escrow Agreement in the form of Exhibit A attached hereto
(the “Escrow Agreement”). The Escrow Agreement will provide for the deposit of Three Million One Hundred
Eighty-Seven Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($3,187,500) (the “Escrow Amount”) by the Purchaser at the
Closing in an account with the Escrow Agent for the purposes of securing the indemnification obligations of the
Seller Parties under Section 2.06 and adjustments under Section 1.10.
Section 1.04 Closing Adjustment. Not fewer than three (3) Business Days prior to the Closing Date, the
Seller shall provide the Purchaser with a notice (the “Closing Notice”), which shall include the following:
(a)
the Seller’s good faith estimate of (i) the Adjusted Statutory Capital of each RBC Entity as
of the Measurement Time, which shall account for the Medical Claims Reserve, and the Accounts Receivable
Accrual, and which shall be in the format of the Reference Adjusted Statutory Capital Schedule (collectively, the
“Estimated Adjusted Regulatory Capital”), (ii) the Insolvency Protection Reserve Capital of SWH MA as of the
Measurement Time, which shall account for the Medical Claims Reserve and the Accounts Receivable Accrual,
and which shall be in the format of the Insolvency Protection Reserve Requirement Capital Schedule (the
“Estimated Insolvency Protection Reserve Capital”), (iii) the Net Working Capital of each Non-RBC Entity as of
the Measurement Time, which shall be in the format of the Reference Net Working Capital Schedule (collectively,
“Estimated Net Working Capital”), and (iv) the Net Asset Value as of the Measurement Time, which shall be in
the format of the Reference Net Asset Value Schedule (the “Estimated Net Asset Value”);
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(b)
the Seller’s good faith estimate of Closing Date Cash (the “Estimated Closing Date Cash”),
Closing Date Indebtedness (the “Estimated Closing Date Indebtedness”) and Seller Transaction Expenses (the
“Estimated Seller Transaction Expenses”);
(c)
the Seller’s determination of the “Closing Adjustment”, which shall be an amount equal to
(i) the difference (which may be positive or negative) between Estimated Adjusted Regulatory Capital minus
Required Statutory Capital, plus (ii) the difference (which may be positive or negative) between Estimated
Insolvency Protection Reserve Capital minus Insolvency Protection Reserve Requirement plus (iii) the difference
(which may be positive or negative) between Estimated Net Working Capital minus Target Net Working Capital,
plus (iv) the Estimated Net Asset Value (which may be positive or negative), plus (v) the Estimated Closing Date
Cash, minus (vi) the Estimated Closing Date Indebtedness, if any, minus (vii) the Estimated Seller Transaction
Expenses, if any;
(d)
taking into account the Closing Adjustment (as further described below), the amount to be
paid by the Purchaser to the Seller at the Closing (the “Closing Payment”); and
(e)
Section 1.06(b)(vi).

the account or accounts to which the Purchaser shall pay the Closing Payment pursuant to

The Closing Notice shall be prepared from the books and records of the MCC Business in accordance with the
Accounting Principles; provided, however, that the Estimated Adjusted Regulatory Capital shall be prepared in
accordance with the Applicable RBC Entity Accounting Principles.
In connection with and to facilitate the review of the Closing Notice, the Seller shall use Commercially
Reasonable Efforts to (i) provide the Purchaser with supporting data reasonably necessary to allow the Purchaser
to verify (and propose corrections with respect to, if necessary) calculations set forth in the Closing Notice,
(ii) provide to the Purchaser reasonable access to all relevant books and records and personnel of the Seller Parties
and (iii) work with the Purchaser in good faith, prior to the Closing, to resolve any disagreements over any items
set forth in the Closing Notice, and the items set forth in the Closing Notice shall for all purposes in this
Agreement be equal to the amounts initially proposed by the Seller together with any revisions thereto that are
mutually agreed upon by the Seller and the Purchaser prior to the Closing. If there are any disagreements over any
items set forth in the Closing Notice that are not resolved by the time of the Closing, then such items shall for all
purposes of making payments at Closing be deemed to be equal to the amounts initially proposed by the Seller for
each such item, but the consummation of the Closing shall not be deemed to waive the Purchaser’s right to dispute
such items from and after the Closing. If the Closing Adjustment is a positive amount, then the amount to be paid
by the Purchaser as directed by the Seller at the Closing in the Closing Notice shall be equal to the Base Purchase
Price plus the Closing Adjustment, minus the Escrow Amount. If the Closing Adjustment is a negative amount,
then the amount to be paid by the Purchaser as directed by the Seller at the Closing in the Closing Notice shall be
equal to the Base Purchase Price minus the absolute value of the Closing Adjustment, minus the Escrow Amount.
Section 1.05 The Closing. The Parties shall consummate the transactions contemplated by Section 1.01
(such consummation, the “Closing”) (i) at the offices of Weil, Gotshal & Manges
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LLP, 767 Fifth Avenue, New York, New York 10153, as soon as reasonably practicable, and in no event later than
three (3) Business Days, following the day on which the last to be satisfied or waived of each of the conditions set
forth in Article V occurs (other than those conditions that by their terms are to be satisfied at the Closing, but
subject to the satisfaction or waiver of those conditions) or (ii) at such other place and time and/or on such other
date as the Parties may otherwise agree in writing (the date on which the Closing occurs, the “Closing Date”).
Section 1.06 Certain Closing Deliveries.
(a)

At the Closing, the Seller shall deliver the following to the Purchaser:
(i)

the Assignment and Assumption Agreement and Bill of Sale, duly executed by the

(ii)

the Transition Services Agreement, duly executed by the Seller;

Seller;

(iii)
certificate(s) (to the extent applicable) evidencing the Transferred Equity Interests,
duly endorsed in blank or with stock power(s) in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Purchaser and
duly executed by the Business Seller or MHS Arizona, as applicable, free and clear of all Liens;
(iv)
an IRS Form W-9 of the Business Seller, MHS Arizona and any other Person
transferring Transferred Assets hereunder, duly executed by the Business Seller, MHS Arizona and such other
Person, as applicable;
(v)
(vi)

the Escrow Agreement, duly executed by the Seller;
the Commercial Agreements, duly executed by the Seller (or its applicable

Subsidiary); and
(vii)
(b)

the certificate required to be delivered pursuant to Section 5.03(d).

At the Closing, the Purchaser shall deliver the following to the Seller:
(i)

the Assignment and Assumption Agreement and Bill of Sale, duly executed by the

(ii)

the Transition Services Agreement, duly executed by the Purchaser;

(iii)

the Escrow Agreement, duly executed by the Purchaser and the Escrow Agent;

Purchaser;

(iv)

the Commercial Agreements, duly executed by the Purchaser (or its applicable

Subsidiary);
(v)

the certificate required to be delivered pursuant to Section 5.02(c); and
-4-

(vi)
the Closing Payment, as specified in the Closing Notice, by wire transfer in
immediately available funds, to an account or accounts as directed by the Seller in the Closing Notice.
(c)
At the Closing, the Purchaser shall deposit by wire transfer in immediately available funds
to an account designated by the Escrow Agent an amount equal to the Escrow Amount, to be held by the Escrow
Agent in a segregated account pursuant to the Escrow Agreement (all funds held in such account from time to
time, together with any income and earnings thereon, the “Escrow Funds”), and to be released to the Seller on the
fifteen (15) month anniversary of the Closing (except to the extent that funds have previously been released to the
Purchaser or are then subject to pending unresolved claims by the Purchaser in each case pursuant to the Escrow
Agreement).
Section 1.07 Purchase Price Allocation.
(a)
The Base Purchase Price shall be allocated to the Transferred Assets and to the Transferred
Equity Interests in accordance with Annex B (the “First Level-Allocation”) and shall be adjusted in accordance
with the methodology set forth on Annex B for the apportionment of any adjustments to the Base Purchase Price
under Section 1.10 (such allocation, as adjusted, the “Adjusted First-Level Allocation”).
(b)
Not later than ten (10) days after the final determination of the Final Statement (but in no
event later than (30) days prior to the due date for the filing of IRS Forms 8023 with respect to the Transferred
Entities in respect of which Section 338(h)(10) Elections as contemplated by Section 7.07(d) shall be made), the
Purchaser shall provide the Seller with the Adjusted First-Level Allocation to the SWH Holdings Base Purchase
Price (such allocation, the “Adjusted SWH Holdings Allocation”) and the AlphaCare Base Purchase Price (such
allocation, the “Adjusted AlphaCare Allocation”) and a further allocation of the remainder of the Adjusted FirstLevel Allocation (plus the Assumed Liabilities and other relevant amounts to the extent treated as consideration
for U.S. federal income tax purposes) (i) among the Transferred Assets, in accordance with Section 1060 of the
Code and the Treasury Regulations thereunder, (ii) among the assets of the Transferred Entities in respect of
which Section 338(h)(10) Elections as contemplated by Section 7.07(d) shall be made, in accordance with Section
338 of the Code and the Treasury Regulations thereunder (and any similar provision of state, local or foreign Law,
as applicable) and (iii) among the assets of The Management Group, LLC and MCC of Virginia, in accordance
with Section 1060 of the Code and the Treasury Regulations thereunder (and any similar provision of state, local
or foreign Law, as applicable) (the allocations in clauses (i), (ii) and (iii), collectively, the “Adjusted Non-SWH
Allocation”).
(c)
The Seller shall have the right to review and comment on the Adjusted SWH Holdings
Allocation, the Adjusted AlphaCare Allocation and the Adjusted Non-SWH Allocation (collectively, the
“Adjusted Allocations”), and the Purchaser shall consider any reasonable comments of the Seller in good faith
received within ten (10) days of the Seller’s receipt of the draft Adjusted Allocations. If the Parties are unable to
resolve any dispute regarding the Adjusted Allocations within five (5) days after the Seller provides its comments,
the Purchaser and the Seller shall each report the allocation of the Purchase Price in accordance with its own
separate determination; provided, that, if the dispute relates only to the Adjusted Non-SWH Allocation, the
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Parties shall report consistently with the agreed Adjusted SWH Holdings Allocation and the agreed Adjusted
AlphaCare Allocation.
(d)
All Tax Returns (including IRS Forms 8594) filed by the Purchaser and the Seller shall be
prepared and filed consistently with this Section 1.07. Neither the Seller nor the Purchaser shall, nor shall they
permit their respective Affiliates to, file any Tax Return or other document with, or make any statement or
declaration to, any Taxing Authority that is inconsistent with this Section 1.07, except in each case as otherwise
required by a final determination within the meaning of Section 1313(a) of the Code.
Section 1.08 Post-Closing Statements.
(a)
The Purchaser shall prepare and deliver (or cause to be prepared and delivered) to the
Seller a statement (the “Initial Statement”) of (i) the Adjusted Statutory Capital of each RBC Entity as of the
Measurement Time (collectively, “Closing Adjusted Statutory Capital”), which shall be in the format of the
Reference Adjusted Statutory Capital Schedule, (ii) the Insolvency Protection Reserve Capital of SWH MA as of
the Measurement Time, which shall be in the format of the Insolvency Protection Reserve Requirement Capital
Schedule (the “Closing Insolvency Protection Reserve Capital”), (iii) the Net Working Capital of each Non-RBC
Entity as of the Measurement Time (collectively, “Closing Net Working Capital”), which shall be in the format of
the Reference Net Working Capital Schedule, (iv) the Net Asset Value as of the Measurement Time (the “Closing
Net Asset Value”), which shall be in the format of the Reference Net Asset Value Schedule, (v) Closing Date
Cash, (vi) Closing Date Indebtedness and (vii) Seller Transaction Expenses. The Purchaser shall deliver the Initial
Statement within two hundred ten (210) days after the Closing Date. The Initial Statement shall be prepared from
the books and records of the MCC Business in accordance with the Accounting Principles; provided, however,
that the Closing Adjusted Statutory Capital shall be prepared in accordance with the Applicable RBC Entity
Accounting Principles. The Medical Claims Reserve, Accounts Receivable Accrual and Provider Advances
Receivable set forth on the Closing Adjusted Statutory Capital, Closing Insolvency Protection Reserve Capital
and Net Asset Value reflected on the Initial Statement will be calculated as follows: (A) the Medical Claims
Reserve shall reflect the aggregate dollar amount of (I) the total amount of Medical Claims incurred prior to the
Measurement Time which are paid within one hundred eighty (180) days following the Measurement Time,
(II) all recoveries and repayments of Medical Claims incurred and paid prior to the Measurement Time which are
applied, credited, offset or received within one hundred eighty (180) days following the Measurement Time
(including repayments or recoveries received or due for overpayments, from reinsurance and stop-loss coverage,
subrogation and coordination of benefits), and (III) a good-faith estimate of all Medical Claims incurred prior to
the Measurement Time which have not been paid within one hundred eighty (180) days following the
Measurement Time; (B) the Accounts Receivable Accrual of the RBC Entities and SWH MA shall reflect the
aggregate dollar amount of (I) the total amount of premium capitation for services performed by the RBC Entities
and SWH MA with respect to the period of time prior to the Measurement Time that are received by the RBC
Entities and SWH MA after the Measurement Time and within one hundred eighty (180) days following the
Measurement Time, and (II) a good-faith estimate of all premium capitation for services performed by the RBC
Entities and SWH MA with respect to the period of time prior to the Measurement Time which have not been
received by the RBC Entities and SWH MA within one hundred eighty (180) days following the Measurement
Time; and (C) the Provider Advances
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Receivable shall reflect the aggregate dollar amount of all Provider Advances outstanding as of the Measurement
Time that are repaid before the Purchaser delivers the Initial Statement. The Purchaser shall act in good faith and
use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to ensure the collection, recovery or receipt of any amounts due and owing
to the MCC Business that are reflected on the Initial Statement, in each case, in a manner consistent with the
Purchaser’s policies and procedures applicable to its other businesses in effect following the Closing. The Seller
will, and to the extent applicable, will use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to cause its accountants, to make
available to the Purchaser such information, books and records, work papers and, upon reasonable notice,
employees responsible for and knowledgeable about any such information, books and records or work papers of
the Seller and its Affiliates (including the Transferred Entities), in each case as may be reasonably required or
useful for the Purchaser to prepare the Initial Statement.
(b)
During the sixty (60)-day period immediately following the Seller’s receipt of the Initial
Statement (the “Review Period”), the Seller and its Representatives will, upon reasonable prior notice and during
normal business hours, be permitted to review the Purchaser’s work papers, and all books and records of the
Purchaser and its Affiliates reasonably necessary for the Seller’s review of the Initial Statement and the Purchaser
will use its Commercially Reasonable Efforts to allow the Seller and its Representatives, to the extent applicable,
to review the work papers of the Purchaser’s accountants related to the preparation of the Initial Statement, and
the Purchaser shall make reasonably available the individuals in its employ (and subject to Section 1.08(e) will
use its Commercially Reasonable Efforts to make available its accountant’s employees) responsible for and
knowledgeable about the information used in the preparation of the Initial Statement to respond to the reasonable
inquiries of the Seller.
(c)
The Purchaser agrees that, following the Closing through the date that the Final Statement
becomes final and binding in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, it will not take any actions with
respect to any accounting books, records, methods, policies, principles, practices, procedures, classifications and
estimation methodologies on which the Initial Statement is based or on which the Final Statement is to be based
that are materially inconsistent with the past practice of the Purchaser or that would materially impede or
materially delay the preparation of the Notice of Disagreement or the Final Statement unless required by
Applicable Law. Regardless of any such actions, the Purchaser shall ensure that the calculation of the components
comprising the Final Statement shall be made in a manner and utilizing the methods required by this
Agreement. The restrictions set forth in this Section 1.08(c) shall apply solely for purposes of determining the
Final Statement and shall not restrict any act of the Purchaser with respect to any accounting books, records,
methods, policies, principles procedures practices, classifications and estimates methodologies for any other
purpose, either before or after the Final Statement becomes final and binding.
(d)
The Seller and the Purchaser acknowledge that the sole purpose of the determination of the
components of the Final Statement is to adjust the Closing Payment so as to reflect the final calculations of the
Closing Adjusted Statutory Capital, Closing Insolvency Protection Reserve Capital, Closing Net Working Capital,
Closing Net Asset Value, Closing Date Cash, Closing Date Indebtedness and Seller Transaction Expenses as
compared to the estimates thereof set forth in the Closing Notice, and not to dispute the appropriateness of the
Reference Adjusted Statutory Capital Schedule, the Insolvency Protection Reserve Requirement Capital Schedule,
the Reference Net Working Capital Schedule, the Reference Net Asset Value Schedule,
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the Accounting Principles or the Applicable RBC Entity Accounting Principles, or any components thereof.
(e)
The accountants of the Seller or the Purchaser shall not be obliged to make any work
papers or the individuals in their employ available to the other Party as provided in this Section 1.08 except in
accordance with such accountants’ normal disclosure procedures and then only after such Party has signed a
customary agreement relating to such access to work papers in form and substance reasonably acceptable to such
accountants.
Section 1.09 Reconciliation of Post-Closing Statements.
(a)
The Seller shall notify the Purchaser in writing (the “Notice of Disagreement”) prior to the
expiration of the Review Period if the Seller disagrees with the Initial Statement (or any amounts set forth
therein). The Notice of Disagreement shall set forth in reasonable detail the basis for such disagreement, the
amounts involved and the Seller’s determination of the disputed amounts. Any items not included in the Notice of
Disagreement shall be considered final and binding. If the Seller does not deliver a Notice of Disagreement prior
to the expiration of the Review Period, then the Initial Statement shall be deemed to be the Final Statement.
(b)
During the thirty (30) day period immediately following the delivery of a Notice of
Disagreement (the “Consultation Period”), the Seller and the Purchaser shall seek in good faith to resolve any
differences that they may have with respect to the matters specified in the Notice of Disagreement. If the Seller
and the Purchaser are able to resolve their differences, then the Initial Statement, as modified by agreement of the
Seller and the Purchaser, shall be deemed to be the Final Statement.
(c)
If, at the end of the Consultation Period, the Seller and the Purchaser have been unable to
resolve all differences that they may have with respect to the matters specified in the Notice of Disagreement, then
the Seller and the Purchaser shall each have the right to submit all matters that remain in dispute with respect to
the Notice of Disagreement (along with a copy of the Initial Statement marked to indicate those line items that are
not in dispute) to the New York office of KPMG or such other certified public accounting firm in the United
States of international recognition reasonably acceptable to the Seller and the Purchaser and agreed to by them in
writing (the “Independent Accounting Firm”). The Seller and the Purchaser shall instruct the Independent
Accounting Firm to make a final determination as promptly as practicable, and in any event within thirty (30)
days after its engagement, of the appropriate amount of each of the line items in the Initial Statement as to which
the Seller and the Purchaser disagree as set out in the Notice of Disagreement. In making its determination
pursuant to this Section 1.09(c), the Independent Accounting Firm shall act as an expert and not as an arbitrator,
and shall base its determination solely on written presentations, only to the extent consistent with the terms and
provisions of this Agreement, of the Seller and the Purchaser and not by independent review. The Independent
Accounting Firm shall consider only those items and amounts in the Seller’s and the Purchaser’s respective
calculations that are identified as being items and amounts to which the Seller and the Purchaser have been unable
to agree. Such determination shall be final and binding on the parties absent manifest mathematical error. A copy
of all materials submitted to the Independent Accounting Firm pursuant to the immediately preceding sentence
shall be provided by the Seller
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or the Purchaser, as applicable, to the other party concurrently with the submission thereof to the Independent
Accounting Firm. In resolving each disputed line item, the Independent Accounting Firm shall be bound by the
provisions of this Agreement, shall select either the position of the Purchaser or the Seller and may not impose an
alternative resolution with respect to any item or amount disputed.
(d)
The statement of Closing Adjusted Statutory Capital, Closing Insolvency Protection
Reserve Capital, Closing Net Working Capital, Closing Net Asset Value, Closing Date Cash, Closing Date
Indebtedness and Seller Transaction Expenses that is final and binding on the parties, as determined either through
agreement of the parties pursuant to Section 1.09(a) or Section 1.09(b) or through the action of the Independent
Accounting Firm pursuant to Section 1.09(c), is referred to as the “Final Statement”.
(e)
The cost of the Independent Accounting Firm’s review and determination shall be allocated
to and borne by the Purchaser and the Seller based on the inverse of the percentage that the Independent
Accounting Firm’s determination (before such allocation) bears to the total amount of the total items in dispute as
originally submitted to the Independent Accounting Firm. For example, should the items in dispute total in
amount to One Thousand Dollars ($1,000) and the Independent Accounting Firm awards Six Hundred Dollars
($600) in favor of the Seller’s position, sixty percent (60%) of the costs of its review would be borne by the
Purchaser and forty percent (40%) would be borne by the Seller. During the review by the Independent
Accounting Firm, the Purchaser and the Seller and their accountants will each make available to the Independent
Accounting Firm interviews with such individuals, and such information, books and records and work papers, as
may be reasonably required by the Independent Accounting Firm to fulfill its obligations as described in Section
1.09(c); provided, however, that the accountants of the Seller or the Purchaser shall not be obliged to make any
work papers available to the Independent Accounting Firm except in accordance with such accountants’ normal
disclosure procedures and then only after such firm has signed a customary agreement relating to such access to
work papers in form and substance reasonably acceptable to such accountants.
Section 1.10 Post-Closing Adjustment.
(a)
If the sum of (i) the difference between the Closing Adjusted Statutory Capital set forth in
the Final Statement minus the amount of Estimated Adjusted Regulatory Capital, plus (ii) the difference between
the Closing Insolvency Protection Reserve Capital set forth in the Final Statement minus the amount of Estimated
Insolvency Regulatory Reserve Requirement, plus (iii) the difference between the Closing Net Working Capital
set forth in the Final Statement minus the amount of Estimated Net Working Capital, plus (iv) the difference
between the Closing Net Asset Value set forth in the Final Statement minus the amount of Estimated Net Asset
Value, plus (v) the difference between the Closing Date Cash set forth in the Final Statement minus the amount of
Estimated Closing Date Cash, plus (vi) the difference between the amount of Estimated Closing Date
Indebtedness minus the Closing Date Indebtedness set forth in the Final Statement, plus (vii) the difference
between the amount of Estimated Seller Transaction Expenses minus the Seller Transaction Expenses set forth in
the Final Statement equals (A) a positive amount, then the Purchaser shall pay such amount in cash to the Seller,
or (B) a negative amount, then the Seller shall pay the absolute value of such amount in cash to the
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Purchaser (such amount, if any, that either the Purchaser is obligated to pay to the Seller, or the Seller is obligated
to pay to the Purchaser, being herein referred to as the “Post-Closing Adjustment”) or, in the Purchaser’s sole
discretion, the Purchaser may satisfy such amounts from the Escrow Funds. Payment of the Post-Closing
Adjustment shall be made within five (5) Business Days after the Final Statement becomes such.
(b)
In the event that, following determination of the Post-Closing Adjustment, the Purchaser or
any of its Affiliates (including the Transferred Entities) actually collect any portion of the Provider Advances
Receivable that was not included in the calculation of Closing Net Asset Value, the Purchaser shall promptly remit
such payment to the Seller.
Section 1.11 Payments and Computations. Except for the payment of the Closing Payment (which shall
be paid at the Closing), each of the Seller or the Purchaser, as applicable, shall make each payment due to the
party hereto not later than 11:00 a.m., New York City time, on the day when due as required by the terms of this
Agreement. All payments (including the Closing Payment) shall be paid by wire transfer in immediately available
funds to the account or accounts designated in advance by the party receiving such payment. Any amount not paid
when due pursuant to this Agreement shall bear interest at a rate equal to the 3-month SOFR as of the date such
payment was due, taken from a widely accepted source of published interest rates, plus 8.0% (“Late Payment
Interest”). All computations of Late Payment Interest shall be made on the basis of a year of 365 days, in each
case, for the actual number of days (including the first due day but excluding the day of payment) occurring in the
period for which such Late Payment Interest is payable. Whenever any payment under this Agreement shall be
due on a day other than a Business Day, such payment shall be made on the next succeeding Business Day, and
such extension of time shall not be included in the computation of, and payment of, Late Payment Interest.
Section 1.12
Withholding. All payments under this Agreement shall be made without deduction or
withholding for any Taxes, except as required by Law. If any Law requires the deduction or withholding of any
Tax from any such payment to any Person, then the Person required to make such deduction or withholding shall
be entitled to do so and shall timely pay the full amount deducted or withheld to the relevant Governmental Entity
in accordance with Law; provided, however, that the Party required to make such deduction or withholding shall
provide each other Party that is subject to such deduction or withholding with a written notice of its intention to
deduct or withhold at least five (5) Business Days prior to any such deduction or withholding and each of the
applicable Parties shall use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to cooperate to minimize or eliminate any such
withholding obligation. To the extent that amounts are so deducted or withheld and actually remitted to the
applicable Governmental Entity, such withheld and remitted amounts shall be treated for all purposes of this
Agreement as having been paid to the Person in respect of which such deduction and withholding was made.
ARTICLE II
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Section 2.01 Transferred Assets. As used in this Agreement, “Transferred Assets” means, except for the
Excluded Assets or as otherwise provided in this Agreement or any Ancillary Agreement, all of the following
assets, properties and rights, as the same shall exist at the Closing,
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owned, leased, held or licensed by a Non-MCC Entity and all right, title and interests of a Non-MCC Entity in, to
and under:
(a)

all Leases set forth on Section 2.01(a) of the Seller Disclosure Letter (the “Transferred

Leases”);
(b)
all rights under Contracts to the extent exclusively related to the ownership or operation of
the MCC Business, including those listed on Section 2.01(b) of the Seller Disclosure Letter (collectively, the
“Transferred Contracts”);
(c)
all permits primarily related to the ownership or operation of the MCC Business to the
extent the transfer thereof to the Purchaser is not prohibited by applicable Law (the “Transferable Permits”);
(d)
all expenses that have been prepaid by the Seller or any of its Subsidiaries to the extent
primarily related to the ownership or operation of the MCC Business, including lease and rental payments;
(e)
all personal property and interests therein (other than IT Assets), including equipment,
furniture, furnishings, office equipment, communications equipment and other tangible personal property, (i)
located at the premises leased pursuant to the Transferred Leases or (ii) used primarily by a Transferred
Employee;
(f)
all IT Assets exclusively related to the MCC Business (the “Assigned IT Assets”), subject
to the Seller’s rights under the Transition Services Agreement;
(g)
all of the Seller’s or its Subsidiaries’ right, title and interest in and to any Intellectual
Property owned by a Non-MCC Entity to the extent set forth on Section 2.01(g) of the Seller Disclosure Letter
and any copyrights and trade secrets to the extent exclusively related to the MCC Business, together with all of the
Seller’s and its Subsidiaries’ goodwill associated with any of the foregoing, all of the Seller’s and its Subsidiaries’
rights to collect royalties, products and proceeds in connection with any of the foregoing, all the Seller’s rights to
institute and pursue Proceedings against third parties for past, present and future infringement, misappropriation
or dilution of any of the foregoing, or other conflict therewith, and all of the Seller’s and its Subsidiaries’ rights to
recover damages or lost profits in connection with any of the foregoing (collectively, the “Assigned IP”);
(h)
all assets, rights and properties of or relating to any Assumed Employee Plan (collectively,
“Assumed Employee Plan Assets”);
(i)
any and all documents, instruments, papers, books, records, books of account, files and
tangible or electronic embodiments of data (including customer and supplier lists and repair and performance
records), telephone numbers and fax numbers, catalogs, brochures, sales literature, promotional materials,
certificates and other documents to the extent related to the ownership or operation of the MCC Business and in
the possession or control of a Non-MCC Entity, other than (i) for the avoidance of doubt, any documents or such
other materials whether or not located at the premises leased pursuant to the Transferred Leases to the extent not
related to the ownership or operation of the MCC Business, (ii) any documents not permitted to be
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transferred to the Purchaser by applicable Law and (iii) except as otherwise provided in Section 2.01(k) or Article
VII, any Tax Returns or Tax records (collectively, the “Books and Records”); provided, that, the applicable NonMCC Subsidiary shall be permitted to keep (A) one (1) copy of any Books and Records to the extent required by
applicable Law or to demonstrate compliance with applicable Law and (B) any Books and Records in the form of
the so-called “back-up” electronic tapes in the Ordinary Course of Business;
(j)
copies of personnel and employment records for Transferred Employees, to the extent the
Transfer thereof is permitted by applicable Law;
(k)
subject to Article VII, any non-Income Tax Returns (or portions thereof) filed with respect
to, or related to the Transferred Assets (and all books and records, including note papers and work papers, solely
related thereto); provided, that, the Seller shall be permitted to keep copies of any Tax Returns (and note papers
and work papers) it deems advisable;
(l)
all Proceedings, defenses and rights of recovery against any third party to the extent related
to, or arising from, the ownership or operation of the MCC Business, the Transferred Assets or the other Assumed
Liabilities including any portion of a Proceeding against a third party to the extent exclusively related to, or
arising from, the ownership or operation of the MCC Business, the Transferred Assets or the other Assumed
Liabilities;
(m)
all goodwill of the Seller to the extent generated by or associated with the ownership or
operation of the MCC Business;
(n)

all assets, properties and rights listed on Section 2.01(n) of the Seller Disclosure Letter; and

(o)
all other assets, properties or rights of every kind and description, wherever located,
whether real, personal or mixed, tangible or intangible, that are owned by any Non-MCC Entity and are
exclusively related to the ownership or operation of the MCC Business (for the avoidance of doubt, this
subparagraph (o) shall not be deemed to include assets, properties or rights of a type described in the foregoing
subparagraphs (a) - (n)).
Section 2.02
Excluded Assets. Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary in Section 2.01, and
except as otherwise provided in any Ancillary Agreement, the Seller and its Subsidiaries (other than the
Transferred Entities) shall retain all of their respective right, title and interest in and to, and shall not, and shall not
be deemed to, Transfer to the Purchaser, and the Transferred Assets shall not, and shall not be deemed to include
any of the following assets, properties and rights and to the extent any of the following assets, properties and
rights are held by a Transferred Entity, the Seller may cause any such asset, property or right to be transferred to a
Non-MCC Entity prior to the Closing for no or such consideration as determined by the Seller (all such retained
assets, properties and rights noted below, the “Excluded Assets”):
(a)
all cash and cash equivalents or negotiable instruments on hand or held by any bank or
other third party or elsewhere of the Seller or its Subsidiaries, including the Transferred Entities, except to the
extent reflected on the Final Statement;
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(b)

all capital stock and/or equity interests in any Person other than the Transferred Entities;

(c)
all right, title and interest to any distributions or dividends from any Transferred Entity with
a record date at or prior to the Closing;
(d)
other than any accounts receivable exclusively between or among the Transferred Entities,
any accounts receivable (including trade accounts receivable) owing to the MCC Business from any Non-MCC
Entity;
(e)
all notes receivable or similar claims or rights (whether or not billed or accrued and
however documented) owing from any Non-MCC Entity relating to or arising out of the financing of the MCC
Business or the transfer of cash to or from the MCC Business;
(f)

all of the Non-MCC Entities’ checkbooks, canceled checks and bank deposits;

(g)
all of the Seller’s or its Subsidiaries’ (including the Transferred Entities’) right, title and
interest in and to any Proceedings (i) against third parties to the extent relating to any of the Excluded Assets or
the Excluded Liabilities or (ii) relating to any period through the Closing to the extent that the assertion of such
cause of action or defense is necessary or useful in defending any claim that may be asserted against any NonMCC Entity, in each case, including the right to recover damages or lost profits in connection therewith;
(h)
all right, title and interest of the Seller or its Subsidiaries (including the Transferred
Entities) in and to any insurance policy, including any refunds or recoveries thereunder or reserve premiums
attributable thereto, maintained by the Seller or any of its Subsidiaries (other than any insurance policy maintained
by one (1) or more Transferred Entity);
(i)

all Intellectual Property of the Seller and its Subsidiaries other than the Assigned IP;

(j)
except for the Assigned IP, all of the Seller’s or its Subsidiaries’ right, title and interest in
and to (i) any trademark of the Seller or any of its Subsidiaries (other than any Transferred Entity) (including
those set forth in Section 2.02(j) of the Seller Disclosure Letter), and any trademark comprised or derived from or
confusingly similar to any of the foregoing and (ii) the reputation or goodwill of the Seller or any of its
Subsidiaries associated with any of the foregoing (collectively, the “Seller Names and Marks”);
(k)
all of the Seller’s or its Subsidiaries’ (including the Transferred Entities’) right, title and
interest in and to any properties or assets privileged under the attorney-client privilege, the attorney work-product
privilege or any other self-auditing privilege or policy from a Governmental Entity, to the extent not related to the
ownership and operation of the MCC Business;
(l)
(i) any books and records relating to any of the Excluded Assets or (ii) any books, records
or other materials (including corporate minute books, other similar corporate records and stock records) of or in
the possession of the Seller or its Subsidiaries (including the Transferred Entities) that (A) the Seller or any of its
Subsidiaries (other than the Transferred
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Entities) is required by Law to retain or the Seller determines is necessary to retain, including as a result of
privacy and data protection policies (copies of which, to the extent permitted by Law, will be made available to
the Purchaser at the Purchaser’s reasonable request and expense) or (B) any of the Seller or its Subsidiaries
(including the Transferred Entities) are prohibited by Law from delivering to the Purchaser (including by transfer
of the equity interests of the Transferred Entities), including any books and records, reports, information or other
materials that disclose in any manner the contents of any other books and records, reports, information or other
materials that the Seller or its Subsidiaries (including the Transferred Entities) are prohibited by Law from
delivering to the Purchaser (including by transfer of the equity interests of the Transferred Entities);
(m)
personnel and employment records for employees and former employees of the Seller or its
Subsidiaries (including the Transferred Entities) who are not Transferred Employees;
(n)

all IT Assets other than Assigned IT Assets;

(o)
all of the Seller’s or its Subsidiaries’ right, title and interest in and to this Agreement
(including the Ancillary Agreements);
(p)
all Leases to which any Non-MCC Entity is a party, including the Leases set forth on
Section 2.02(p) of the Seller Disclosure Letter, and all of the Proceedings, rights and benefits thereunder, except
for the Transferred Leases;
(q)
the sponsorship of, all assets under, or any other rights, title and interest in, to or under (i)
any Employee Plan that is not an Assumed Employee Plan and (ii) any other benefit or compensation plan,
program, policy, agreement, Contract, or arrangement presently or formerly sponsored, maintained, or contributed
to by the Seller or any of its Subsidiaries (other than an Employee Plan), together, in the case of clauses (i) and
(ii), with all funding arrangements thereto (including all trusts, insurance policies and administrative service
contracts);
(r)
subject to Article VII, all Tax assets (including any refunds, rebates or credits or similar
benefits) of the Seller or its Subsidiaries (but for the avoidance of doubt, not with respect to the Transferred
Entities, which shall be governed by Article VII) determined, in the case of a Straddle Period, in accordance with
Section 7.02(c);
(s)
subject to Article VII, all Tax Returns and all records (including all work papers) related
thereto, except as otherwise provided in Section 2.01(k);
(t)
Employee Plan;
(u)

all assets, rights and properties of or relating to any Employee Plan that is not an Assumed
the assets listed on Section 2.02(u) of the Seller Disclosure Letter; and

(v)
all other assets, properties and rights of every kind and description, wherever located,
whether real, person or mixed, tangible or intangible, of the Seller or its Subsidiaries (including the Transferred
Entities) not set forth in Section 2.02(a) to (u) to the extent (i) not primarily related to the ownership or operation
of the MCC Business or (ii) not expressly included as Transferred Assets pursuant to Section 2.01.
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Section 2.03 Assumed Liabilities. As used in this Agreement, “Assumed Liabilities” means, except for
the Excluded Liabilities or as otherwise provided in this Agreement or any Ancillary Agreement, each of the
following Liabilities of the Non-MCC Entities, whether presently in existence or arising after the date of this
Agreement and, in each case, whether arising prior to, on or after the Closing Date:
(a)
all trade payables to the extent related to, or arising from, the ownership or operation of the
MCC Business, including any portion of a trade payable exclusively related to, or arising from, the ownership or
operation of the MCC Business;
(b)
all Liabilities owed to third parties arising under the Transferred Contracts, whether or not
novated to the Purchaser or a Transferred Entity;
(c)

all Liabilities arising under the Transferable Permits;

(d)
all third party Liabilities arising from any Proceeding by a third party to the extent related
to, or arising from, the ownership or operation of the MCC Business, the Transferred Assets or the other Assumed
Liabilities, including any portion of a Proceeding by a third party to the extent exclusively related to, or arising
from, the ownership or operation of the MCC Business, the Transferred Assets or the other Assumed Liabilities;
(e)
all Liabilities owed to third parties primarily relating to warranties or similar obligations or
services with respect to any product sold or services provided by the MCC Business;
(f)

all MCC Environmental Liabilities;

(g)

all Indebtedness included in the Closing Date Indebtedness;

(h)
all Liabilities owed to third parties primarily relating to or arising out of the lease, use or
occupancy of any property under a Transferred Lease, including personal injury, wrongful death, economic loss or
property damage claims;
(i)

all Liabilities assumed by the Purchaser and its Affiliates pursuant to Article VIII;

(j)

all Liabilities related to an Assumed Employee Plan, whenever arising;

(k)

all other Liabilities listed on Section 2.03 of the Seller Disclosure Letter; and

(l)
except as otherwise explicitly set forth herein, all other Liabilities of the Non-MCC Entities
to the extent such Liabilities are primarily related to, or arise from, the ownership or operation of the MCC
Business or any Transferred Asset;
provided, however, that the Purchaser’s assumption of any Liability shall not limit (i) the Purchaser’s right under
Section 1.08 with respect to any Assumed Liabilities taken into account in the determination of Closing Net Asset
Value or (ii) the Purchaser Indemnified Parties’ rights to
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indemnification to the extent that such Assumed Liability results in a breach of any representation or warranty of
the Seller set forth in Section 3.01.
Section 2.04 Excluded Liabilities. Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary in Section 2.03, and
except as otherwise provided in any Ancillary Agreement, Non-MCC Entities shall not, and shall not be deemed
to, assign to the Purchaser, and the Assumed Liabilities shall not, and shall not be deemed to, include any of the
following Liabilities of the Non-MCC Entities, whether presently in existence or arising after the date of this
Agreement and, in each case, except as explicitly set forth herein, whether arising prior to, on or after the Closing
Date (all such Liabilities, the “Excluded Liabilities”):
(a)

all Liabilities to the extent relating to, or arising from, any Excluded Assets;

(b)
all Liabilities to the extent arising under or related to any Indebtedness of the Seller and its
Subsidiaries (other than Indebtedness included in the Closing Date Indebtedness);
(c)

all Seller Transaction Expenses;

(d)
except as described in Section 2.03, any Liabilities of the Non-MCC Entities and their
respective Representatives;
(e)
all Liabilities for Taxes imposed with respect to the Transferred Assets for Pre-Closing Tax
Periods determined, in the case of a Straddle Period, in accordance with Section 7.02(c);
(f)

all Liabilities expressly assumed or retained by the Seller in Article VIII; and

(g)

all Liabilities listed on Section 2.04 of the Seller Disclosure Letter.

Section 2.05 Assignment of Certain Transferred Assets.
(a)
Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement to the contrary, this Agreement
shall not constitute an agreement to sell, convey, assign, transfer or deliver to the Purchaser any Transferred Asset
or any claim or right or any benefit arising thereunder or resulting therefrom if an attempted sale, conveyance,
assignment, transfer or delivery thereof, or an agreement to do any of the foregoing, without the consent,
authorization or approval of a third party (including any Governmental Entity), would constitute a breach or other
contravention thereof or a violation of Law (any such Transferred Asset, claim, right or benefit, a “NonAssignable Asset”). From the date hereof until the Closing, the Seller shall, and shall cause its Subsidiaries to,
use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to obtain any such consent, authorization or approval or any other consent,
authorization or approval necessary or advisable to be obtained from any third parties (other than with respect to
Governmental Entities which are addressed under Section 4.04) in order to consummate the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement as promptly as practicable after the date hereof (and in any event, prior to the
Closing), and the Purchaser shall use its Commercially Reasonable Efforts to cooperate with the Seller to obtain
any such consent, authorization or approval; provided, however, that in no event shall either Party or any of their
respective Affiliates be (i) required to pay any material cost or expense or (ii) obligated
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to initiate any Proceedings in connection with obtaining any such consent, authorization or approval.
(b)
If, on the Closing Date, any such consent, authorization or approval is not obtained (or any
such consent, authorization or approval that was obtained prior to the Closing is no longer in full force and effect),
or if an attempted sale, conveyance, assignment, transfer or delivery of any such Transferred Asset, claim, right or
benefit would constitute a breach or other contravention or a violation of Law, then (i) such Non-Assignable Asset
shall not be Transferred to the Purchaser at the Closing, (ii) subject to the immediately following clause (iii), the
Purchaser shall not be obligated to assume, discharge or perform any Liability under or with respect to such NonAssignable Asset, and (iii) the Seller and the Purchaser will cooperate and use Commercially Reasonable Efforts
to obtain a mutually acceptable arrangement under which the Purchaser would, in compliance with Law, obtain
the benefits of, and assume the obligations and bear the economic burdens associated with, such Non-Assignable
Asset in accordance with this Agreement at a cost to the Purchaser, not in excess of the cost the Purchaser would
have incurred if the requisite consent, authorization or approval had been obtained prior to the Closing, including
subcontracting, sublicensing or subleasing to the Purchaser, or under which the Seller would (A) enforce for the
benefit (and at the expense) of the Purchaser and the Transferred Entities any and all of its or their rights against a
third party (including any Governmental Entity) associated with such Non-Assignable Asset, and (B) promptly
pay to the Purchaser (and/or its Affiliates), when received, all monies received by it or them under any such NonAssignable Asset (net of any reasonable and documented out-of-pocket expenses incurred by it or them pursuant
to clause (A) of this sentence), and the Purchaser and/or one or more of its Subsidiaries would assume the
obligations and bear the economic burdens associated therewith.
(c)
After the Closing, each of the Purchaser and the Seller will use Commercially Reasonable
Efforts to promptly obtain all consents, authorizations or approvals that have not been obtained prior to the
Closing which are necessary for the sale, conveyance, assignment, transfer or delivery of any Non-Assignable
Asset to the Purchaser, and the Seller shall provide or cause to be provided all commercially reasonable assistance
requested by the Purchaser in connection with the foregoing; provided, however, that in no event shall either
Party or any of their respective Affiliates be (i) required to pay any material cost or expense or (ii) obligated to
initiate any Proceedings in connection with obtaining any such consent, authorization or approval. If all required
consents, authorizations or approvals with respect to any Non-Assignable Asset are obtained after the Closing
Date, then, subject to any restrictions under applicable Law, on the date the last such consent, authorization or
approval is obtained (the “Consent Achievement Date”): (i) such Non-Assignable Asset shall be deemed to have
been Transferred to the Purchaser, and (ii) with respect to a Non-Assignable Asset that would have been a
Transferred Contract or a Transferred Lease had such consents, authorizations or approvals been obtained prior to
the Closing, the Purchaser shall assume as of the Consent Achievement Date and agree to discharge and perform
as and when due, the ongoing obligations of the Seller under such Contract, in each case in such manner
consistent with Section 2.01. The obligations of the Seller and the Purchaser pursuant to Section 2.05(a) and the
first sentence of this Section 2.05(c) shall terminate with respect to a particular Non-Assignable Asset upon the
earlier of (A) the Consent Achievement Date (in which event the applicable Non-Assignable Asset shall be sold,
conveyed, assigned, transferred or delivered to the Purchaser in accordance with the immediately preceding
sentence) and (B) the twelve (12) month anniversary of the Closing Date.
-17-

(d)
To the extent that any Leases or Contracts to which any Non-MCC Entity is a party (i)
exclusively relate to the MCC Business but are not listed on Section 2.01(a) or Section 2.01(b) of the Seller
Disclosure Letter or (ii) do not exclusively relate to the MCC Business but are listed on Section 2.01(a) or Section
2.01(b) of the Seller Disclosure Letter, promptly upon discovery of any such Lease or Contract, as applicable, the
discovering party shall notify the other party and promptly thereafter shall assign, or cause its applicable
Subsidiary to assign such Lease or Contract, as applicable, to the other party.
Section 2.06

Indemnification.

(a)
Survival. Subject to the limitations and other provisions of this Agreement, the
representations and warranties contained herein shall survive the Closing and shall remain in full force and effect
until fifteen (15) months following the Closing Date whereupon they shall expire, and all claims for breach of said
representations and warranties will be deemed waived; provided, that, the Fundamental Representations and any
representation in the case of Fraud shall survive for the full period of the applicable statute of limitations plus
sixty (60) days. All covenants and agreements contained herein to be performed prior to the Closing shall survive
until the first (1st) anniversary of the Closing and any covenants and agreements to be performed after the Closing
shall survive the Closing in accordance with their terms. References in this Section 2.06 to the “statute of
limitations” shall refer to the statute of limitations applicable to the particular matter that gave rise to a breach of
the representation or warranty in question, and not to the statute of limitations applicable to a breach of this
Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if written notice of a claim has been given pursuant to Section 2.06(e)
prior to the expiration date of the applicable survival period with respect to the applicable representations,
warranties, covenants or agreements by the Party seeking indemnification for such claim, then such
representations, warranties, covenants or agreements shall survive as to such claim until such claim has finally
resolved pursuant to this Section 2.06. The Parties specifically and unambiguously intend that the survival
periods that are set forth in this Section 2.06 shall replace any statute of limitations that would otherwise be
applicable.
(b)
Indemnification by the Seller. Subject to the limitations in this Section 2.06, from and after
the Closing, the Seller shall defend and hold harmless the Purchaser, its Subsidiaries and its Representatives (each,
a “Purchaser Indemnified Party”) from and against any and all Losses actually suffered or incurred by such
Purchaser Indemnified Party if and to the extent such Losses are suffered or incurred as a result of any of the
following:
(i)
any breach or inaccuracy of any representation or warranty of the Seller when made
or deemed to be made under the terms hereof (unless specifically provided otherwise);
(ii)
the breach of or failure to perform any covenant or agreement of the Seller or its
Affiliates (including the Transferred Entities prior to the Closing) under this Agreement, other than the covenants
and agreements under Section 7.10, which shall be subject to the indemnification provisions of Section 7.10;
(iii)
any and all D&O Costs of any director, officer, manager or general or limited
partner of any Transferred Entity relating to any threatened, pending or completed action,
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suit or Proceeding that is not primarily related to the MCC Business solely to the extent not covered by the
prepaid “tail” directors’ and officers’ liability insurance policy contemplated by Section 4.07(d);
(iv)
any Indebtedness of the Transferred Entities which is outstanding as of the Closing
and which is not accounted for in the Post-Closing Adjustment;
(v)
any Seller Transaction Expenses which are outstanding as of the Closing and which
are not accounted for in the Post-Closing Adjustment;
(vi)
(vii)

the Excluded Liabilities;
the failure by the Seller to pay Transfer Taxes to the extent provided in Section

7.08; and
(viii)

the matters set forth on Section 2.06(b)(viii) of the Seller Disclosure Letter.

(c)
Indemnification by the Purchaser. Subject to the limitations in this Section 2.06, from and
after the Closing, the Purchaser shall defend and hold harmless the Seller, its Subsidiaries and its Representatives
(each, a “Seller Indemnified Party”) from and against any and all Losses actually suffered or incurred by such
Seller Indemnified Party if and to the extent such Losses are suffered or incurred as a result of any of the
following:
(i)
The breach or inaccuracy of any representation or warranty of the Purchaser when
made or deemed to be made under the terms hereof (unless specifically provided otherwise);
(ii)
the breach of any covenant or agreement of the Purchaser or the Transferred
Entities contained in this Agreement;
(iii)
except to the extent subject to indemnification by the Seller or adjustment in
relation to the determination of the Closing Net Asset Value, the Assumed Liabilities and any Liabilities of any of
the Transferred Entities; and
(iv)
the failure by the Purchaser to pay or reimburse Taxes to the extent provided in
Section 7.02(a), Section 7.02(d), Section 7.06 and Section 7.08.
(d)

Certain Limitations and Recourse.

(i)
The Seller shall not be liable to any Purchaser Indemnified Party for
indemnification under Section 2.06(b)(i) until the aggregate amount of all Losses in respect of indemnification
thereunder exceeds Three Million One Hundred Eighty-Seven Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($3,187,500) (the
“Basket”), in which event the Seller shall be liable for all Losses in respect of indemnification under Section
2.06(b)(i) in excess of the Basket up to the Escrow Amount.
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(ii)
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, the sole and
exclusive source of payment for Losses resulting or arising from claims for indemnification pursuant to Section
2.06(b)(i) for breaches of representations and warranties (other than Fundamental Representations) will be sought
only from the following sources and only in the following sequence: (A) first, from the Escrow Funds, (B) second,
after such Escrow Funds have been entirely depleted or disbursed, from the R&W Policy to the full extent of
coverage available therefor under the R&W Policy and (C) third, after the full extent of coverage available under
the R&W Policy has been depleted or disbursed, the Purchaser shall be solely responsible for such Losses.
(iii)
To the extent a Loss arises from actual Fraud, a breach of a Fundamental
Representation or a breach of a covenant, then the Purchaser may seek the amount of such Loss directly from the
Seller subject to the other limitations set forth in this Agreement.
(iv)
To the extent a Loss arises from a breach of a representation or warranty contained
in Section 3.01(h), notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth herein, the Purchaser may seek the amount
of such Loss (A) first, from the Escrow Funds without regard to the Basket, and (B) second, after such Escrow
Funds have been entirely depleted or disbursed, from the R&W Policy to the full extent of coverage available
therefor under the R&W Policy. For the avoidance of doubt, following exhaustion of the Escrow Funds, the Seller
shall have no further liability for breaches of representations or warranties contained in Section 3.01(h); provided,
that, nothing in this paragraph shall limit the Seller’s obligation to satisfy indemnification obligations under
Section 7.10 notwithstanding that an indemnification claim thereunder could have been satisfied through a claim
for a breach of a representation or warranty contained in Section 3.01(h).
(e)
Notice and Defense of Claims. All claims for indemnification under this Section 2.06 shall
be asserted and resolved as follows:
(i)
If a Third-Party Claim is asserted against the Seller Indemnified Parties that is
covered by Section 2.06(b) or against the Purchaser Indemnified Parties that is covered by Section 2.06(c) (such
Party entitled to indemnification with respect to the Third-Party Claims, the “Indemnified Parties” and each an
“Indemnified Party”), the Indemnified Party will promptly give notice describing in reasonable detail the facts and
circumstances with respect to the subject matter of such claim (a “Claim Notice”) to the Seller or the Purchaser, as
applicable (such Party required to provide indemnification, the “Indemnifying Party”) of such Third-Party Claim.
Upon receipt of a notice of a claim for indemnity from an Indemnified Party with respect to any Third Party
Claim, the Indemnifying Party shall assume the defense and control of any Third Party Claim; provided,
however, that the Indemnified Party shall have the right to assume the defense of a Third-Party Claim to the
extent that: (i) the principal relief sought by such Third-Party Claim is an injunction or equitable relief against the
Indemnified Party (and solely to the extent the Third-Party Claim relates to such injunction or equitable relief); or
(ii) involves, or could otherwise reasonably be expected to affect any material business relationship of a thencurrent customer of either the Seller or the Purchaser. The Indemnifying Party shall notify the Indemnified Party
within (30) days after its receipt of a Claim Notice that it will conduct and control the defense, negotiation or
settlement of any Third-Party Claim and any Action resulting therefrom with counsel of its choice and at its sole
cost and expense (a “Third-Party Defense”). If the Indemnifying Party assumes the Third-Party Defense in
accordance herewith: (A) the Indemnified
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Party may retain separate co-counsel at its sole cost and expense (as to which the Indemnified Party will not be
entitled to indemnification, unless (1) the named parties to such proceeding (including any impleaded parties)
include the Indemnifying Party and the Indemnified Party and representation of both parties by the same counsel
would not be permitted under applicable standards of professional conduct or such Indemnified Party shall have
been advised by its counsel that there may be one or more legal defenses available to the Indemnified Party which
are not available to such Indemnifying Party, or if available to such Indemnifying Party, the assertion of which
would be adverse to or in conflict with the interests of the Indemnified Party, or (2) if so requested to participate
by Indemnifying Party, and then in each such case the reasonable expense of one separate counsel for Indemnified
Party shall be paid by Indemnifying Party, in which case, the fees, costs and expenses of such counsel shall be
indemnifiable amounts hereunder) and participate in the defense of the Third-Party Claim but the Indemnifying
Party shall control the investigation, defense and settlement thereof; (B) the Indemnified Party shall cooperate in
good faith in such defense; and (C) the Indemnifying Party shall be required to keep the Indemnified Party
reasonably informed of any and all matters related to such Third-Party Claim. If the Indemnifying Party does not
assume the Third-Party Defense within such thirty (30) day period, or the Indemnifying Party is not entitled to
assume the Third-Party Defense in accordance herewith, the Indemnified Party will be entitled to conduct and
control the Third-Party Defense, and such fees and costs shall be indemnifiable Losses hereunder; provided,
however, that (W) the Indemnifying Party may retain separate co-counsel at its sole cost and expense and
participate in the defense of the Third-Party Claim but the Indemnified Party shall control the investigation,
defense and settlement, subject to the provisions herein; and (X) the Indemnifying Party shall cooperate in good
faith in such defense. Notwithstanding anything in this Section 2.06(e)(i) to the contrary, the Indemnified Party
shall not, without the written consent of the Indemnifying Party (which shall not be unreasonably withheld,
conditioned or delayed) (Y) settle or compromise any Third-Party Claim or (Z) permit a default or consent to
entry of any judgment. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, the provisions of this Section
2.06(e) shall not apply to any Third-Party Claim related to Taxes.
(ii)
Non-Third Party Claims. In the event the Indemnified Party has a claim for
indemnification hereunder that does not involve a claim being asserted against or sought to be collected by a Third
Party (a “Direct Claim”), the Indemnified Party shall promptly send a Claim Notice with respect to such Direct
Claims to the Indemnifying Party in accordance with Section 9.03. Each such Claim Notice shall describe in
reasonable detail the nature of such Direct Claim, shall reference the provision or provisions of this Agreement
under which the Direct Claim is asserted and, if applicable, the applicable sections of this Agreement which are
alleged to have been breached by the Indemnifying Party and, to the extent reasonably estimable, shall set forth
the estimated Losses sought in such Direct Claim.
(iii)
Upon receipt of a Claim Notice for a Direct Claim, the Indemnifying Party shall
have thirty (30) days from the date the Indemnifying Party receives the Claim Notice in accordance with Section
2.06(e)(ii) to respond in writing to such Direct Claim. During such thirty (30) day period, the Indemnified Party
shall allow the Indemnifying Party and its Representatives to investigate the matter or circumstance alleged to
give rise to the Direct Claim, and whether and to what extent any amount is payable in respect of the Direct
Claim, and the Indemnified Party shall assist the Indemnifying Party’s investigation by providing such
information and assistance (including reasonable access to premises and personnel of the
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Indemnified Party and the right to examine and copy any accounts, documents or records) as the Indemnifying
Party or any of its Representatives may reasonably request. If the Indemnifying Party does not respond to the
Indemnified Party in writing within such thirty (30) day period that the Indemnifying Party disputes such Direct
Claim, the amount of such Direct Claim shall be conclusively deemed a liability of the Indemnifying Party
hereunder. In case the Indemnifying Party shall timely object in writing to any Direct Claim made in accordance
with Section 2.06(e)(ii), the Indemnified Party shall have fifteen (15) days to respond in a written statement to the
objection of the Indemnifying Party. If after such fifteen (15) day period there remains a dispute as to any Direct
Claim, the Parties shall attempt in good faith for thirty (30) days to agree upon the rights of the respective Parties
with respect to such Direct Claim. If the Parties should so agree, a memorandum setting forth such agreement
shall be prepared and signed by both Parties. If the Parties do not so agree, the conflict shall be subject to
resolution in accordance with Section 9.08.
(iv)
Notice of Claims. The Indemnified Party’s failure to give reasonably prompt
written notice to the Indemnifying Party of any actual, threatened or possible claim or demand that may give rise
to a right of indemnification hereunder shall not relieve the Indemnifying Party of any Liability that the
Indemnifying Party may have to the Indemnified Party unless the failure to give such written notice actually
prejudiced the Indemnifying Party or such notice was given after the expiration of the applicable survival period
under Section 2.06(a).
(f)

Additional Limitations on Liability.

(i)
The Seller’s aggregate Liability under Section 2.06(b) shall not exceed the Purchase
Price. For the avoidance of doubt, the Seller’s aggregate Liability under Section 2.06(b)(i) (except for breaches of
Fundamental Representations) shall not exceed the Escrow Amount.
(ii)
The limitations contained in this Section 2.06(f) shall in no way limit the amounts
the Purchaser Indemnified Parties may recover directly under the R&W Policy from the underwriter(s) of the
R&W Policy.
(iii)
After the aggregate amount of all Losses in respect of which an indemnification
claim is properly made thereunder exceeds an amount equal to the Basket plus the Escrow Amount, the Purchaser
shall have no further claim for indemnification against the Seller under Section 2.06(b)(i) other than in respect of
a breach or inaccuracy of a Fundamental Representation by the Seller.
(iv)
After the aggregate amount of all Losses in respect of which an indemnification
claim is properly made thereunder exceeds an amount equal to the Escrow Amount, prior to a Purchaser
Indemnified Party making a claim for indemnification from the Seller under Section 2.06(b)(ii) – (b)(viii), the
Purchaser shall, and shall cause the Purchaser Indemnified Parties to use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to
seek recovery, at its or their own expense, under all applicable insurance policies, including the R&W Policy, to
the extent coverage for such matters exists on the face of the applicable insurance policy, and indemnification or
reimbursement rights covering any such claim; provided, however, that the Purchaser shall not be required to, and
it shall not be required to cause any Transferred Entity to, initiate or pursue any legal action to make any such
recovery; provided, further, that in no event shall the Purchaser’s obligations under
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this sentence act as a bar to bringing an indemnification claim against the Seller. To the extent that the Purchaser
or any Transferred Entity receives any amount under insurance coverage or other recovery with respect to a matter
for which a Purchaser Indemnified Party has previously obtained payment in indemnification, the Purchaser shall,
as soon as reasonably practicable after receipt of such insurance proceeds or other recovery, pay and reimburse the
Seller, for any prior indemnification payment up to the amount of the insurance proceeds or other recovery, but
less (A) the cost and expense of pursuing such recovery, (B) any deductible associated therewith and (C) the
amount of any retro-premium obligations and reasonably anticipated premium increases resulting from such
recovery (other than premiums under the R&W Policy). For purposes of this Section 2.06(f), the term insurance
proceeds shall in all respects include the proceeds received under or pursuant to the R&W Policy.
(v)
The indemnification rights provided in this Section 2.06 constitute the sole and
exclusive remedy of the Parties following the Closing and shall be the sole and exclusive remedy for any action
(whether in contract or in tort or otherwise, or whether at law (including at common law or by statute) or in
equity) that may be based on, arise out of or relate to this Agreement, the negotiation, execution, performance or
subject matter of this Agreement, the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or any Losses alleged to be
suffered by any Party as a result of the actions or failure to act by any Party in connection with this Agreement or
the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, other than (A) claims based on Fraud, (B) the remedy of
specific performance or other equitable remedies provided by Section 9.10 with respect to any covenant or
agreement that survives the Closing in accordance with Section 2.06(a) or (C) as provided by Section 1.10 or
Section 7.10. The Seller has specifically relied upon the limited remedies provided in this Section 2.06 in agreeing
to the terms and conditions of this Agreement and in agreeing to provide the specific representations and
warranties set forth herein.
(vi)
Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement to the contrary, none of the
Parties shall be liable to any Indemnified Party (whether in contract or in tort or otherwise, or whether at law
(including at common law or by statute) or in equity) for any punitive or exemplary damages that may be based
on, arise out of or relate to this Agreement, the negotiation, execution, performance or subject matter of this
Agreement, the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or the actions or failure to act by any Party in
connection with this Agreement or the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
(vii)
No Indemnified Party shall be entitled to indemnification with respect to any
Losses to the extent such Losses are accrued or otherwise reflected in the calculation of the Post-Closing
Adjustment in accordance with Section 1.10.
(viii)
Any Losses indemnifiable under Section 2.06(b) or Section 2.06(c) shall be
determined without duplication of recovery by reason of the state of facts giving rise to such Losses constituting a
breach of more than one representation, warranty, covenant or agreement in this Agreement.
(g)
Fraud. Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary herein, nothing in this Section 2.06
shall preclude any Party from making a claim for Fraud against a Party that committed such Fraud or relieve any
Party from any Liability for Fraud committed by such Party.
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(h)
Mitigation. Each of the Parties agrees to use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to mitigate
its respective Losses upon and after becoming aware of any fact, event, circumstance or condition that could
reasonably be expected to give rise to any Losses indemnifiable under this Section 2.06, including pursuing
recovery for Losses under the R&W Policy.
(i)
Subrogation. The Indemnifying Party shall be subrogated to all rights of the Indemnified
Party in respect of any Losses or Taxes indemnified by such party provided that such subrogation could not
reasonably be expected to have an adverse effect on the operations, affairs, customer or supplier relationships or
prospects of the MCC Business; provided, however, that an Indemnifying Party’s right to subrogation with
respect to insurance carriers shall not be subject to the proviso in the immediately preceding sentence; provided,
further, that an Indemnified Party’s right to subrogation shall at all times be limited by the terms of the R&W
Policy to the extent the R&W Policy specifically limits or restricts such right.
(j)
Right of Offset. Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary herein, from and after the
Closing, the Seller and the Purchaser may at any time withhold and set off against amounts otherwise payable by
the Seller or the Purchaser, respectively, under the Transition Services Agreement or the Commercial Agreements
any amounts finally determined in accordance herewith (either by the written agreement of the Purchaser and the
Seller or by a final and nonappealable judgment by a court of competent jurisdiction in accordance with Section
9.08) to be payable by the Purchaser to the Seller Indemnified Parties or by the Seller to the Purchaser
Indemnified Parties, respectively, pursuant to any section of this Section 2.06.
(k)

Materiality; Net Losses; No Contributions.

(i)
For purposes of calculating the amount of Losses incurred by a Party seeking
indemnification hereunder arising out of or resulting from any breach of a representation or warranty contained
herein, the representations and warranties herein shall be deemed to have been made without any qualifications as
to “materiality” or “Material Adverse Effect”. For purposes of determining whether a breach of a representation
or warranty contained herein has occurred, following the Purchaser Indemnified Parties suffering Losses which
equal or exceed the Basket and the Escrow Funds, but not prior thereto, the representations and warranties
contained herein (other than the Fundamental Representations) shall be deemed to have been made without any
qualifications as to “materiality” or “Material Adverse Effect”.
(ii)
The Seller waives, and acknowledges and agrees that the Seller shall not in its
capacity as an equityholder exercise or assert (or attempt to exercise or assert), any right of contribution, right of
indemnity or other right or remedy against any Transferred Entity in connection with any indemnification or other
rights any Party may have under or in connection with this Agreement.
ARTICLE III
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES
Section 3.01
Representations and Warranties of the Seller. Except as set forth in the corresponding
sections or subsections of the disclosure letter delivered to the Purchaser by the
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Seller at the time of entering into this Agreement (the “Seller Disclosure Letter”) (it being understood that any
disclosure set forth in one section or subsection of the Seller Disclosure Letter shall be deemed disclosure with
respect to, and shall be deemed to apply to and qualify, the section or subsection of this Agreement to which it
corresponds in number and each other section or subsection of this Agreement to the extent the qualifying nature
of such disclosure with respect to such other section or subsection is reasonably apparent on the face of such
disclosure), the Seller hereby represents and warrants to the Purchaser as set forth below. For purposes of this
Article III, any reference to the MCC Business shall include the Transferred Assets and Assumed Liabilities.
(a)
Organization, Good Standing and Qualification. Each of the Seller Parties and Transferred
Entities is a legal entity duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of its jurisdiction of
incorporation, formation or organization and has all requisite corporate or similar power and authority to own,
lease and operate its properties and assets and to carry on its business as presently conducted and is qualified to do
business and is in good standing as a foreign legal entity in each jurisdiction where the ownership, leasing or
operation of its assets or properties or conduct of its business requires such qualification, except where the failure
to be so organized, qualified or in good standing, or to have such power or authority, would not, individually or in
the aggregate, reasonably be likely to have a Material Adverse Effect. The Seller has made available to the
Purchaser complete and correct copies of its Organizational Documents of the Seller and each Transferred Entities
as amended and as in effect on the date of this Agreement. The Seller is not in violation of its Organizational
Documents in any material respect.
(b)
Capital Structure. Section 3.01(b) of the Seller Disclosure Letter sets forth each of the
Transferred Entities, the jurisdiction of its incorporation or formation and the Persons owning the Transferred
Equity Interests. All of the Transferred Equity Interests have been duly authorized and validly issued, are fully
paid and nonassessable and were not issued in violation of any preemptive rights. The Transferred Equity
Interests represent all of the issued and outstanding equity interests of the Transferred Entities. The owners,
beneficially and of record, of all of the Transferred Equity Interests are as shown on Section 3.01(b) of the Seller
Disclosure Letter, and such owners hold such Transferred Equity Interests free and clear of all Liens, except any
Lien arising out of, or in connection with this Agreement or any Ancillary Agreement or pursuant to Federal or
State securities Laws. There are no options, warrants or rights of conversion or other similar rights, agreements,
arrangements or commitments obligating any Transferred Entity to issue or sell any shares of its capital stock,
other equity interests or securities convertible into or exchangeable for its shares or other equity interests, other
than as provided in this Agreement. There are no voting trusts, stockholder agreements, proxies or other
agreements in effect with respect to the voting or transfer of the Transferred Equity Interests, other than as
provided for in this Agreement.
(c)
Corporate Authority; Approval. The Seller has all requisite corporate power and authority
and has taken all corporate action necessary in order to execute, deliver and perform its obligations under this
Agreement. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by the Seller and constitutes a valid and
binding agreement of the Seller, enforceable against the Seller in accordance with its terms, subject to the
Bankruptcy and Equity Exception. No approval by the stockholders of the Seller is required in order for the Seller
to execute, deliver
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and perform its obligations under this Agreement or to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby on the
terms and subject to the conditions of this Agreement.
(d)

Governmental Filings; No Violations.

(i)
Other than the necessary filings, notices, reports, consents, registrations, approvals,
permits, expirations of waiting periods or authorizations (A) required under the HSR Act, (B) required under any
Health Regulatory Laws and set forth on Section 3.01(d)(i)(B) of the Seller Disclosure Letter or (C) required
under the Exchange Act and the Securities Act, no filings, notices and/or reports are required to be made by the
Seller Parties or the Transferred Entities with, nor are any consents, registrations, approvals, permits, expirations
of waiting periods or authorizations required to be obtained by the Seller Parties or the Transferred Entities from,
any Governmental Entity pursuant to any Law in connection with the execution, delivery and performance of this
Agreement by the Seller and the transactions contemplated hereby (including the execution and delivery of the
Ancillary Agreements), except, in each case, those that the failure to make or obtain would not, individually or in
the aggregate, reasonably be likely to have a Material Adverse Effect or prevent, materially delay or materially
impair the ability of the Seller to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
(ii)
The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement by the Seller does not,
and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby will not, constitute or result in (A) a breach or
violation of, or a default under, Seller’s or its Subsidiaries’ Organizational Documents or the comparable
governing instruments of any Transferred Entity, (B) with or without the lapse of time or the giving of notice or
both, a breach or violation of, a default or termination or modification (or right of termination or modification)
under, payment of additional fees under, the creation or acceleration of any rights or obligations under, the trigger
of any consent or notice requirement under, or the creation of a Lien on any of the Transferred Assets, or,
assuming (solely with respect to performance of this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby) the
filings, notices, reports, consents, registrations, approvals, permits, expirations of waiting periods and
authorizations referred to in Section 3.02(c) are made or obtained under any Law, Order or License to which the
Seller Parties or any of the Transferred Entities are subject or (C) any change in the rights or obligations under any
Material Contract or Material Health Care Provider Contract, except, in the case of clauses (B) and (C) above, for
any such breach, violation, default, termination, modification, payment, acceleration, creation or change that
would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be likely to have a Material Adverse Effect.
(e)
Books & Records. All books, records and accounts of the MCC Business including the
Transferred Entities are accurate and complete and are maintained in accordance with good business practice and
all applicable Laws in all material respects. The Transferred Entities maintain systems of internal accounting
controls sufficient to provide reasonable assurances that: (i) transactions are executed in accordance with
management’s general or specific authorization; (ii) transactions are recorded as necessary to permit the
preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP or SAP, as applicable, consistently applied and to
maintain accountability for assets; and (iii) access to assets is permitted only in accordance with management’s
general or specific authorization.
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(f)

Financial Statements; Reserves; Undisclosed Liabilities.

(i)
Attached as Section 3.01(f)(i) of the Seller Disclosure Letter is: (A) a true and
complete copies of the Seller’s audited balance sheet and the unaudited balance sheet of each Non-RBC Entity
and SWH MA, each dated as of December 31, 2019, including the notes thereto, and the related audited
statements of income for the fiscal year then ended (collectively, the “Year-End Financial Statements”); and (B) a
true and complete copy of the unaudited interim balance sheet of each Non-RBC Entity and SWH MA (the
“Interim Balance Sheet”) for the three (3)-month period ended March 31, 2020 (the “Interim Balance Sheet
Date”) and the related unaudited statements of income for the two (2)-month period ended on the Interim Balance
Sheet Date (the “Interim Financial Statements,” and, together with the Year-End Financial Statements, the
“Financial Statements”). The Financial Statements have been prepared from and are consistent with the books,
records and accounts of the Seller. The Financial Statements: (x) have been prepared in accordance with GAAP;
and (y) fairly and accurately present in all material respects the financial position of Seller, the applicable NonRBC Entity or SWH MA as of the dates thereof and the statements of income for the periods then ended, subject,
in the case of the Interim Financial Statements, to normal recurring year-end adjustments, the effect of which will
not be material, individually or in the aggregate, and to the absence of notes, none of which if presented would be
materially different from those presented in Year-End Financial Statements.
(ii)
Statutory Financial Statements. Attached as Section 3.01(f)(ii) of the Seller
Disclosure Letter is: (A) a true and complete copy of the audited statutory financial statements for each RBC
Entity for the year ended December 31, 2019 (the “Year-End Statutory Statements”); and (B) a true and complete
copy of the unaudited interim statutory financial statements for each RBC Entity (the “Interim Statutory
Statements” and, together with the Year-End Statutory Statements, the “Statutory Statements”) for the three (3)month period ended March 31, 2020. The Statutory Statements and the respective statements of assets, liabilities,
capital and surplus, revenues and expenses and cash flows included or incorporated therein (x) were prepared
from the books and records of the applicable RBC Entity, (y) present fairly in all material respects the statutory
financial condition and results of operations of the applicable RBC Entity as of the date and for the periods then
ended (subject, in the case of the Interim Statutory Statements, to normal recurring year-end adjustments, the
effect of which will not be material, individually or in the aggregate, and to the absence of notes, none of which if
presented would be materially different from those presented in Year-End Statutory Statements), and (C) were
prepared in all material respects in accordance with SAP applied on a consistent basis (except as may be indicated
in the notes thereto).
(iii)
Reserves. The loss reserves and other actuarial amounts of the Transferred Entities
licensed as insurance companies or health maintenance organizations as of December 31, 2019 recorded in the
Year-End Statutory Statements: (A) were determined in all material respects in accordance with actuarial
standards of practice (ASOPs) in effect on that date (except as may be indicated in the notes thereto), (B) were
computed on the basis of methodologies consistent in all material respects with those used in computing the
corresponding reserves in the prior fiscal year (except as may be indicated in the notes thereto) and (C) include
provisions for all actuarial reserves that were required at that time to be established in accordance with Laws
based on facts known to the Seller as of such date.
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(iv)
The MCC Business does not have any Liability, except for (A) Liabilities provided
for in the Financial Statements, the Statutory Statements or specifically disclosed in the notes thereto,
(B) Liabilities that have arisen in the Ordinary Course of Business since the Interim Balance Sheet Date,
(C) executory obligations under any Contract, (D) Liabilities incurred in connection with this Agreement and the
transactions contemplated hereby and (E) Liabilities listed in Section 2.03 or Section 3.01(f)(iv) of the Seller
Disclosure Letter.
(g)
Absence of Certain Changes or Events. Since December 31, 2019, there has not been any
change, effect, circumstance or development which has had or would, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably
be likely to have a Material Adverse Effect. Since December 31, 2019 and through the date of this Agreement,
the MCC Business has been conducted in the Ordinary Course of Business consistent with past practice.
(h)

Taxes.

(i)
All income and other material Tax Returns required to be filed by the Transferred
Entities have been duly and timely filed with the appropriate Taxing Authority in all jurisdictions in which such
Tax Returns are required to be filed (after giving effect to any valid extensions of time in which to make such
filings), and all such Tax Returns are true, complete and correct in all material respects.
(ii)
All material amounts of Taxes payable by the Transferred Entities, have been fully
and timely paid (whether or not shown on any Tax Return) taking into account extensions of time to pay.
(iii)
The Transferred Entities have complied in all material respects with all applicable
Laws relating to the payment and withholding of Taxes and have duly and timely withheld and paid over to the
appropriate Taxing Authority all material amounts required to be so withheld and paid under all applicable Laws.
(iv)
The Seller has made available complete copies of (A) all filed federal, state, local
and foreign income and all other material Tax Returns of the Transferred Entities relating to the taxable periods
ending on or after December 31, 2016 and (B) any audit report issued within the last three (3) years relating to any
income or other material Taxes of the Transferred Entities.
(v)
No written claim has been made to any Transferred Entity (or to the Seller relating
to any Transferred Entity) by a Taxing Authority in a jurisdiction where any Transferred Entity does not file Tax
Returns such that it is or may be subject to material taxation by that jurisdiction.
(vi)
There are no (A) audits, examinations, investigations or other Proceedings currently
in progress or threatened in writing by any Taxing Authority in respect of any material Tax Return of the
Transferred Entities or (B) claims or assessments asserted in writing by any Taxing Authority concerning material
Taxes of the Transferred Entities.
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(vii)
No Transferred Entity (A) has executed or entered into a closing agreement
pursuant to Section 7121 of the Code or any similar provision of Law or (B) is subject to any private letter ruling
of the IRS or comparable rulings of any Taxing Authority.
(viii)
Since January 1, 2016 no Transferred Entity has (A) agreed to or is required to
make any material adjustments pursuant to Section 481(a) of the Code or any similar provision of Law or has any
Knowledge that any Taxing Authority has proposed any such adjustment, or has any application pending with any
Taxing Authority requesting permission for any material changes in accounting methods, in each case, that relate
to the Transferred Entities, (B) granted any extension for the assessment or collection of material Taxes, which
Taxes have not since been paid (other than pursuant to an extension of time to file a Tax Return obtained in the
Ordinary Course of Business), or (C) granted to any Person any power of attorney with respect to any Tax matter
that will remain outstanding on the Closing Date; except, in each case, to the extent that any such action or
circumstance would not be reasonably expected to affect the Tax Liability of the Purchaser or any Transferred
Entity in any Post-Closing Tax Period.
(ix)
Section 3.01(h)(ix) of the Seller Disclosure Letter sets forth the entity classification
of each of the Transferred Entities for U.S. federal income Tax purposes.
(x)
No Transferred Entity (A) is a party to any material Tax sharing, allocation,
indemnity or similar agreement pursuant to which it will have any obligation to make any material payments after
the Closing (other than credit or other commercial agreements the primary purpose of which does not relate to
Taxes), (B) has, within the last three (3) years, been a member of any consolidated, combined, affiliated or unitary
group of corporations for any Tax purposes other than a group having the Seller as its parent, (C) has or has had a
permanent establishment in any country other than the country of its organization, nor is or has been subject to
Tax in a jurisdiction outside the country of its organization, or (D) is a “controlled foreign corporation” within the
meaning of Section 957(a) of the Code (or any analogous or similar provision of Law).
(xi)
Neither Purchaser nor any Transferred Entity will be required to include any
material item of income in, or exclude any material item of deduction from, taxable income for any Post-Closing
Tax Period as a result of any: (A) installment sale or open transaction disposition made prior to the Closing;
(B) prepaid amount received prior to the Closing other than in the Ordinary Course of Business; or (C) deferred
revenue accruing prior to the Closing other than in the Ordinary Course of Business.
(xii)
There are no Tax Liens (other than Permitted Liens) upon the Transferred Assets or
the assets of the Transferred Entities.
(xiii) No Transferred Entity has participated in a “listed transaction” within the meaning
of Treasury Regulation Section 1.6011-4(b) in any taxable period that remains open to or for assessment.
(xiv)
Within the past two (2) years, no Transferred Entity has been a “distributing
corporation” or a “controlled corporation” in a distribution intended to qualify under Section 355(a) of the Code.
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(xv)
With respect to taxable periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014, no
Transferred Entity has any liability for the Taxes of any Person (other than the Seller or any of its current or
former Subsidiaries) under Treasury Regulation Section 1.1502-6 (or any similar provision of state, local or
foreign Law), as a transferee or successor or by contract (other than credit or other commercial agreements the
primary purpose of which does not relate to Taxes).
(i)

Employee Benefits.

(i)
Section 3.01(i)(i) of the Seller Disclosure Letter sets forth a complete and true list
of each material Employee Plan as of the date of this Agreement. True and complete copies of each of the
Assumed Employee Plans, and all amendments thereto, have been provided or made available to the Purchaser on
or prior to the date of this Agreement.
(ii)
All Assumed Employee Plans are in compliance with applicable Laws (including, if
applicable, ERISA and the Code) in all material respects. Each Employee Plan that is intended to be qualified
under Section 401(a) of the Code has received a favorable determination letter from the IRS, or with respect to a
prototype plan, can rely on an opinion letter from the IRS issued to the prototype plan sponsor.
(iii)
There is no litigation pending or, to the Knowledge of the Seller, threatened in
writing relating to the Assumed Employee Plans, except as would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably
be likely to have a Material Adverse Effect. To the Knowledge of Seller, nothing has occurred and no
circumstances exist with respect to any Employee Plan that has subjected or could reasonably be expected to
subject any Transferred Entity to a material penalty under Section 502 of ERISA or to a Tax or penalty under
Chapter 43 of the Code.
(iv)
Except as provided in this Agreement, neither the execution and delivery of this
Agreement nor the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby would reasonably be expected to,
either alone or in combination with any other event, (A) result in any material payment becoming due to any MCC
Business Employee under an Assumed Employee Plan, (B) materially increase any benefits under any Assumed
Employee Plan or (C) result in the acceleration of the time of payment, vesting or funding of any benefits under
an Assumed Employee Plan.
(v)
All Assumed Employee Plans which constitute a “non-qualified deferred
compensation plan” within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code have been operated in material compliance
with Code Section 409A (and applicable Treasury Regulations and Internal Revenue Service guidance
promulgated thereunder). Neither the Assumed Employee Plans nor the Transferred Entities have any material
indemnity or gross-up or similar obligation to any MCC Business Employees for any Taxes imposed under
Sections 4999 or 409A of the Code. None of the MCC Business Employees will be subject to any material Taxes
under Section 409A of the Code arising as a result of any payments under any Employee Plans prior to Closing.
(vi)
Neither the execution of this Agreement nor the consummation of the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement, either alone or in connection with another event, could give rise to payments or
benefits that: (A) could result in a Tax on any MCC Business
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Employee under Section 4999 of the Code or (B) could be nondeductible to the Transferred Entities or Purchaser
under Section 280G of the Code.
(j)

Labor Matters.

(i)
(A) No Non-MCC Entity (solely with respect to the MCC Business) or Transferred
Entity is a party to or otherwise bound by work rules or collective bargaining agreements covering MCC Business
Employees, (B) no Non-MCC Entity (solely with respect to the MCC Business) or Transferred Entity is the
subject of any proceeding asserting that any such Non-MCC Entity (solely with respect to the MCC Business) or
Transferred Entity has committed an unfair labor practice or is seeking to compel such Non-MCC Entity (solely
with respect to the MCC Business) or Transferred Entity to bargain with any labor union or labor organization
representing MCC Business Employees, (C) nor is there pending or, to the Knowledge of the Seller, threatened in
writing, any labor strike, walkout, work stoppage, slow-down or lockout affecting MCC Business Employees. As
of the date of this Agreement, none of the MCC Business Employees are represented by a labor union, and, to the
Knowledge of the Seller, there are no organizational efforts with respect to the formation of a collective
bargaining unit being made or threatened in writing involving MCC Business Employees.
(ii)
Each Non-MCC Entity (solely with respect to the MCC Business) and Transferred
Entity is in material compliance with all applicable Laws governing employment or labor with respect to MCC
Business Employees and independent contractors and consultants providing services on behalf of the MCC
Business, including all contractual commitments and all such Laws relating to wages, hours, worker classification
(including exempt/non-exempt and independent contractor/employee), contractors, the provision and
administration of meal and rest periods/breaks, immigration, collective bargaining, discrimination, harassment,
retaliation, civil rights, background checks and screenings, privacy and biometric screening laws, paid sick
days/leave entitlements and benefits, family and medical leave and other leaves of absence, safety and health and
workers’ compensation.
(iii)
No employee, independent contractor, consultant or agent of each Non-MCC Entity
(solely with respect to the MCC Business) or Transferred Entity is bound by any contract that purports to
materially limit the ability of such officer, director, agent, employee, independent contractor or consultant to
engage in or continue to perform any conduct, activity, duties or practice relating to the MCC Business. To the
Knowledge of the Seller, no current employee or consultant is a party to, or is otherwise bound by any contract
that could reasonably be expected to materially and adversely affect the ability of Transferred Entity to continue to
conduct MCC Business following the Closing.
(iv)
No “mass layoff,” “plant closing,” “relocation,” “termination,” or similar event as
defined by the Worker Adjustment Retraining and Notification Act (29 U.S.C. § 2101 et. seq.) (the “WARN Act”),
or its state or local equivalents, with respect to MCC Business Employees has occurred.
(v)
Section 3.01(j)(v) of the Seller Disclosure Letter sets forth a list of all MCC
Business Employees, as of April 23, 2020, indicating for each MCC Business Employee: (A) job title; (B) FLSA
classification (exempt/non-exempt); (C) state of residence;
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(D) employment location; (E) hire date; (F) current compensation; (G) confirmation of eligibility to work in the
United States; (H) current status (active or on leave of absence), and if on leave of absence, leave status (including
type of leave, expected return date for non-disability related leaves and expiration dates for disability leaves);
(I) amounts that could become due and payable to any MCC Business Employees as a result of the consummation
of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement at or prior to the Closing such as severance or change of
control payments; and (J) amounts the could become due and payable to any MCC Business Employees as a result
of the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement following the Closing.
(vi)
Section 3.01(j)(vi) of the Seller Disclosure Letter sets forth a list of all independent
contractors and consultants providing services on behalf of the MCC Business, as of April 23, 2020, showing for
each such individual: (A) their name; (B) work being performed; (C) employer, if not self-employed;
(D) compensation rate; and (E) duration of their respective retention. For the avoidance of doubt, such schedule
shall not include vendors.
(vii)
Since the Applicable Date, there has not been any audit or investigation of each
Non-MCC Entity (solely with respect to MCC Business) or Transferred Entity performed by the U.S. Department
of Labor and/or its state or local equivalents relating to the employment of employees, including wage and hour
and worker classification, or to the services performed by non-employees or performed by the Occupational
Safety and Health Administration and/or its state or local equivalents relating to the safety and health of the
workforce and/or terms and conditions of MCC Business Employees employment.
(k)
Litigation. There are no pending or, to the Knowledge of the Seller, threatened in writing
material Proceedings (i) against any of the Transferred Entities or (ii) against a Non-MCC Entity relating to the
MCC Business. No Non-MCC Entity (solely with respect to the MCC Business) or Transferred Entity is a party
to or subject to the provisions of any material judgment, order, writ, injunction, decree, award, stipulation or
settlement of or with any Governmental Entity.
(l)

Compliance with Laws, Licenses.

(i)
The MCC Business as conducted since the Applicable Date has been, and is being,
conducted in compliance in all material respects with all applicable Laws or any Order. No audit or, to the
Knowledge of the Seller, investigation or review by any Governmental Entity with respect to the MCC Business is
pending or, as of the date of this Agreement, threatened in writing, nor has any Governmental Entity indicated an
intention to conduct the same, except for such audits, investigations or reviews the outcome of which would not,
individually or in the aggregate, be material to the MCC Business. Except as would not, individually or in the
aggregate, reasonably be likely to have a Material Adverse Effect, each of the Transferred Entities possess each
License necessary to conduct the MCC Business. Notwithstanding the foregoing, this Section 3.01(l) shall not
apply with respect to Taxes, which shall be covered exclusively by Section 3.01(h), Employee Plans, which shall
be covered exclusively by Section 3.01(i), Labor Matters, which shall be covered exclusively by Section 3.01(j),
Environmental Laws, which shall be covered exclusively by Section 3.01(m), or Health Regulatory Laws, which
shall be covered exclusively by Section 3.01(s).
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(ii)
Each License is, and since the Applicable Date has been, valid and in full force and
effect and has not been suspended, revoked, cancelled or adversely modified, and is not and has not been the
subject of a written notice or Proceeding threatening (or to the Knowledge of the Seller, has not received a threat)
to suspend, revoke, cancel or adversely modify any such License, except where any of the foregoing would be
material to the MCC Business. To the Knowledge of the Seller, except in connection with businesses in particular
geographies that are not as of the date hereof being conducted by the Seller, there has not been any event,
condition or circumstance that would preclude any License from being renewed in the Ordinary Course of
Business (to the extent that such License is renewable by its terms), except where the failure thereof to be renewed
has not had and would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse
Effect.
(iii)
The licensee of each License is, and since the Applicable Date has been, in
compliance in all material respects with such License and has fulfilled and performed all of its obligations in all
material respects with respect thereto, no event has occurred which, with or without notice or the lapse of time or
both, would constitute a material default, violation or non-compliance of any License, and the Seller has not
received any written notice of a material violation of any License.
(iv)
The Non-MCC Entities (solely with respect to the MCC Business), the Transferred
Entities and, to the Knowledge of the Seller, their respective officers, directors, employees, consultants and agents
or any other person acting on behalf of the MCC Business are in compliance in all material respects with and
since the Applicable Date have complied in all material respects with: (I) the provisions of the U.S. Foreign
Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended (15 U.S.C. § 78dd-1, et seq.) (“FCPA”) applicable to the MCC
Business and such officers, directors, employees, consultants and agents or any other person acting on behalf of
the MCC Business and (II) the provisions of all anti-bribery and anti-corruption Laws of each jurisdiction in
which the Non-MCC Entities (solely with respect to the MCC Business) and the Transferred Entities operate or
have operated and in which any agent thereof is conducting or has conducted business involving the MCC
Business.
(v)
Since the Applicable Date, to the Knowledge of the Seller, the Non-MCC Entities
(solely with respect to the MCC Business), the Transferred Entities and, to the Knowledge of the Seller, their
respective officers, directors, employees, consultants and agents or any other person acting on behalf of the MCC
Business have not directly or indirectly given, made, authorized, offered, solicited or agreed to give any
contribution, gift, bribe, rebate, payoff, influence payment, kickback or other thing of value, regardless of form, to
any multi-national, supra-national, federal, state, country, provincial, municipal or other Government Official or
any political party or candidate for political office for the purpose of corruptly influencing any act or decision of
such official or of the Governmental Entity to obtain or retain business, to direct business to any person, or to
improperly obtain or retain any favorable treatment or secure any other improper benefit, special concession or
advantage. For purposes of this provision, “Government Official” means any official, officer, employee, or
representative of any Governmental Entity, and includes any official or employee of any government-owned
entity, and any officer or employee of a public international organization, as well as any person acting in an
official capacity for or on behalf of any such government or department, agency, or instrumentality, or for or on
behalf of any such public international organization.
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(vi)
The Non-MCC Entities (solely with respect to the MCC Business), the Transferred
Entities and, to the Knowledge of the Seller, their respective officers, directors, employees, consultants and agents
or any other Person acting on behalf of the MCC Business, have not established or maintained, or are not
maintaining, any unlawful fund of corporate monies or other properties or used or are using any corporate funds
for any illegal contributions, gifts, entertainment, travel or other unlawful expenses.
(vii)
None of the Non-MCC Entities (solely with respect to the MCC Business), the
Transferred Entities and, to the Knowledge of the Seller, their respective officers, directors, employees,
consultants and agents or any other person acting on behalf of the MCC Business, are, and since the Applicable
Date, have been, subject to any actual, pending, or, to the Knowledge of the Seller, threatened civil, criminal, or
administrative actions, suits, demands, claims, hearings, notices of violation, investigations, indictments,
informations, suspensions, Proceedings, demand letters, settlements, enforcement actions, debarments or audits or
made any voluntary disclosures to any Governmental Entity, involving the Non-MCC Entities (solely with respect
to the MCC Business) or the Transferred Entities relating to the FCPA or any Laws that prohibit bribery,
corruption, fraud and/or other improper payments.
(m)
Environmental Matters. Except for such matters that would not, individually or in the
aggregate, reasonably be likely to have a Material Adverse Effect, (i) the Non-MCC Entities (solely with respect
to the MCC Business) and the Transferred Entities are and have been since the Applicable Date in compliance
with all Environmental Laws, which compliance includes obtaining, maintaining and complying with all Licenses
required by applicable Environmental Laws, (ii) no Non-MCC Entity (solely with respect to the MCC Business)
or Transferred Entity is subject to any Proceedings pending, or to the Knowledge of the Seller threatened in
writing, alleging (or has received any other written notice, report or information regarding any) non-compliance
with or Liability under any Environmental Law, (iii) no Non-MCC Entity (solely with respect to the MCC
Business) or Transferred Entity is subject to any outstanding obligations under any Orders concerning Liability or
obligations relating to any Environmental Law and (iv) since December 31, 2015, to the Knowledge of the Seller,
there has been no release or disposal of, contamination by, or exposure of any Person to any Hazardous Substance
so as to give rise to any liability or obligation relating to any Environmental Law for the Non-MCC Entities
(solely with respect to the MCC Business) or Transferred Entity. The representations and warranties made in
Sections 3.01(d), 3.01(g), 3.01(h), 3.01(k), 3.01(l) and this Section 3.01(m) are the only representations and
warranties of the Seller with respect to environmental matters.
(n)
Material Contracts. Except for Contracts with Providers, which are addressed exclusively
in Section 3.01(s)(x), Section 3.01(n) of the Seller Disclosure Letter sets forth a list as of the date of this
Agreement of each Contract:
(i)
pursuant to which any Non-MCC Entity (solely with respect to the MCC Business)
or Transferred Entity generated aggregate revenue through billing of third parties, revenue guarantees, subsidy
payments or other payments in excess of One Hundred Million Dollars ($100,000,000) during the twelve (12)month period ended December 31, 2019 (each, a “Material Customer”);
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(ii)
with a vendor or supplier (excluding any Contracts with Providers) of any NonMCC Entity (solely with respect to the MCC Business) or Transferred Entity that provided for aggregate
payments from any Non-MCC Entity (solely with respect to the MCC Business) or Transferred Entity of more
than One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) during the twelve (12)-month period ending December 31, 2019 (each, a
“Material Vendor”);
(iii)

that is a Government Program Contract;

(iv)
that governs the formation, creation, operation, management or control of any
partnership or joint venture primarily related to the ownership or operation of the MCC Business;
(v)

for a Transferred Lease;

(vi)
that grants “most favored nation” protections to the counterparty to such Contract
that is material to the MCC Business;
(vii)
that is a settlement, conciliation or similar Contract pursuant to which the
Transferred Entities are expected to have any material or monetary impact on the operation of the MCC Business
after the date of this Agreement;
(viii)
that obligates any Transferred Entity to provide indemnification to any current or
former director, officer or employee;
(ix)
that contains any future capital expenditure obligations of any Transferred Entity in
excess of Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000);
(x)
that is primarily related to the ownership or operation of the MCC Business and is
required be filed by the Seller as a “material contract” pursuant to Item 601(b)(10) of Regulation S-K under the
Securities Act;
(xi)
that is primarily related to the ownership or operation of the MCC Business and
contains a put, call or similar right pursuant to which any Non-MCC Entity (solely with respect to the MCC
Business) or Transferred Entity would be required to purchase or sell, as applicable, any equity interests of any
Person;
(xii)

that is a Seller Guarantee; or

(xiii) that is an Affiliate Contract other than a Seller Plan or that was entered into other
than on arms’-length terms (such Contracts required to be listed pursuant to clauses (i) - (xiii) of this Section
3.01(n), the “Material Contracts”).
A true, correct and complete copy of each Material Contract, as amended through the date of this Agreement,
including all attachments, schedules and exhibits thereto, has been made available to the Purchaser prior to the
date of this Agreement. Each of the Material Contracts, and each Contract entered into after the date hereof that
would have been a Material Contract if entered into prior to the date hereof (each, an “Additional Contract”) is (or
if entered into after the date hereof, will be) valid and binding on the applicable Non-MCC Entity (solely with
respect to the MCC
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Business) or Transferred Entity, as the case may be and, to the Knowledge of the Seller, each other party thereto,
and is in full force and effect, except for such failures to be valid and binding or to be in full force and effect as
would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be likely to have a Material Adverse Effect. No NonMCC Entity (solely with respect to the MCC Business) or Transferred Entity or, to the Knowledge of the Seller,
any other party, is in breach of or in default under any Material Contract or Additional Contract, and no event has
occurred that, with the lapse of time or the giving of notice or both, would constitute a default thereunder by the
Seller or any of its Subsidiaries, in each case, except for such breaches and defaults as would not, individually or
in the aggregate, be material to the MCC Business.
(o)
Real Property. Except as would not reasonably be likely to have a Material Adverse
Effect, (i) each Transferred Lease is valid and in full force and effect and (ii) no Non-MCC Entity (solely with
respect to the MCC Business) or Transferred Entity or, to the Knowledge of the Seller, any other party to a
Transferred Lease, has violated any provision of, or taken or failed to take any act which, with or without notice,
lapse of time, or both, would constitute a material breach or default under the provisions of such Transferred
Lease, and no Non-MCC Entity (solely with respect to the MCC Business) or Transferred Entity has received
notice that it has breached, violated or defaulted under any Transferred Lease.
(p)

Sufficiency of Assets and Services; Title to Assets.

(i)
(A) Taking into account the provisions and rights provided under this Agreement
and the services and assets to be provided by non-MCC Business Employees of the Seller and its Subsidiaries
under the Ancillary Agreements, including any services (I) provided by the Seller or its Affiliates under the
Transition Services Agreement and (II) that a Transferred Entity currently utilizes in connection with the MCC
Business that the Purchaser has declined to have covered by an Ancillary Agreement, immediately following the
Closing, the Purchaser will own and have the right to use all of the material assets, services, properties, rights and
interests (including real property and tangible and intangible property) that are necessary to conduct the MCC
Business immediately following the Closing in all material respects in the manner the MCC Business is conducted
as of the date hereof and (B) the Purchaser will be given the right to make offers of employment to, personnel
who, together with the non-MCC Business Employees who will be providing services under the Transition
Services Agreement and the Commercial Agreements, will be sufficient to conduct the MCC Business
immediately following the Closing in all material respects in the manner the MCC Business is conducted as of the
date hereof.
(ii)
The Non-MCC Entities (solely with respect to the MCC Business) have good and
valid title to, or a valid leasehold interest in, or license for or right to use the Transferred Assets in all material
respects and each Transferred Entity has good and valid title to, or a valid leasehold interest in, or license for or
right to use its assets, properties and rights in all material respects except, in each case, for any Permitted Liens
thereon.
(q)

Intellectual Property.

(i)
Section 3.01(q)(i) of the Seller Disclosure Letter sets forth a list of all registered
Intellectual Property included in the MCC IP (the “MCC Registered IP”) and all other material Intellectual
Property owned by the Non-MCC Entities that is necessary to the
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conduct of the MCC Business. As of the date of this Agreement, all required filings and fees related to the MCC
Registered IP have been timely filed and paid. All MCC Registered IP is subsisting in all material respects, and,
in the jurisdiction(s) where such MCC Registered IP is issued or registered, is valid and enforceable.
(ii)
The Non-MCC Entities and the Transferred Entities (i) have not granted any license
with respect to any MCC IP, and (ii) have not received any license with respect to material Intellectual Property
that is necessary to the conduct of the MCC Business, other than non-exclusive licenses for commercial, off-theshelf Intellectual Property.
(iii)
The Non-MCC Entities (solely with respect to the MCC Business) and the
Transferred Entities own, or have sufficient rights to use, all MCC IP, free and clear of all Liens, except for
Permitted Liens.
(iv)
(A) The Non-MCC Entities (solely with respect to the MCC Business) and the
Transferred Entities have not materially infringed, misappropriated or otherwise violated the Intellectual Property
rights of any third party and have not received any notice alleging any such infringement, misappropriation or
violation, and there are no pending proceedings, administrative claims, litigation, suits, actions or investigations
alleging the same, and (B) to the Knowledge of the Seller, no third party is infringing, misappropriating or
otherwise violating any MCC IP.
(v)
The Non-MCC Entities (solely with respect to the MCC Business) and the
Transferred Entities have with respect to the MCC Business taken commercially reasonable steps to maintain the
MCC Registered IP and to protect and preserve the confidentiality of all trade secrets included in the MCC IP. To
the Knowledge of the Seller, no trade secrets included in the MCC IP have been used or disclosed without
authorization.
(vi)
To the Knowledge of the Seller, the Information Technology Systems included in
the IT Assets are reasonably sufficient for the present and immediate future needs of the MCC Business and have
not suffered a material malfunction or failure. To the Knowledge of the Seller, the Non-MCC Entities (solely with
respect to the MCC Business) and the Transferred Entities have taken commercially reasonable efforts to protect
the secrecy, confidentiality and value of the confidential and proprietary information included in the MCC IP.
(vii)
To the Knowledge of the Seller: (A) the Non-MCC Entities (solely with respect to
the MCC Business) and the Transferred Entities have implemented commercially reasonable backup, security and
disaster recovery technology and procedures, (B) the Non-MCC Entities (solely with respect to the MCC
Business) and the Transferred Entities are in all material respects in compliance with applicable Laws and Orders
regarding the privacy and security of customer, employee and other Personal Data and are compliant in all
material respects with their respective privacy policies, (C) there have not been any incidents of, or third party
claims related to, any unauthorized access to, or unauthorized disclosure or use of, any Personal Data in any of the
Non-MCC Entities’ (solely with respect to the MCC Business) or any of the Transferred Entities’ possession and
(D) no Non-MCC Entity (solely with respect to the MCC Business) or Transferred Entity has received any written
notice of any material claims, investigations (including
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investigations by any Governmental Entity), or alleged violations of any Laws and Orders with respect to Personal
Data possessed by the Seller or any of its Subsidiaries.
(r)
Brokers and Finders. The Seller has not employed any broker or finder or incurred any
liability for any brokerage fees, commissions or finders’ fees in connection with this Agreement or the
transactions contemplated in this Agreement, except that the Seller has engaged Moelis as the Seller’s financial
advisor.
(s)

Health Care Regulatory Compliance.

(i)
The Non-MCC Entities (solely with respect to the MCC Business) and the
Transferred Entities are in compliance in all material respects with all applicable Health Regulatory Laws. Since
the Applicable Date through the date of this Agreement, none of the Non-MCC Entities (solely with respect to the
MCC Business) nor any of the Transferred Entities has received any written notice from any Governmental Entity
regarding any material violation of any applicable Health Regulatory Laws. Since the Applicable Date and
through the date of this Agreement, none of the Non-MCC Entities (solely with respect to the MCC Business), the
Transferred Entities or, to the Knowledge of the Seller, any of their respective directors, officers, employees,
independent contractors, or agents, acting on their behalf with respect to the MCC Business:
(A)
are or have been convicted of any violation of a Health Regulatory Law,
including any Law applicable to a health care program defined in 42 U.S.C. §1320a-7b(f) (“Federal Health Care
Program”);
(B)
are excluded, suspended or debarred from participation in any Federal
Health Care Program or, to the Knowledge of the Seller, are subject to any Action or investigation that is
reasonably likely to result in such exclusion, suspension, or debarment; or
(C)

have been assessed a civil monetary penalty under Section 1128A of the

Social Security Act.
(ii)
Since the Applicable Date and through the date of this Agreement, none of the
Non-MCC Entities (solely with respect to the MCC Business), the Transferred Entities or, to the Knowledge of
the Seller, any of their respective directors, officers, employees, independent contractors, or agents, acting on their
behalf with respect to the MCC Business have knowingly made an untrue or fraudulent statement to any
Governmental Entity or knowingly failed to disclose a fact required to be disclosed to a Governmental Entity.
(iii)
Since the Applicable Date through the date of this Agreement, none of the NonMCC Entities (solely with respect to the MCC Business) nor any of the Transferred Entities have received written
notice from any Governmental Entity indicating that the Non-MCC Entities (solely with respect to the MCC
Business) or any of the Transferred Entities are subject to any sanctions or enforcement actions by any
Governmental Entity responsible for Health Regulatory Laws, including any outstanding fines, injunctions, civil,
administrative or criminal penalties, settlement, investigations or suspensions. None of the Non-MCC Entities
(solely with respect to the MCC Business) nor any of the Transferred Entities is, nor from the Applicable Date to
the date of this Agreement has been:
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(A)
a party to a corporate integrity agreement or similar agreement with any
Governmental Entity relating to alleged non-compliance with any applicable Health Regulatory Laws;
(B)
subject to any reporting obligations pursuant to any settlement agreement,
consent decree, monitoring agreement, deferred prosecution agreement or other similar agreement entered into
with any Governmental Entity relating to alleged non-compliance with any applicable Health Regulatory Laws;
(C)
except for the satisfaction of routine requests made by Governmental
Entities with respect to the MCC Business which do not impact the business or operations of the MCC Business, a
party to any agreement, settlement, consent decree, monitoring agreement or other similar agreement with any
Governmental Entity addressing measures to satisfy compliance with any applicable Health Regulatory Laws; or
(D)
except for the satisfaction of routine requests made by Governmental
Entities with respect to the MCC Business which do not impact the business or operations of the MCC Business,
subject to any pending or, to the Knowledge of the Seller, threatened, appeals, adjustments, challenges, audits,
inquiries, investigations, litigation, or written notices of intent to audit with respect to material reports or billings,
or material claims for refunds, overpayments, discounts or adjustments.
(iv)
As of the date of this Agreement, each Non-MCC Entity (solely with respect to the
MCC Business) and each Transferred Entity holds all material Licenses necessary to conduct the MCC Business
(the “Health Care Licenses”). All Health Care Licenses are in full force and effect in all material respects and
none of the Non-MCC Entities or Transferred Entities is in material violation of the Health Care Licenses. To the
Knowledge of the Seller, there is no Action, investigation, or other proceeding that is reasonably likely to result in
the termination, cancellation, revocation, suspension, or adverse modification of any Health Care License. To the
Knowledge of the Seller, each MCC Business Employee and each independent contractor and consultant
providing services on behalf of the MCC Business (in each case solely with respect to the MCC Business) who is
required to hold a license, permit, certification, or accreditation to perform his or her job function holds such
license, permit, certification, or accreditation.
(v)
Since the Applicable Date, the Seller and each of the Regulated Subsidiaries has
filed all of the Statutory Statements and all other material filings with respect to the MCC Business (including
filings with respect to premium rates, rating plans, policy terms, medical loss ratio, capitation rates, encounter
data, marketing plans and network adequacy), together with any amendments required to be made with respect
thereto, that it was required to file with any Governmental Entity, including CMS, state insurance departments,
state departments of health, other applicable state Medicaid authorities, and any other agencies with jurisdiction
over the Federal Health Care Programs and including filings that it was required to file under the Patient
Protection and Affordable Care Act (Pub. L. 111-148), as amended by the Health Care and Education
Reconciliation Act of 2010 (Pub. L. 111-152), except where the failure to make such Statutory Statements and
other filings with respect to the MCC Business has not had and would not reasonably be expected to have,
individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect. For purposes of this subparagraph (v), “Regulated
Subsidiary” shall mean each RBC Entity, The
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Management Group, LLC and any other Non-MCC Entity (solely with respect to the MCC Business) that is
licensed in one or more jurisdictions as an insurance company, health maintenance organization (including a
single healthcare service plan), managed care organization, healthcare service plan, specialized healthcare service
plan, healthcare service corporation, pharmacy, dental maintenance organization, dental plan organization, prepaid
dental plan, third party administrator, pharmacy benefit administrator, and/or utilization review agent, broker or
agency.
(vi)
Any Non-MCC Entity (solely with respect to the MCC Business) or Transferred
Entity that contracts with health care professionals or health care provider entities who are required by state Law
to be licensed has maintained a credentialing system in compliance with applicable Law. To the Knowledge of the
Seller, all contracted health care professionals and health care provider entities are appropriately credentialed
consistent with applicable Law.
(vii)
Corporate Compliance Program. The Non-MCC Entities (solely with respect to the
MCC Business) and the Transferred Entities have adopted and maintain a compliance program that is intended to
assist the Transferred Entities to be in material compliance with all applicable Law, standards and guidelines
relevant to the MCC Business, including all Health Regulatory Laws, and includes each of the following
elements: (A) a code of conduct and other applicable policies and procedures; (B) training on the code of conduct,
policies and procedures for all employees; (C) an auditing and monitoring function; (D) disciplinary guidelines to
enforce compliance standards; (E) an anonymous reporting process for potential violations of Law or the
compliance program; (F) designation of a compliance officer; and (G) a mechanism for ensuring the effectiveness
of the compliance program. Except as would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be likely to have a
Material Adverse Effect, none of the Transferred Entities nor their respective directors or officers, nor, to the
Knowledge of the Seller, any of their employees, contractors or agents has violated any such compliance program.
(viii)

Privacy Compliance.

(A)
The Non-MCC Entities (solely with respect to the MCC Business) and the
Transferred Entities have adopted, maintained and operated pursuant to a written policy (the “Privacy Policy”)
regarding, among other things, the collection, use and/or disclosure of Personal Information from Enrollees
(“Enrollee Information”). The Privacy Policy and the Non-MCC Entities (solely with respect to the MCC
Business) and the Transferred Entities actions thereunder are and since the Applicable Date have been in
compliance in all material respects with all applicable HIPAA Commitments and other PCT Laws. The Privacy
Policy (a copy of which has been delivered to the Purchaser prior to the date hereof) applies to all Enrollees
(including former Enrollees), and no other privacy policies regarding the collection and use of Enrollee
Information have been adopted or used by the Non-MCC Entities (solely with respect to the MCC Business) and
the Transferred Entities or have been provided to Enrollees by or on behalf of the Non-MCC Entities (solely with
respect to the MCC Business) and the Transferred Entities since the Applicable Date. The Non-MCC Entities
(solely with respect to the MCC Business) and the Transferred Entities have adopted reasonable internal written
policies and procedures that comply with applicable PCT Laws with respect to privacy, data protection, security,
processing, collection, disclosure and use of Enrollee Information. The Non-MCC Entities (solely with respect to
the MCC Business) and the Transferred Entities are and since the Applicable Date have been in
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compliance in all material respects with the Privacy Policy and such internal policies, and does not use Enrollee
Information in an unlawful manner or in a manner that violates the Enrollees’ rights under applicable HIPAA
Commitments.
(B)
The Non-MCC Entities (solely with respect to the MCC Business) and the
Transferred Entities’ collection, monitoring, maintenance, creation, transmission, use, disclosure, storage, disposal
and security of Enrollee Information has since the Applicable Date complied in all material respects with (1) any
Contracts to which any Non-MCC Entity or Transferred Entity is a party, (2) applicable PCT Laws, (3) if
applicable, PCI DSS, and (4) all consents and authorizations that apply to the Non-MCC Entities or Transferred
Entities receipt, access, use and disclosure of Personal Information. The Non-MCC Entities (solely with respect
to the MCC Business) and the Transferred Entities have all necessary authority, consents and authorizations to
receive, access, use and disclose Enrollee Information in the Non-MCC Entities (solely with respect to the MCC
Business) and the Transferred Entities’ possession or under its control in connection with the operation of the
MCC Business.
(C)
The Non-MCC Entities (solely with respect to the MCC Business) and the
Transferred Entities have since the Applicable Date, in all material respects, implemented reasonable and
appropriate safeguards to protect the confidentiality, integrity and security of Enrollee Information against any
unauthorized control, use, access, interruption, modification or corruption in conformance in all material respects
with PCT Laws.
(D)
Since the Applicable Date, there has been no (1) data security breach or
(2) unauthorized access, use, acquisition or disclosure of any Enrollee Information owned, used, stored, received,
or controlled by or on behalf of the Non-MCC Entities (solely with respect to the MCC Business) and the
Transferred Entities that would constitute a breach for which notification to individuals and/or Governmental
Entities is required under any applicable PCT Laws or under any Contracts to which any Non-MCC Entity (solely
with respect to the MCC Business) or a Transferred Entity is a party. Since the Applicable Date, the Non-MCC
Entities (solely with respect to the MCC Business) and the Transferred Entities have not received any written
complaints, claims, demands, inquiries or other notices, including without limitation a notice of investigation,
from any Person (including any Governmental Entity) alleging or asserting any material violation by any NonMCC Entity (solely with respect to the MCC Business) or a Transferred Entity of any PCT Laws that has not been
fully resolved. The Non-MCC Entities (solely with respect to the MCC Business) and the Transferred Entities
maintain systems and procedures reasonably intended to receive and respond to complaints regarding the
processing of Personal Information.
(E)
The Non-MCC Entities (solely with respect to the MCC Business) and the
Transferred Entities are not subject to any Orders (other than Orders of general applicability), nor are any such
Orders pending or, to the Knowledge of the Seller, threatened against the Non-MCC Entities (solely with respect
to the MCC Business) and the Transferred Entities. The Non-MCC Entities (solely with respect to the MCC
Business) and the Transferred Entities have in place all necessary and required agreements with all “business
associates” (as such term is defined by and as such agreements are required by HIPAA) that receive Protected
Health Information (as such term is defined in 45 CFR § 160.103) on the Non-MCC Entities’ (solely with respect
to the MCC Business) and the Transferred Entities’ behalf. Each Non-MCC Entity (solely
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with respect to the MCC Business) and Transferred Entity is in material compliance with the terms of all business
associate agreements to which it is a party. Since the Applicable Date, no Action has been asserted or, to the NonMCC Entities (solely with respect to the MCC Business) and the Transferred Entities’ Knowledge, has been
threatened or commenced against the Non-MCC Entities (solely with respect to the MCC Business) and the
Transferred Entities alleging non-compliance with the HIPAA Commitments or a violation of a Person’s privacy,
personal information, or data rights with respect to Personal Information.
(F)
The Non-MCC Entities (solely with respect to the MCC Business) and the
Transferred Entities maintain, in all material respects, accurate records of such documents required to be
maintained pursuant to applicable PCT Laws (e.g., business associate agreements, privacy and security policies
and procedures, workforce training, breach notifications, etc.) in connection with their operation of the MCC
Business.
(G)
Except for routine surveys, audits, inquiries and complaint investigations,
the Non-MCC Entities (solely with respect to the MCC Business) and the Transferred Entities are not presently
subject to, or have not since the Applicable Date received, any written notice of any Action, governmental
investigation, governmental audit, assessment, charge, complaint, claim, civil monetary penalty, demand or
written notice (e.g., OCR data requests, etc.) alleging a Non-MCC Entity’s (solely with respect to the MCC
Business) or a Transferred Entity’s failure to materially comply with applicable PCT Laws.
(ix)
Sales Personnel. Except as would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably
be likely to have a Material Adverse Effect, each sales agent employed by or contracted with any of the NonMCC Entities (solely with respect to the MCC Business) or the Transferred Entities that is required to be licensed
and appointed is (A) properly licensed and appointed to sell the products and services of the Transferred Entities
and (B) the compensation payable to such employees complies with applicable Health Regulatory Laws.
(x)

Provider Contracts.

(A)
Except in the Ordinary Course of Business, (1) no material past due amounts
are owed by Non-MCC Entities (with respect to the MCC Business) or the Transferred Entities under any
Contracts with Material Health Care Providers and (2) the Sellers and its Subsidiaries are not aware of any
outstanding written Action made by a Material Health Care Provider that the Transferred Entities have failed to
perform a material monetary or nonmonetary obligation arising under its Contract. All of the Contracts with
Material Health Care Providers (the “Material Health Care Provider Contracts”) are in writing, were entered into
in the Ordinary Course of Business and constitute valid, binding and enforceable agreements with the party
thereto, and, to the Knowledge of the Seller, the other party thereto, and include all terms and conditions required
by applicable Law or the applicable Government Program Contract, and neither the Transferred Entities, nor, to
the Knowledge of the Seller, any other party thereto, is in material default thereunder. To the Knowledge of the
Seller, no event has occurred which (whether with or without notice, lapse of time or both or the happening or
occurrence of any other event) would constitute a material default under any Contract with a Material Health Care
Provider. All forms of Material Health Care Provider Contracts which are currently in use by the Transferred
Entities conform to the material requirements of applicable Laws in all material respects. To the
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Knowledge of the Sellers, as of the date hereof, there are no circumstances, including the consummation of the
transactions contemplated hereby, which are reasonably likely to result in the termination, cancellation or
nonrenewal of a Material Health Care Provider Contract or the cessation of business being transacted between any
Transferred Entity on the one hand and a Material Health Care Provider on the other hand. The Company has
made available to the Purchaser true and complete copies of the Material Health Care Provider Contracts,
including all amendments and modifications thereto.
(B)
Since the Applicable Date, each Provider under the Material Health Care
Provider Contracts has been compensated and is currently compensated for covered health care services provided
to Enrollees in all material respects in accordance with the rates and fees set forth in the applicable Material
Health Care Provider Contracts and the Transferred Entities’ standard payment policies and procedures other than
any dispute that has been finally resolved, or any other non-material dispute, when considered individually and in
the aggregate, with such Provider in the Ordinary Course of Business.
(C)
With respect to each Material Health Care Provider Contract, (1) no Affiliate
of the Transferred Entities is a Material Health Care Provider and (2) each Material Health Care Provider Contract
may be terminated by a party thereto without cause or nonrenewed with advance written notice.
(D)
The Transferred Entities contractually require their contracted Providers to
comply with applicable Laws, applicable industry standards and the Transferred Entities’ applicable policies and
procedures, including with respect to the selection, de-selection and credentialing of such Providers’ respective
practitioners and contracted Providers.
(E)
The manner in which the Transferred Entities place their contracted
Providers at financial risk for health care services furnished to Enrollees does not violate applicable Laws in any
material respect. To the Knowledge of the Seller, the contracted Providers which are required to comply with
those reporting, financial reserve and other requirements applicable to risk-bearing Provider organizations are in
compliance, in all material respects, with all applicable reporting, financial reserve and other requirements of
Governmental Entities. To the Knowledge of the Seller, the Transferred Entities have not entered into any fee-forservice compensation arrangements with Providers who or which are violating any applicable state or federal
Antitrust Laws that restrict fixing of prices among competitors.
(xi)
Government Program Contracts. The Seller has made available to the Purchaser
copies of all Contracts between Governmental Entities and the Transferred Entities (“Government Program
Contract”). Each Government Program Contract is a valid and binding agreement of the Transferred Entity which
is a party thereto, and, to the Knowledge of the Seller, each other party thereto and is in full force and
effect. None of the Non-MCC Entities (solely with respect to the MCC Business), the Transferred Entities or, to
the Knowledge of the Seller, any other party thereto, is in breach of any Government Program Contract in any
material respect. To the Knowledge of the Seller, no event has occurred that would, with or without notice or
lapse of time or both, be a breach or default in any material respect or give rise to a termination right under any
Government Program Contract. None of the Non-MCC Entities (solely with respect to the MCC Business) or any
Transferred Entities have received written or, to the Knowledge of the
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Seller, oral notice of (1) any actual or alleged breach in any material respect by any Non-MCC Entity (solely with
respect to the MCC Business) or a Transferred Entity of any Government Program Contract or (2) the intention of
any Governmental Entity to a Government Program Contract to cancel, terminate, materially change the scope of
rights under or fail to renew any Government Program Contract.
(t)
Insurance. Except as would not reasonably be likely to be, individually or in the aggregate,
materially adverse to the Non-MCC Entities (solely with respect to the MCC Business) or the Transferred Entities,
all insurance policies of the Non-MCC Entities (solely with respect to the MCC Business) and the Transferred
Entities relating to the business, assets and operations of the MCC Business are (i) valid, binding, in full force and
effect in accordance with their terms, (ii) sufficient to comply with applicable Law and provide insurance in such
amounts and against such risks as the Seller reasonably has determined to be prudent, and (iii) not and have not
been subject to any lapse in coverage, and all premiums due and payable thereon have been paid in full when due
no notice of cancellation or modification has been received by the Seller or its Affiliates, and there is no existing
default or event which would constitute a default by any insured thereunder. To the Knowledge of the Seller and
subject to the applicable carrier’s reservation of rights, there are no claims related to the MCC Business pending
under any insurance policy as to which coverage has been questioned, denied or disputed. Except as would not
reasonably be likely to be, individually or in the aggregate, materially adverse to the Non-MCC Entities (solely
with respect to the MCC Business) or the Transferred Entities, all claims, occurrences and circumstances that
could lead to a Proceeding that would be covered by any insurance policy have been properly reported to and
accepted by the applicable insurer as required under the policy terms.
(u)
Affiliate Transactions. Except for compensation or other employment arrangements in the
Ordinary Course of Business, there are no Contracts, transactions, arrangements or understandings between the
Seller or any of the Transferred Entities, on the one hand, and any Affiliate (including any director or officer)
thereof, but not including any wholly-owned Subsidiary of the Seller, on the other hand, that would be required to
be disclosed pursuant to Item 404 of Regulation S-K promulgated by the SEC in the Seller’s Form 10-K or proxy
statement pertaining to an annual meeting of stockholders.
(v)
Material Customers. No Non-MCC Entity (with respect to the MCC Business) nor any
Transferred Entity is, as of the date hereof, engaged in any material dispute with any Material Customer that, to
the Knowledge of the Seller, would be reasonably likely to lead such Material Customer to terminate or materially
decrease its relationship with any Non-MCC Entity (with respect to the MCC Business) or any Transferred
Entity. No Non-MCC Entity (with respect to the MCC Business) nor any Transferred Entity has received any
written notice or, to the Knowledge of the Seller, any oral notice from any Material Customer expressly stating
any intention or threat to terminate or to change any material commercial terms under any Contract with, any
Non-MCC Entity (with respect to the MCC Business) or any Transferred Entity.
(w)
Material Vendors. No Non-MCC Entity (with respect to the MCC Business) nor any
Transferred Entity is engaged in any material dispute with any Material Vendor that, to the Knowledge of the
Seller, would be reasonably likely to lead such Material Vendor to terminate or materially decrease its relationship
with any Non-MCC Entity (with respect to the MCC
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Business) or any Transferred Entity. No Non-MCC Entity (with respect to the MCC Business) nor any
Transferred Entity has received any written notice or, to the Knowledge of the Seller, any oral notice from any
Material Vendor expressly stating any intention or threat to terminate or materially reduce its provision of goods
or services to, or to change any material commercial terms under any Contract with, any Non-MCC Entity (with
respect to the MCC Business) or any Transferred Entity.
(x)
MCC Holding Companies. The Transferred Entities set forth on Section 3.01(x) of the
Seller Disclosure Letter (the “Intermediate Holding Companies”) have no current operations and will not have any
operations at the Closing. The sole purpose of the Intermediate Holding Companies is to hold equity of the
Subsidiaries of the Seller and, other than in respect of Taxes not yet due and payable, such Intermediate Holding
Companies do not have any direct material liabilities or obligations to any third parties.
(y)
No Other Representations and Warranties. Except for the representations and warranties of
the Seller contained in this Section 3.01, the Seller is not making and has not made, and no other Person is making
or has made on behalf of the Seller, any express or implied representation or warranty in connection with this
Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby; and neither the Seller nor any person on behalf of the Seller
is making any express or implied representation or warranty with respect to the Seller Parties or any of the
Transferred Entities or their respective businesses or with respect to any other information made available to the
Purchaser in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including any such information
made available to the Purchaser in the “Project Discovery” on-line data room hosted by Merrill on behalf of the
Seller. Except for the representations and warranties expressly set forth in this Section 3.01, the Seller hereby
disclaims all liability and responsibility for all projections, forecasts, estimates, financial statements, financial
information, appraisals, statements, promises, advice, data or information made, communicated or furnished
(orally or in writing, including electronically) to the Purchaser or any of the Purchaser’s Affiliates or any
Representatives of the Purchaser or any of the Purchaser’s Affiliates, including omissions therefrom. Without
limiting the foregoing, the Seller makes no representation or warranty of any kind whatsoever, express or implied,
written or oral, at law or in equity, to the Purchaser or any of its Affiliates or any Representatives of the Purchaser
of any of its Affiliates regarding the success, profitability or value of the MCC Business.
Section 3.02 Representations and Warranties of the Purchaser. Except as set forth in the corresponding
sections or subsections of the disclosure letter delivered to the Seller by the Purchaser at the time of entering into
this Agreement (the “Purchaser Disclosure Letter”) (it being understood that any disclosure set forth in one
section or subsection of the Purchaser Disclosure Letter shall be deemed disclosure with respect to, and shall be
deemed to apply to and qualify, the section or subsection of this Agreement to which it corresponds in number and
each other section or subsection of this Agreement to the extent the qualifying nature of such disclosure with
respect to such other section or subsection is reasonably apparent on the face of such disclosure), the Purchaser
hereby represents and warrants to the Seller as follows:
(a)
Organization, Good Standing, Qualification. The Purchaser is a legal entity duly organized,
validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of Delaware and has all requisite corporate or similar power
and authority to own, lease and operate its properties and
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assets and to carry on its business as presently conducted and is qualified to do business and is in good standing as
a foreign legal entity in each jurisdiction where the ownership, leasing or operation of its assets or properties or
conduct of its business requires such qualification, except where the failure to be so organized, qualified or in
good standing, or to have such power or authority, would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be
likely to have a Purchaser Material Adverse Effect.
(b)
Corporate Authority; Approval. The Purchaser has all requisite corporate power and
authority and has taken all corporate action necessary in order to execute, deliver and perform its obligations
under this Agreement and to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. This Agreement has
been duly executed and delivered by the Purchaser and constitutes a valid and binding agreement of the Purchaser,
enforceable against the Purchaser in accordance with its terms, subject to the Bankruptcy and Equity
Exception. No approval by the stockholders of the Purchaser is required in order for the Purchaser to execute,
deliver and perform its obligations under this Agreement or to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby
on the terms and subject to the conditions of this Agreement.
(c)

Governmental Filings; No Violations.

(i)
Other than the necessary filings, notices, reports, consents, registrations, approvals,
permits, expirations of waiting periods or authorizations required (A) under the HSR Act in connection with this
Agreement, (B) set forth on Section 3.02(c)(i)(B) of the Purchaser Disclosure Letter or (C) required under the
Exchange Act and the Securities Act, no filings, notices and/or reports are required to be made by the Purchaser or
its Subsidiaries with, nor are any consents, registrations, approvals, permits, expirations of waiting periods or
authorizations required to be obtained by the Purchaser or its Subsidiaries from any Governmental Entity in
connection with the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement by the Purchaser and/or the
consummation by the Purchaser of the transactions contemplated hereby, except, in each case, those that the
failure to make or obtain would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be likely to have a Purchaser
Material Adverse Effect.
(ii)
The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement by the Purchaser does
not, and the consummation by the Purchaser of the transactions contemplated hereby will not, constitute or result
in (A) a breach or violation of, or a default under, the Organizational Documents of the Purchaser, (B) with or
without the lapse of time or the giving of notice or both, a breach or violation of, a default or termination or
modification (or right of termination or modification) under, payment of additional fees under, the creation or
acceleration of any obligations under, or the creation of a Lien on any of the assets of the Purchaser or any of its
Subsidiaries pursuant to any material Contract binding upon the Purchaser or any of its Subsidiaries, or, assuming
(solely with respect to performance of this Agreement and consummation of the transactions contemplated
hereby) the filings, notices, reports, consents, registrations, approvals, permits, expirations of waiting periods and
authorizations referred to in Section 3.02(c)(i) are made or obtained, under any Law, Order or License to which
the Purchaser or any of its Subsidiaries is subject or (C) any change in the rights or obligations under any material
Contract to which the Purchaser or any of its Subsidiaries is a party, except, in the case of clauses (B) and (C)
above, for any such breach, violation, default, termination, modification, payment,
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acceleration, creation or change that would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be likely to have a
Purchaser Material Adverse Effect.
(d)
Litigation. There are no Proceedings pending or, to the Knowledge of the Purchaser,
threatened in writing against the Purchaser that seeks to enjoin, or would reasonably be expected to have the effect
of preventing or making illegal, any of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
(e)
Securities Matters. The Transferred Equity Interests are being acquired by the Purchaser
for its own account, and not with a view to, or for the offer or sale in connection with, any public distribution or
sale of the Transferred Equity Interests or any interest in them. The Purchaser (either alone or with its advisors)
has sufficient knowledge and experience in financial and business matters to be capable of evaluating the merits
and risks of its investment in the Transferred Equity Interests, and the Purchaser is capable of bearing the
economic risks of such investment, including a complete loss of its investment in the Transferred Equity
Interests. The Purchaser acknowledges that the Transferred Equity Interests have not been registered under the
Securities Act, or any other applicable state, foreign or federal securities Laws, and understands and agrees that it
may not sell or dispose of any of the Transferred Equity Interests except pursuant to a registered offering in
compliance with, or in a transaction exempt from, the registration requirements of the Securities Act and any other
applicable state, foreign or federal securities Laws.
(f)
Financial Ability. The Purchaser has, and will have at the Closing, (A) the resources and
capabilities (financial and otherwise) to perform its obligations under this Agreement (including all payments to
be made by it in connection herewith) and (B) immediately available funds in an aggregate amount that will
enable the Purchaser to (1) consummate the transactions contemplated hereby on the terms contemplated by this
Agreement and (2) pay all related fees and expenses and undertake its other obligations at Closing upon the terms
contemplated by this Agreement. The Purchaser has not incurred any obligation, commitment, restriction or other
liability of any kind, and is not contemplating or aware of any obligation, commitment, restriction or other
liability of any kind, in either case which would impair or adversely affect such resources, funds or capabilities.
(g)
Brokers and Finders. The Purchaser has not employed any broker or finder or incurred any
liability for any brokerage fees, commissions or finders’ fees in connection with this Agreement or the
transactions contemplated in this Agreement, except that the Purchaser has employed Barclays Capital Inc. as its
financial advisor and Marsh Risk & Insurance Services as its broker for the R&W Policy.
(h)
Solvency. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, including the truth and
accuracy of the representations and warranties of the Seller set forth in Section 3.01, immediately after giving
effect to the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (including any financings being
entered into in connection therewith):
(i)
the fair saleable value (determined on a going concern basis) of the assets of the
Purchaser will be greater than the total amount of its Liabilities (including all Liabilities whether direct or indirect,
fixed or contingent, secured or unsecured, disputed or undisputed);
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(ii)
the Purchaser will be able to pay its debts and obligations in the ordinary course of
business as they become due; and
(iii)
the Purchaser will have adequate capital to carry on its businesses and all
businesses in which it is about to engage.
(i)
Inspections; No Other Seller Representations and Warranties. The Purchaser is an
informed and sophisticated purchaser, and has engaged expert advisors, experienced in the evaluation and
purchase of businesses such as its acquisition of the MCC Business as contemplated hereunder. The Purchaser
has undertaken such investigation and has evaluated such documents and information as it has deemed necessary
to enable it to make an informed and intelligent decision with respect to the execution, delivery and performance
of this Agreement. The Purchaser agrees to accept the Transferred Entities, the Transferred Assets, the Assumed
Liabilities and the MCC Business without reliance upon any express or implied representations or warranties of
any nature made by the Seller or any of its directors, officers, employees, stockholders, partners, members,
advisors or other Representatives, except as specifically and expressly set forth in Section 3.01. Further, the
Purchaser acknowledges, that the Seller shall have no liability and responsibility for the projections, forecasts,
estimates, financial statements, financial information, appraisals, statements, promises, advice, data or information
made, communicated or furnished (orally or in writing, including electronically) to the Purchaser or any of the
Purchaser’s Affiliates or any Representatives of the Purchaser or any of the Purchaser’s Affiliates, including
omissions therefrom. Without limiting the foregoing, the Purchaser also acknowledges that the Seller makes no
representation or warranty of any kind whatsoever, express or implied, written or oral, at law or in equity, to the
Purchaser or any of its Affiliates or any Representatives of the Purchaser of any of its Affiliates regarding the
success, profitability or value of the MCC Business.
ARTICLE IV
COVENANTS
Section 4.01 Conduct of Business.
(a)
Operation of the MCC Business. The Seller covenants and agrees it shall, and shall cause
each Seller Party and each Transferred Entity to, from and after the execution of this Agreement and prior to the
Closing (unless the Purchaser shall otherwise approve in writing, which approval shall not be unreasonably
withheld, conditioned or delayed, and except as (i) required by applicable Law, (ii) expressly required by this
Agreement, (iii) otherwise disclosed in Section 4.01(a) of the Seller Disclosure Letter), conduct the MCC
Business in compliance with applicable Law in all material respects and use its Commercially Reasonable Efforts
to (A) conduct the MCC Business in the Ordinary Course of Business, (B) preserve intact in all material respects
the MCC Business and (C) maintain relationships with key employees, customers, lenders, suppliers, regulators
and other material business relationships with respect to the MCC Business. Without limiting the generality of,
and in furtherance of, the foregoing, from and after the date of this Agreement and prior to the Closing, except
(w) as required by applicable Law, (x) as the Purchaser may approve in writing (such approval not to be
unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed), (y) as disclosed in Section 4.01(a) of the Seller Disclosure Letter
or (z) as
-48-

expressly provided for in this Agreement, the Seller with respect to the MCC Business shall not and will not
permit any Transferred Entity to:
(i)
(A) amend any of its Organizational Documents, (B) split, combine, subdivide or
reclassify its outstanding shares of capital stock, (C) declare, set aside or pay any dividend or distribution payable
in cash, stock or property (or any combination thereof) in respect of any shares of its capital stock, provided that
the foregoing shall not be deemed to restrict the payment and/or settlement of intercompany amounts or require
any modification to the Seller’s cash management and collection practices as in existence on the date hereof,
(D) enter into any agreement with respect to the voting of its capital stock, or (E) purchase, repurchase, redeem or
otherwise acquire any shares of its capital stock or any securities convertible or exchangeable into or exercisable
for any shares of its capital stock;
(ii)
completely or partially liquidate;

merge or consolidate with any other Person, or restructure, reorganize or

(iii)
except as required by an Employee Plan, (A) increase the compensation payable to
any MCC Business Employee with a title of Senior Vice President or above or, except in the Ordinary Course of
Business, materially increase the compensation for any MCC Business Employee with a title below Senior Vice
President, (B) grant any bonus to any MCC Business Employee with a title of Senior Vice President or above or,
except in the Ordinary Course of Business, grant a material bonus to any MCC Business Employee with a title
below Senior Vice President, (C) make any change to any Assumed Employee Plan that would materially increase
the costs to any of the Transferred Entities or (D) hire or terminate (unless for cause) any MCC Business
Employee with a job title of Senior Vice President or above; provided, that, to the extent the Seller endeavors to
establish a new Employee Plan which is not an Assumed Employee Plan which is applicable to MCC Business
Employees, the Seller shall provide reasonable notice, including a reasonable summary thereof, to the Purchaser
of the establishment of such Employee Plan;
(iv)

incur any Indebtedness or issue any warrants or other rights to acquire any

Indebtedness;
(v)
(A) make or commit to any capital expenditures that are, in the aggregate, in excess
of Five Million Dollars ($5,000,000) other than capital expenditures expressly reflected in such Transferred
Entity’s capital expenditure projections for 2020 and 2021, which have previously been made available to the
Purchaser, or (B) amend, modify or supplement such capital expenditure projections;
(vi)
transfer, lease, license, sell, assign, mortgage, pledge, place a Lien upon or
otherwise dispose of (A) any material properties or assets of the MCC Business (including capital stock of any of
the Transferred Entities but not including any Intellectual Property) or (B) other than in the Ordinary Course of
Business consistent with past practice, any other properties or assets of the MCC Business (in each case, other
than transactions among the Transferred Entities);
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(vii)
acquire any business, whether by merger, consolidation, purchase of property or
assets or otherwise related to the MCC Business, or otherwise acquire any other assets other than in the Ordinary
Course of Business;
(viii) make any material change in financial accounting policies or procedures, except as
required by changes in GAAP or SAP (or any interpretation thereof) or by applicable Law;
(ix)
make any material loans, advances or capital contributions to, or material
investments in, any Person (other than loans, advances or capital contributions by and between Transferred
Entities), except for, in each case, following notice to and discussion with the Purchaser, (A) advances to
Providers required in writing by an applicable Governmental Entity or (B) as necessary to comply with a request
by a Provider to maintain the financial viability and/or stability of a Provider to the extent such advances are, in
the aggregate, not in excess of One Million Dollars ($1,000,000); provided, that, to the extent the Seller
reasonably determines that a loan, advance, capital contribution or investment is not permitted by the foregoing
sub clauses (A) and (B) is necessary, the Seller shall provide prompt notice of such determination to the Purchaser
and the Purchaser shall work in good faith with the Seller to review and provide its determination with respect
thereto within the time frame necessary to address the underlying factual situation necessitating such action;
(x)
(A) other than in the Ordinary Course of Business consistent with past practice,
amend or modify in any material respect or terminate (excluding terminations upon expiration of the term thereof
in accordance with the terms thereof) any Material Health Care Provider Contract or any Material Contract that is
not a Government Program Contract, (B) other than in the Ordinary Course of Business consistent with past
practice, waive, release or assign any material rights, claims or benefits under any Material Health Care Provider
Contract or any Material Contract that is not a Government Program Contract, (C) amend or modify in any
material respect or terminate (excluding terminations upon expiration of the term thereof in accordance with the
terms thereof) any Government Program Contract, (D) waive, release or assign any material rights, claims or
benefits under any Government Program Contract, (E) take (or fail to take) any action that would reasonably be
expected to cause or result in a material breach of, or material default under, any Material Contract or Material
Health Care Provider Contract, (F) other than in the Ordinary Course of Business consistent with past practice,
enter into any Contract that would have been a Material Contract or a Material Health Care Provider Contract had
it been entered into prior to the date of this Agreement, (G) waive, release or assign any rights, claims or benefits
under the Affiliate Contracts set forth on Section 4.13 of the Seller Disclosure Letter, or (H) amend, modify or,
except as contemplated by Section 4.13, terminate any Affiliate Contract set forth on Section 4.13 of the Seller
Disclosure Letter;
(xi) except as required by a Government Entity, enter into any material Seller Guarantee;
provided, that, to the extent the Seller reasonably determines that such a Seller Guarantee is necessary despite the
lack of a requirement to provide the same, the Seller shall provide prompt notice of such determination to the
Purchaser and the Purchaser shall work in good faith with the Seller to review and provide its determination with
respect thereto within the time frame necessary to address the underlying factual situation necessitating such
action;
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(xii)
settle any action, suit, case, litigation, claim, hearing, arbitration, investigation or
other proceedings before or threatened to be brought before a Governmental Entity relating to the MCC Business,
other than settlements if the amount of any such settlement is not in excess of One Million Dollars ($1,000,000)
individually or Five Million Dollars ($5,000,000) in the aggregate; provided, that, such settlements do not involve
any non-de minimis injunctive or equitable relief or impose non-de minimis restrictions on the business activities
of the MCC Business;
(xiii)
fail to maintain, cancel, terminate or allow to lapse without a commercially
reasonable substitute therefor, any material License;
(xiv) sell, assign, transfer or exclusively license any material Intellectual Property owned
by any Transferred Entity, or permit the lapse of any right, title or interest to any such material Intellectual
Property, including any material MCC Registered IP, in each case, other than in the Ordinary Course of Business;
(xv)
enter into any collective bargaining agreement relating to the MCC Business, other
than renewals of any collective bargaining agreements in the ordinary course of business;
(xvi) except for the transfer of any assets or Liabilities that relate or otherwise belong to
the MCC Business from a Non-MCC Entity to a Transferred Entity, or as contemplated by Section 4.14, transfer
any assets or Liabilities between or among the Non-MCC Entities, on the one hand, and the Transferred Entities,
on the other hand;
(xvii) other than in the Ordinary Course of Business or consistent with past practice, (A)
make or change any material Tax election, (B) settle or compromise any material Tax claim or assessment, (C)
enter into any material Tax sharing or similar agreement or arrangement (other than any commercial or
employment contract not primarily related to Taxes) or (D) amend any material Tax Return, except, in each case,
(x) as related to Combined Income Tax Returns or Taxes paid on an affiliated, consolidated, combined or unitary
basis or (y) to the extent that any such action would not reasonably be expected to affect the Tax Liability of the
Purchaser or any Transferred Entity in any Post-Closing Tax Period; or
(xviii) agree, resolve or commit to do any of the actions described above in clauses (i)
through (xvii) of this Section 4.01(a).
Section 4.02

Access; Consultation.

(a)
Upon reasonable notice, and except as may otherwise be required by applicable Law, the
Seller shall, and shall cause the Transferred Entities to, afford the Purchaser and its Representatives reasonable
access, during normal business hours during the period prior to the Closing, to the MCC Business employees,
properties, assets, books, records and Contracts and, during such period, the Seller shall, and shall cause its
Transferred Entities to, furnish promptly to the Purchaser and its Representatives all information concerning the
MCC Business’ capital stock, business and personnel as may reasonably be requested by the Purchaser and its
Representatives in connection with this Agreement; provided, that, no investigation pursuant to this Section
4.02(a) shall affect or be deemed to modify any representation or warranty made by the Seller; provided,
-51-

further, that the foregoing shall not require the Seller to permit any invasive environmental sampling or any
inspection or to disclose any information pursuant to this Section 4.02(a), to the extent that (i) in the reasonable
good faith judgment of the Seller, any applicable Law requires the Seller or its Subsidiaries to restrict or prohibit
access to any such properties or information, (ii) in the reasonable good faith judgment of the Seller, the
information is subject to confidentiality obligations to a third party or (iii) disclosure of any such information or
document would result in the loss of attorney-client privilege; and provided, further that with respect to clauses
(i) through (iii) of this Section 4.02(a), the Seller shall use its Commercially Reasonable Efforts to (A) obtain the
required consent of any such third party to provide such inspection or disclosure, (B) develop an alternative to
providing such information so as to address such matters that is reasonably acceptable to the Seller and the
Purchaser and (C) in the case of clauses (i) and (iii), implement appropriate and mutually agreeable measures to
permit the disclosure of such information in a manner to remove the basis for the objection, including by
arrangement of appropriate clean room procedures, redaction or entry into a customary joint defense agreement
with respect to any information to be so provided, if the parties determine that doing so would reasonably permit
the disclosure of such information without violating applicable Law or jeopardizing such privilege. Any
investigation pursuant to this Section 4.02(a) shall be conducted in such a manner as not to interfere unreasonably
with the conduct of the business of the other party. All requests for information made pursuant to this Section
4.02(a) shall be directed to an executive officer of the Seller or such Person as may be designated by any such
executive officer.
(b)
The Seller, as it deems advisable and necessary, may reasonably designate competitively
sensitive material provided to the Purchaser or its Representatives as “Outside Counsel Only Material” or with
similar restrictions. Such material and the information contained therein shall be given only to the outside counsel
of the recipient, or otherwise as the restriction indicates, and shall be subject to any additional confidentiality or
joint defense agreement between the parties. All information exchanged pursuant to this Section 4.02(b) shall be
subject to the Confidentiality Agreements. To the extent that any of the information or material furnished
pursuant to this Section 4.02(b) or otherwise in accordance with the terms of this Agreement may include material
subject to the attorney-client privilege, work product doctrine or any other applicable privilege concerning
pending or threatened legal proceedings or governmental investigations, the parties understand and agree that they
have a commonality of interest with respect to such matters and it is their desire, intention and mutual
understanding that the sharing of such material is not intended to, and shall not, waive or diminish in any way the
confidentiality of such material or its continued protection under the attorney-client privilege, work product
doctrine or other applicable privilege. All such information that is entitled to protection under the attorney-client
privilege, work product doctrine or other applicable privilege shall remain entitled to such protection under these
privileges, this Agreement, and under the joint defense doctrine. Prior to the Closing, the Seller and the Purchaser
shall identify to the Purchaser any actions or practices of the Seller or any of its Subsidiaries that could require
remediation under applicable Law and, to the extent identified, shall, subject to the Purchaser’s prior written
consent, take commercially reasonable actions or practices and other customary actions to reduce the risks related
to such actions where the failure to remediate would reasonably be likely to result in substantial fines or penalties.
(c)
Each of the Seller and the Purchaser shall give prompt notice to one another of any change,
effect, circumstance or development that would reasonably be likely to result in a
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Material Adverse Effect or Purchaser Material Adverse Effect (as applicable), or of any reasonably likely failure
of any condition to the Purchaser’s or the Seller’s obligations to effect the Closing (as applicable).
Section 4.03 Post-Closing Access to Information. Subject to Section 7.03(a), for a period of six (6) years
after the Closing, each of the Parties shall give the other and the other’s Affiliates and its and their Representatives
access to the Books and Records and the books and records of the Transferred Entities (collectively, the
“Accessible Information”) transferred to the Purchaser or retained by the Seller, as applicable (even if any
Accessible Information is or becomes commingled with books and records of the Purchaser or the Seller and their
respective Affiliates), and the properties, personnel and Representatives of each Party, as may be reasonably
required by the requesting Party or such Party’s Affiliates, including to the extent necessary for the preparation of
financial statements or regulatory filings in respect of periods ending on or prior to the Closing, or in connection
with any insurance claims, Proceedings or any obligations under this Agreement or any agreement, document or
instrument contemplated hereby or thereby. At the requesting Party’s cost and expense, the requesting Party and
its Affiliates and its and their respective Representatives shall be entitled to make copies of any Accessible
Information to which such Persons are entitled to access pursuant to this Section 4.03. Any such access shall be
conducted during regular business hours upon reasonable advance notice and under reasonable circumstances, and
shall be subject to restrictions under Law and any confidentiality obligations to which the Parties are
bound. Except as otherwise provided in Section 7.03(a), each Party shall preserve and keep the Accessible
Information held by such Party or any of its Affiliates for a period of six (6) years following the Closing
Date. Each Party shall, and shall cause its Affiliates and Representatives to, (i) keep all information accessed
pursuant to this Section 4.03 confidential, (ii) not publicly disclose such information to any other Person (except
where such disclosure, upon the advice of outside counsel, is required by Law and only to the extent required by
applicable Law); provided, that, each Party or its Affiliates may disclose such information to its Representatives
or other Persons that have a duty of confidentiality (or similar duty or obligation of non-disclosure) to such
disclosing Party, and (iii) not use such information other than for the express purposes set forth in this Section
4.03. Notwithstanding the foregoing and except as otherwise provided in Section 7.03(a), any and all such
Accessible Information may be destroyed by the Parties after the sixth (6th) anniversary of the Closing Date (or
such later date as required by applicable Law).
Section 4.04 Filings; Other Actions; Notification and Cooperation.
(a)
Subject to the other terms of this Section 4.04, the Seller and the Purchaser shall cooperate
with each other and use, and shall cause their respective Subsidiaries and Affiliates to use, their respective best
efforts to take (or cause to be taken) all actions, and do (or cause to be done) all things necessary, proper or
advisable under this Agreement and applicable Laws and Orders to consummate and make effective the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement as expeditiously as possible, and in no event later than the
Termination Date, including (i) preparing and filing all documentation to effect all necessary notices, reports and
other filings (and in any event, by filing (A) within fifteen (15) Business Days after the date of this Agreement the
notifications, filings and other information required to be filed under the HSR Act, (B) within twenty (20)
Business Days after the date of this Agreement “Form A Statements” or similar change of control applications,
with the insurance commissioners or regulators or departments of health
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or other Governmental Entities in each jurisdiction where required by Law, seeking approval of the Purchaser’s
acquisition of control of each of the Transferred Entities licensed as an insurance company or health maintenance
organization which results from the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, (C) as promptly as practicable
after the date of this Agreement any pre-acquisition notifications on “Form E” or similar market share
notifications to be filed in each jurisdiction where required by Law with respect to the transactions contemplated
by this Agreement, (D) within thirty (30) Business Days after the date of this Agreement, any required notices to
CMS, with a separate notice to the CMS Medicare Drug Benefit Group and Central Office Medicare Advantage
plan manager, if applicable, (E) as promptly as practicable and advisable, but in no event later than thirty (30)
Business Days after the date of this Agreement or such other date as the Parties may agree, in the case of all other
filings required under any Health Regulatory Laws with respect to the transactions contemplated hereby), and
(F) as promptly as practicable and advisable, but in no event later than thirty (30) Business Days after the date of
this Agreement or such other date as the Parties may agree and to obtain as expeditiously as possible all consents,
registrations, approvals, permits, expirations of waiting periods and authorizations necessary or advisable to be
obtained from any Governmental Entity in order to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement,
(ii) satisfying the conditions to the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement,
(iii) defending any lawsuits or other legal Proceedings, whether judicial or administrative, challenging this
Agreement or the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and (iv) executing and delivering any reasonable
additional instruments necessary to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and to fully carry out the
purposes of this Agreement.
(b)
Subject to Section 4.04(d), in the event that the Parties receive a request for information or
documentary material pursuant to the HSR Act or any other Antitrust Laws, including a request for additional
information (a “Second Request”), unless otherwise agreed to by the Seller and the Purchaser, the Parties will use
their best efforts to submit an appropriate response to, and to certify compliance with, such Second Request as
promptly as practicable and advisable, and counsel for both Parties will closely cooperate during the entirety of
any such Second Request review process. None of the Parties, including their respective Subsidiaries and
Affiliates, shall knowingly take, cause or permit to be taken, or omit to take, any action which such Party
reasonably expects is likely to materially delay or prevent consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby,
unless otherwise agreed to by the Parties. None of the Parties, without the other Party’s prior written consent, shall
(i) enter into any timing, settlement or similar agreement, or otherwise agree or commit to any arrangement, that
would have the effect of extending, suspending, lengthening or otherwise tolling the expiration or termination of
the waiting period applicable to the transactions contemplated hereby under the HSR Act or any Antitrust Laws,
or (ii) enter into any timing or similar agreement, or otherwise agree or commit to any arrangement, that would
bind or commit the Parties not to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby (or that would otherwise
prevent or prohibit the Parties from consummating such contemplated transactions).
(c)
To the extent permitted by Law, the Purchaser and the Seller shall, as promptly as
practicable, (i) upon any reasonable request from a Governmental Entity, furnish to such Governmental Entity,
any information or documentation concerning themselves, their Affiliates, directors, officers and shareholders or
stockholders, as applicable, information or documentation concerning the transactions contemplated hereby and
such other matters as may be
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requested and (ii) make available their respective Representatives to any Governmental Entity, in connection with
(A) the preparation of any filing made by or on their behalf to any Governmental Entity in connection with the
transactions contemplated hereby or (B) any Governmental Entity investigation, review or approval process.
(d)
The Seller and the Purchaser shall cooperate with respect to the Antitrust Laws and Health
Regulatory Laws related to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and shall have joint decision making
authority with respect to the appropriate course of action with respect to obtaining the consents, approvals,
permits, waiting period expirations or authorizations of any Governmental Entity required to consummate the
Closing prior to the Termination Date; provided, that, the Purchaser shall have principal responsibility for
directing, devising, and implementing the strategy for obtaining any necessary approval of, for responding to any
request from, inquiry by, or investigation by (including directing the timing, nature, and substance of all such
responses), and for leading all meetings and communications with any Governmental Entity. No Party hereto or
its counsel shall independently participate in any substantive call or meeting relating to the Antitrust Laws or
Health Regulatory Laws with any Governmental Entity in respect of such filings, investigation, or other inquiry
without first giving the other Party or its counsel prior notice of such call or meeting and the opportunity to attend
and participate, in each case, to the extent permitted by such Governmental Entity or applicable Law. In
furtherance of the foregoing and to the extent permitted by any Governmental Entity or applicable Law, each
Party shall, with respect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (i) notify the other, as far in advance
as practicable, of any filing or material or substantive communication or inquiry it or any of its Subsidiaries
intends to make with any Governmental Entity relating to the matters that are the subject of this Section 4.04, (ii)
prior to submitting any such filing or making any such communication or inquiry, provide the other Party and its
counsel a reasonable opportunity to review, and shall consider in good faith the comments of the other Party in
connection with, any such filing, communication or inquiry, (iii) promptly following the submission of such filing
or making such communication or inquiry, provide the other Party with a copy of any such filing or, if in written
form, communication or inquiry and (iv) consult with the other Party in connection with any inquiry, hearing,
investigation or litigation by, or negotiations with, any Governmental Entity relating to this Agreement, including
the scheduling of, and strategic planning for, any meetings with any Governmental Entity relating thereto. In
exercising the foregoing cooperation rights, the Seller and the Purchaser each shall act reasonably and as promptly
as reasonably practicable. Notwithstanding the foregoing, materials provided pursuant to this Section 4.04 may be
reasonably redacted as necessary to address reasonable privilege concerns. Further, each Party may, as each
deems advisable and necessary, reasonably designate any competitively sensitive material provided to the other
under this Section 4.04 as “outside counsel only.” Such materials and the information contained therein shall be
given only to the outside legal counsel of the other Party, and each Party shall cause their outside counsel not to
disclose such materials or information to any employees, officers, directors or other representatives of,
respectively, the Seller or the Purchaser, unless express written permission is obtained in advance from the other
Party.
(e)
In furtherance and not in limitation of the covenants of the parties contained in this Section
4.04, each of the parties, including their respective Subsidiaries and Affiliates, hereto shall use its best efforts to
resolve such objections, if any, as may be asserted by any Governmental Entity in connection with the HSR Act,
any other applicable Antitrust Laws or Health Regulatory Laws with respect to the transactions contemplated
hereby and to avoid the
-55-

entry of, or effect the dissolution of, any decree, order, judgment, injunction, temporary restraining order or other
Order in any suit or proceeding, that would otherwise have the effect of preventing the consummation of the
transactions contemplated hereby. For the purposes of this Section 4.04, “best efforts” shall include taking any
and all actions (such actions, the “Regulatory Actions”) necessary to obtain the consents, approvals, permits,
waiting period expirations or authorizations of any Governmental Entity required to consummate the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement as expeditiously as possible, and in no event later than the Termination Date,
including (i) proposing, negotiating, committing to, effecting and agreeing to, by consent decree, hold separate
order, or otherwise, the sale, divestiture, license, hold separate, and other disposition of businesses, assets,
products or equity interests, (ii) creating, terminating, or amending any existing relationships, ventures,
contractual rights or obligations and (iii) otherwise taking or committing to any action that would limit the
freedom of action with respect to the operation of, or ability to retain or hold, directly or indirectly, any
businesses, assets, products or equity interests; provided, that, such Regulatory Actions are conditioned upon and
become effective only from and after the Closing; provided, further, that in no event shall the Purchaser be
required to take or agree to offer or take, and the Seller shall not take or agree or offer to take, any Regulatory
Action that, individually or in the aggregate, would (A) require the sale, divestiture, license, hold separate, or
other disposition of the businesses, assets, products or equity interests of the MCC Business, to the extent such
action would have resulted in more than a 15% reduction in the MCC Business’ revenues for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2019, or (B) (1) require the sale, divestiture, license, hold separate, or other disposition of the
businesses, assets, products or equity interests of the Purchaser and its Subsidiaries, now owned or hereafter
acquired (not including any businesses, assets, products or equity interests of the MCC Business) or (2) otherwise
result in a change or impairment to the Purchaser’s business to the extent, in the case of (1) or (2), any such action
would be more than de minimis in nature to the Purchaser and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole. For the avoidance
of doubt, it is acknowledged and agreed that the Purchaser will be required to take and/or agree to any Regulatory
Actions with respect to the maintenance or increase of capital or reserves at any of the Transferred Entities
(including any related restrictions on declaring dividends and/or making distributions) at or following the Closing
without regard to the dollar limitation set forth in the preceding sentence.
(f)
In furtherance and not in limitation of the covenants of the Parties contained in this Section
4.04, if any administrative or judicial action or proceeding, including any proceeding by a private party, is
instituted (or threatened to be instituted) challenging the transactions contemplated by this Agreement as violative
of any Antitrust Law or Health Regulatory Laws, each of the Seller and the Purchaser shall use best efforts to
contest and resist any such action or proceeding and to have vacated, lifted, reversed or overturned any decree,
judgment, injunction or other order, whether temporary, preliminary or permanent, that is in effect and that
prohibits, prevents or restricts consummation of the Closing.
(g)
Information. The Seller and the Purchaser each shall, upon request by the other, promptly
furnish the other with all information concerning itself, its Subsidiaries, directors, officers and stockholders and
such other matters as may be reasonably necessary or advisable in connection with any other statement, filing,
notice or application made by or on behalf of the Purchaser, the Seller or any of their respective Subsidiaries to
any third party or any Governmental Entity in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
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(h)
Status. The Seller and the Purchaser each shall keep the other reasonably apprised of the
status of matters relating to completion of the transactions contemplated hereby, including promptly furnishing the
other with copies of notices or other communications received by the Seller or the Purchaser, as the case may be,
or any of their respective Subsidiaries from any third party or any Governmental Entity with respect to the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement, other than immaterial communications.
Section 4.05 Publicity. The Seller and the Purchaser shall consult with each other prior to issuing or
making, and provide each other the opportunity to review and comment on, any press releases or other public
announcements with respect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and any filings with any third
party or any Governmental Entity (including any national securities exchange) with respect thereto and none of
the Parties or their Affiliates shall issue any such press release or public announcement prior to obtaining the other
Parties’ consent (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed), except that no such consent for
any press release, public announcement or filing shall be required to the extent (i) required by applicable Law or
by obligations pursuant to any listing agreement with or rules of any national securities exchange or the NASDAQ
or NYSE national securities exchange or (ii) such press release or public statement in the good faith judgment of
the applicable Party is consistent with prior press releases issued or public statements made in compliance with
this Section 4.05.
Section 4.06 Expenses. Except as provided otherwise in this Agreement, including Article VI, all fees,
costs and expenses incurred in connection with this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby shall be
paid by the Party incurring such fees, costs or expenses, whether or not the Closing occurs. Without limiting the
foregoing or any other provision in this Agreement, (i) the Seller and the Purchaser shall each be responsible for,
and pay, fifty percent (50%) of the fees incurred in connection with the filings required under the HSR Act, and
(ii) the Purchaser will be responsible for, and pay, one hundred percent (100%) of the fees incurred in connection
with the filings required under the Health Regulatory Laws.
Section 4.07 Indemnification, Exculpation and Insurance.
(a)
From and after the Closing Date until six (6) years from the Closing Date, the Purchaser
shall or shall cause each Transferred Entity to indemnify, defend and hold harmless to the fullest extent permitted
under Law, the individuals or entities who on or prior to the Closing Date were directors, officers, managers or
general or limited partners of any Transferred Entities with respect to all D&O Expenses and all losses, claims,
damages, penalties, Taxes, interest, fines, judgements or amounts paid in settlement (collectively, “D&O Costs”)
related to any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or proceeding arising out of any acts or omissions by
them in their capacities as such or taken at the request of such Transferred Entity at any time on or prior to the
Closing Date against all expenses (including attorneys’ fees) by such individual or entity in connection with
investigating, defending, being a witness in or participating in (including on appeal), or preparing to defend, to be
a witness in or participate in any such action, suit or proceeding (collectively, “D&O Expenses”). In addition, the
Purchaser shall or shall cause each Transferred Entity to pay or reimburse any D&O Expenses of any officers,
directors or general or limited partners entitled to indemnification hereunder in advance of the final disposition of
such action, suit or proceeding to the fullest extent permitted under applicable Law, provided that the
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person or entity to whom D&O Expenses are advanced provides an undertaking to repay such advances to the
extent required by applicable Law.
(b)
The Organizational Documents of each of the Transferred Entities shall not be amended,
repealed or otherwise modified for a period of six (6) years from the Closing Date in any manner that would
adversely affect the rights thereunder of individuals or entities who at or at any time prior to the Closing Date
were directors, officers, managers, general or limited partners, agents or employees of such Transferred Entity or
otherwise entitled to indemnification pursuant to applicable Law or such Transferred Entity’s Organizational
Documents.
(c)
The provisions of this Section 4.07 are intended to be for the benefit of, and shall be
enforceable by, each Person entitled to indemnification under this Section 4.07, his, her, or its heirs or successors
in interest (as applicable) and his, her or its Representatives (as applicable) and are in addition to, and not in
substitution for, any other rights to indemnification or contribution that any such Person may have by contract or
otherwise.
(d)
Prior to the Closing, the Purchaser shall purchase and maintain in effect beginning at the
Closing Date and pay for a period of six (6) years thereafter without any lapses in coverage, a “tail” policy
providing directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for the benefit of those Persons who are covered by
any Transferred Entity’s directors’ and officers’ liability insurance policies as of the date hereof or at the Closing
Date with respect to matters occurring prior to the Closing Date. Such policy shall provide coverage that is at
least equal to the coverage provided under the Transferred Entities’ current director’s and officer’s liability
insurance policies.
Section 4.08 Seller Names and Marks.
(a)
Except as set forth in this Section 4.08, from and after the Closing, the Purchaser shall not
use, or permit any of its Affiliates to use, any of the Seller Names and Marks in the operation or ownership of the
Transferred Assets or Transferred Entities (including the MCC Business) and the Purchaser shall, as soon as
practicable, and in any event within three (3) months following the Closing Date, remove, strike over or otherwise
obliterate all of the Seller Names and Marks from all materials, including signage, vehicles, facilities, business
cards, schedules, stationery, packaging materials, displays, promotional materials, manuals, forms, software or
other materials; provided, however, that the Seller shall extend such time period for up to an additional thirty (30)
days upon the reasonable request of the Purchaser. However, for clarity, the foregoing sentence does not require
the Purchaser or its Affiliates to remove any the Seller Names and Marks solely to the extent they are included as
of the Closing Date in any source code, internal programmer help files, internal build materials, or internal
product development materials included in the Transferred Assets to the extent not publicly
displayed. Furthermore, without limiting either Party’s obligations regarding confidentiality, public statements or
other matters under this Agreement, this Section 4.08 shall not be construed to prohibit the Purchaser or its
Affiliates from referring to the Seller Names and Marks in factual descriptions of the Seller’s prior ownership of
the MCC Business for historical or informational purposes, provided, that, such marks are not used as a
Trademark. From and after the Closing until such removal occurs (and in any event no later three (3) months
following the Closing Date, subject to extension), subject to the terms and conditions hereof, the Seller hereby
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assignable and non-sublicensable, non-exclusive license to use the Seller Names and Marks used in the MCC
Business solely in connection with transitioning to new names and marks in accordance with this Section
4.08. Any use by the Purchaser or any of its Affiliates of any of the Seller Names and Marks used in the MCC
Business as permitted in this Section 4.08 is subject to their use of such Seller Names and Marks in a form and
manner, and with standards of quality, of that in effect for the Seller Names and Marks as used in the MCC
Business as of the Closing Date. The Purchaser and its Affiliates shall not use such Seller Names and Marks in a
manner that may reflect negatively on such name and marks or on the Seller or its Affiliates.
(b)
The license granted under this Section 4.08 may be terminated by written notice if the
Purchaser or any of its Affiliates materially breaches this Section 4.08 and does not cure such breach within ten
(10) days after written notice thereof from the Seller. Upon such termination of the license granted hereunder, and
in any event upon the date that is six (6) months after the Closing Date, the Purchaser shall not use, and shall
cause its Affiliates not to use, any of the Seller Names and Marks.
Section 4.09 Insurance. From and after the Closing, (i) the Transferred Entities, the MCC Business, the
Transferred Assets and the Assumed Liabilities, and the operations, assets and Liabilities in respect thereof, shall
cease to be insured by any of the Seller’s or its Affiliates’ insurance policies or by any of their self-insured
programs, and (ii) neither the Purchaser nor any of its Affiliates (including, for the avoidance of doubt, the
Transferred Entities) shall have any access, right, title or interest in or to any such insurance policies or selfinsured programs (including to all claims and rights to make claims and all rights to proceeds) to cover the MCC
Business, the Transferred Assets or the Assumed Liabilities, or the operations, assets or Liabilities in respect
thereof. From and after the Closing, the Purchaser shall be responsible for securing all insurance it considers
appropriate for the MCC Business, the Transferred Assets and the Assumed Liabilities, and the operations, assets
and Liabilities in respect thereof. Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the extent recovery is permissible on the face
of the Seller’s insurance policies, the Seller agrees to use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to cooperate with the
Purchaser to seek recovery under the Seller’s insurance policies for the benefit of the Purchaser and its Affiliates
(including, for the avoidance of doubt, the Transferred Entities) for Losses incurred by the Purchaser and its
Affiliates (including, for the avoidance of doubt, a Transferred Entity) following the Closing in accordance with
the Purchaser’s subrogation rights under Section 2.06; provided, that, such cooperation shall be further limited to
matters that the Seller reported under its insurance policies prior to the Closing, that were subsequently accepted
by the insurance carrier(s), and for which coverage is not available to the Transferred Entities under similar
policies or programs which have been obtained by the Purchaser.
Section 4.10 Post-Closing Transfers.
(a)
If at any time following the Closing, any Party (or any Affiliate of such Party) shall receive
or otherwise possess any asset or Liability that is allocated to the other Party pursuant to this Agreement or any
Ancillary Agreement, such Party shall (or shall cause its Affiliate to) (the “Transferor Party”) reasonably promptly
transfer, or cause to be transferred, such asset (each, a “Non-Transferred Asset”) or liability (each, a “NonTransferred Liability”), as the case may be, to the other Party (or to such Party’s Affiliate) (the “Transferee Party”)
entitled to such Non-Transferred Asset or responsible for such Non-Transferred Liability, as the case may be,
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and the Transferee Party entitled to such Non-Transferred Asset or responsible for such Non-Transferred Liability
shall accept such Non-Transferred Asset or accept, assume and agree faithfully to perform or discharge such NonTransferred Liability, as applicable. If any transfer or assignment of any Non-Transferred Asset under this Section
4.10 is unable to be consummated promptly for any reason, then, insofar as reasonably possible, the Transferor
Party retaining such Non-Transferred Asset shall thereafter hold such Non-Transferred Asset for the use and
benefit of the Transferee Party entitled thereto. In addition, the Transferor Party retaining such Non-Transferred
Asset shall, insofar as reasonably possible and to the extent permitted by Law, take such actions as may be
reasonably requested by the Transferee Party to whom such Non-Transferred Asset is to be transferred or
assigned, in order to place such Transferee Party in a substantially similar position as if such Non-Transferred
Asset had been transferred as contemplated hereby and so that all the benefits and burdens relating to such NonTransferred Asset, including use, risk of loss, Tax costs, potential for gain, and dominion, control and command
over such Non-Transferred Asset, is to inure from and after the Closing to the Transferee Party. The reasonable
out-of-pocket costs and expenses associated with any such transfers or assignments of Non-Transferred Assets or
assumption of Non-Transferred Liabilities, including reasonable attorneys’ fees and all recording or similar fees,
shall be borne by the Party that would have been responsible for such costs and expenses if the transfer,
assignment or assumption had occurred at or prior to the Closing. This Section 4.10 shall not apply with respect
to any Non-Assignable Asset.
(b)
At the request of the Purchaser, the Seller shall, or shall cause its Subsidiaries to
electronically transfer any of the Transferred Assets (including any software) that can be transmitted
electronically, without incurring additional cost and expense or any disruption or interference to the Seller or any
of its Subsidiaries, to the Purchaser promptly following the Closing. If the Purchaser is able to electronically
transfer any such Transferred Assets following a request from the Purchaser, the Seller shall not deliver, and shall
ensure that none of the Seller’s Subsidiaries or any of its or their respective Representatives delivers, any such
Transferred Asset to the Purchaser on any tangible medium.
Section 4.11 No Financing Contingencies. The Parties acknowledge and agree that neither the obtaining
nor the availability or funding of any financing shall constitute a condition to the Purchaser’s obligation to timely
consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement as required hereby.
Section 4.12 Shared Contracts. With respect to the Shared Contracts, the Seller, the Purchaser and their
respective Affiliates shall be entitled to continue to derive benefits, and required to assume any obligations and
economic burdens attributable to such benefits, following the Closing in accordance with the terms of this Section
4.12. From the date hereof until the date that is twelve (12) months after the Closing Date, the Parties and their
Affiliates shall use their Commercially Reasonable Efforts to enter into or to grant, and to cause each third party
counterparty to a Shared Contract to enter into or to grant, any such new agreements or consents as are reasonably
necessary to permit the Seller and its Affiliates or the Purchaser and its Affiliates (including the Transferred
Entities) to derive such benefits, and assume such obligations and economic burdens, on an independent basis
following the Closing; provided, that, none of the Seller, the Purchaser or any of their respective Affiliates shall
be required to offer or grant any financial or nonfinancial accommodation in connection therewith that the
granting Party in its
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reasonable judgement determines would be material. If, on the Closing Date, any such third party agreement or
consent is not obtained, the Seller and the Purchaser shall cooperate in a mutually acceptable arrangement under
which the Seller and its Affiliates or the Purchaser and its Affiliates (including the Transferred Entities) would, in
compliance with Law, obtain the appropriate benefits and assume the related obligations and bear the related
economic burdens in respect of such Shared Contracts, including by means of subcontracting, sublicensing or
subleasing arrangements, or enforcement by the party to such Shared Contract for the benefit (and at the expense)
of the other Party or any of its Affiliates (as applicable) that is an intended beneficiary thereof pursuant to this
Section 4.12.
Section 4.13 Termination of Affiliate Contracts. Except for this Agreement, any Ancillary Agreement
or as set forth on Section 4.13 of the Seller Disclosure Letter, at or prior to the Closing, the Seller shall terminate,
or cause to be terminated, all Affiliate Contracts and shall cause each Transferred Entity to be released from all
covenants, agreements, liabilities and obligations under such Affiliate Contracts, whether arising prior to, at or
after the Closing, in each case, to be effective at or prior to the Closing; provided, that, for the avoidance of
doubt, no such releases shall be effective with respect to this Agreement, the Ancillary Agreements or any
Affiliate Contract set forth on Section 4.13 of the Seller Disclosure Letter.
Section 4.14 Intercompany Arrangements.
(a)
All intercompany (payables and receivables) accounts between the Seller or any of its
Subsidiaries (including the Transferred Entities), on the one hand, and any Non-RBC Entity, on the other hand,
shall be settled by means of a deemed distribution (in the case of any net receivable held by any such Transferred
Entity) or a deemed contribution (in the case of any net payable held by any such Transferred Entity) to or from
such entity’s parent without the need for any further documentation, immediately prior to the Closing.
(b)
All intercompany (payables and receivables) accounts between the Seller or any of its
Subsidiaries (other than the Transferred Entities), on the one hand, and any RBC Entity, on the other hand, shall
be settled in accordance with the Reference Adjusted Statutory Capital Schedule.
(c)
All intercompany (payables and receivables) accounts between the Seller or any of its
Subsidiaries (other than the Transferred Entities), on the one hand, and SWH MA, on the other hand, shall be
settled in accordance with the Insolvency Protection Reserve Requirement Capital Schedule.
(d)
For the avoidance of doubt, none of the actions contemplated by this Section 4.14 will
release or otherwise eliminate any claims or benefits under any Affiliate Contract set forth on Section 4.13 of the
Seller Disclosure Letter relating to breach of such Agreement by an Affiliate of any Transferred Entity.
Section 4.15
Guarantees; Other Obligations. At or before the Closing, the Purchaser shall use its
reasonable best efforts, and the Seller and its Affiliates shall cooperate with the Purchaser, to (a) arrange for
substitute letters of credit, surety bonds, guarantees of the Purchaser and other obligations to replace (i) the Seller
Guarantees set forth on Section 3.01(n)(xii) of the
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Disclosure Letter and (ii) any Seller Guarantees entered into in accordance with Section 4.01(a)(xi) (collectively,
the “Approved Seller Guarantees”) or (b) assume all obligations under each Approved Seller Guarantee, obtaining
from the creditor, beneficiary or other counterparty a full release (in a form satisfactory to the Seller) of all parties
liable, directly or indirectly, for reimbursement to the creditor or fulfillment of other obligations to a beneficiary
or counterparty in connection with amounts drawn under the Approved Seller Guarantees. To the extent the
beneficiary or counterparty under any Approved Seller Guarantees does not accept any such substitute letter of
credit, guarantee of the Purchaser or other obligation proffered by the Purchaser, the Purchaser shall
(x) indemnify, defend and hold harmless the Seller and its Affiliates, and reimburse the Seller and its Affiliates
for, all amounts paid (including costs or expenses) in connection with such Approved Seller Guarantee, including
the Seller’s and its Affiliates’ expenses in maintaining such Approved Seller Guarantees, whether or not any such
Approved Seller Guarantee is drawn upon or required to be performed, and shall in any event promptly reimburse
the Seller and its Affiliates to the extent any Approved Seller Guarantee is called upon and any of the Seller or its
Affiliates makes any payment or is obligated to reimburse the party issuing the Approved Seller Guarantee and (y)
not without the Seller’s prior written consent, amend in any manner adverse to the Seller or any of its Affiliates, or
extend (or permit the extension of), any Approved Seller Guarantee or any obligation supported by any Approved
Seller Guarantee. At the request of the Seller, and at any time any of the Seller’s or its Affiliate’s obligations
under any Approved Seller Guarantee have not been irrevocably released, the Purchaser shall provide the Seller
Parties and their Affiliates with letters of credit or a surety bond(s), issued by an issuer reasonably acceptable to
the Seller, in an amount equal to the Seller’s and their Affiliates’ entire potential liability pursuant to the
immediately preceding sentence. Any such letter of credit, guarantee, performance bond or other financial
assurance obligation shall not expire, terminate or be cancelled until the Seller and its Affiliates are irrevocably
and unconditionally fully released from the entire potential liability with respect to all Approved Seller
Guarantees.
Section 4.16 Non-Solicitation; Non-Competition.
(a)
For the period from the Closing Date through the twelve (12) month anniversary of the
Closing Date, (i) the Purchaser shall not, directly or indirectly, solicit, induce or attempt to influence any director,
officer or senior executive to terminate his or her employment relationship with the Seller or any of its Affiliates
and (ii) the Seller shall not, directly or indirectly, solicit, induce or attempt to influence any director, officer or
senior executive to terminate his or her employment relationship with the Purchaser or its Affiliates, including the
Transferred Entities; provided, however, that this Section 4.16(a) shall not prohibit (i) any advertisement or
general solicitation that is not specifically targeted at the Persons covered by this Section 4.16(a) or (ii) the
solicitation of any such Persons covered by this Section 4.16(a) whose employment with a Party terminates after
the Closing without cause and at least six (6) months prior to the initiation of any employment discussions with
the other Party or its Affiliates.
(b)
For the period from the Closing Date through the twelve (12) month anniversary of the
Closing Date, the Seller and its Subsidiaries shall not, directly or indirectly, engage in the business of contracting
with state Medicaid agencies and CMS to manage, on either a risk-based or non-risk based basis, total medical
benefits (including acute and primary care services managed on a combined basis with pharmacy and/or
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term support services for Medicaid (both mandatory and optional) and dual eligible Medicaid and Medicare
populations. Further, for the avoidance of doubt, this Section 4.16(b) shall not prohibit the Seller or its
Subsidiaries from engaging in the activities described in the last sentence of the definition of MCC Business or
any activities contemplated by the Commercial Agreements. Nothing herein shall prohibit any Person from
(i) being a passive owner of not more than five percent (5%) of the outstanding stock of any class of a corporation
which is publicly traded, so long as such Person has no active participation in the business of such corporation or
(ii) engaging in any line of business or holding any interests in any Person that such Person engages in or holds as
of immediately prior to the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby.
Section 4.17 Disclosure Updates. At any time up to ten (10) Business Days prior to the Closing Date,
the Seller shall have the right to supplement or amend the Seller Disclosure Letter (each, a “Schedule Update”) to
the extent that the Seller becomes aware of any matter arising between the date of this Agreement and the Closing
Date which, if existing or occurring at the date of this Agreement, (i) would constitute a breach of a representation
or warranty set forth in Section 3.01, or (ii) would have been required to be set forth or described in the Seller
Disclosure Letter or is otherwise necessary to correct any information in the Seller Disclosure Letter that has been
rendered inaccurate thereby. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Schedule Updates will not impact (i) any Purchaser
Indemnified Party’s right to make claims under Section 2.06 or (ii) the satisfaction of the conditions set forth in
Article V.
Section 4.18 Commercial Agreements. From the date of this Agreement through the Closing Date, the
Parties shall negotiate in good faith to finalize the Commercial Agreements, each consistent with the terms of the
applicable Letter Agreement, so that such agreements are effective as of the Closing Date.
Section 4.19 Transition Services Schedule. No less than sixty (60) days prior to the Closing Date, the
Purchaser may, on written notice to the Seller, remove (i) any Services set forth on Schedule 2.1(a) of the
Transition Services Agreement, in whole but not in part, and (ii) solely with respect to Information Technology
Services, all Recipient Entities except for Florida MHS, Inc. (“MCC Florida”) from Schedule 2.1(a) of the
Transition Services Agreement, in each case (i) and (ii), with corresponding fee reductions for the fees allocated in
such schedule to the removed Services and Recipient Entities, as applicable. Any removal of Services in
accordance with the immediately preceding sentence will be subject to the restrictions set forth in the Transition
Services Agreement regarding Dependent Services, and such removed Services shall be deemed and included as
Excluded Services under the Transition Services Agreement. Prior to the Closing, the Purchaser and the Seller
shall: (x) mutually agree to and set forth in Schedule 2.1(a) of the Transition Services Agreement (i) the form and
content of reports to be delivered by the Service Provider for MCC Florida and (ii) cybersecurity Service
Standards for the Services and related Systems used to deliver the Services (which Service Standards shall, at a
minimum, meet and be consistent with Industry Standards); and (y) work collaboratively to (i) complete the
Purchaser’s standard security assessment questionnaire for the Services and related Systems and (ii) finalize the
related security provisions in the Transition Services Agreement. Any capitalized terms used but not defined in
this Section 4.19 shall have meaning set forth in the draft Transition Services Agreement attached as an exhibit
hereto.
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Section 4.20 R&W Policy Matters. The Seller shall use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to assist the
Purchaser in obtaining a buy-side representation and warranty insurance policy in respect of the representations
and warranties contained in this Agreement or in any certificate or other instrument contemplated by or delivered
in connection with this Agreement (such policy, a “R&W Policy”). All premiums, underwriting fees, brokers’
commissions and other costs and expenses related to procuring such R&W Policy shall be borne solely by the
Purchaser. The Parties acknowledge and agree that obtaining and binding the R&W Policy shall not be a
condition to the obligations of any Party to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby. After binding and
prior to the Closing, the Purchaser shall not amend or modify the R&W Policy in a manner adverse to the Seller
without the prior consent of the Seller (not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed).
ARTICLE V
CONDITIONS PRECEDENT
Section 5.01 Conditions to Each Party’s Obligation to Effect the Transactions. The obligation of each
Party to effect the Closing is subject to the satisfaction or waiver (by such Party) at or prior to the Closing of the
following conditions:
(a)
Antitrust. The waiting period (and any extension of such period) under the HSR Act shall
have expired or been earlier terminated (the “HSR Clearance”).
(b)
Health Regulatory Law Authorizations. The consents, authorizations, orders, permits and
approvals set forth on Section 5.01(b) of the Seller Disclosure Letter shall have been filed, occurred or been
obtained.
(c)
No Legal Restraints. No Governmental Entity of competent jurisdiction shall have enacted,
issued, promulgated, enforced or entered any Law or Order (whether temporary, preliminary or permanent) that is
in effect and restrains, enjoins or otherwise prohibits the consummation of the transactions on the terms
contemplated by this Agreement (any such Law or Order, a “Legal Restraint”).
Section 5.02 Conditions to Obligations of the Seller. The obligation of the Seller to effect the Closing is
further subject to the satisfaction or waiver (by the Seller) at or prior to the Closing of the following conditions:
(a)
Representations and Warranties. (i) The representations and warranties of the Purchaser in
this Agreement (other than the Fundamental Representations of the Purchaser) shall be true and correct (without
giving effect to any limitation as to “materiality” or “Purchaser Material Adverse Effect” set forth therein) at and
as of the Closing Date as if made at and as of such date (except to the extent any such representation or warranty
is expressly made as of an earlier date or time, in which case as of such earlier date or time), except where the
failure of such representations and warranties to be true and correct, would not individually or in the aggregate,
reasonably be expected to result in a Purchaser Material Adverse Effect, and (ii) the Fundamental Representations
of the Purchaser shall be true and correct (without giving effect to any limitation as to “materiality” or “Purchaser
Material Adverse Effect” set forth therein) in all material respects at and as of the Closing Date as if made at and
as of such date (except to the extent any such
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representation or warranty is expressly made as of an earlier date or time, in which case as of such earlier date or
time).
(b)
Performance of Covenants and Agreements of the Purchaser. The Purchaser shall have
performed in all material respects all covenants and obligations required to be performed and complied by them
under this Agreement at or prior to the Closing.
(c)
Officer’s Certificate. The Seller shall have received a certificate signed on behalf of the
Purchaser by an executive officer of the Purchaser certifying the satisfaction by the Purchaser of the conditions set
forth in Section 5.02(a) and Section 5.02(b).
(d)
1.06(b) to the Seller.

Deliverables. The Purchaser shall have delivered each of the items set forth in Section

Section 5.03 Conditions to Obligations of the Purchaser. The obligation of the Purchaser to effect the
Closing is further subject to the satisfaction or waiver (by the Purchaser) at or prior to the Closing of the following
conditions:
(a)
Representations and Warranties of the Seller. (i) The representations and warranties of the
Seller in this Agreement (other than the Fundamental Representations of the Seller) shall be true and correct
(without giving effect to any limitation as to “materiality” or “Material Adverse Effect” set forth therein) at and as
of the Closing Date as if made at and as of such date (except to the extent any such representation or warranty is
expressly made as of an earlier date or time, in which case as of such earlier date or time), except where the failure
of such representations and warranties to be true and correct, would not reasonably be expected to result in,
individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect and (ii) the Fundamental Representations of the Seller
shall be true and correct (without giving effect to any limitation as to “materiality” or “Material Adverse Effect”
set forth therein) in all material respects at and as of the Closing Date as if made at and as of such date (except to
the extent any such representation or warranty is expressly made as of an earlier date or time, in which case as of
such earlier date or time).
(b)
Performance of Covenants and Agreements of the Seller. The Seller shall have performed
in all material respects all covenants and obligations required to be performed or complied with by it under this
Agreement at or prior to the Closing.
(c)
Absence of Material Adverse Effect. Since the date of this Agreement, no Material
Adverse Effect shall have occurred and be continuing.
(d)
Officer’s Certificates. The Purchaser shall have received a certificate signed on behalf of
the Seller by an executive officer of the Seller certifying the satisfaction by the Seller of the conditions set forth in
Section 5.03(a) and Section 5.03(b).
(e)
to the Purchaser.

Deliverables. The Seller shall have delivered each of the items set forth in Section 1.06(a)

-65-

ARTICLE VI
TERMINATION
Section 6.01 Termination Rights; Termination Procedure.
(a)
Termination by Mutual Agreement. The Seller and the Purchaser shall have the right to
terminate this Agreement at any time prior to the Closing by mutual written agreement.
(b)
Termination by Either the Seller or the Purchaser. Each Party shall have the right to
terminate this Agreement, at any time prior to the Closing, if:
(i)
the Closing shall not have occurred by the six (6) month anniversary of the date of
this Agreement (the “Termination Date”); provided, that, the right to terminate this Agreement under this Section
6.01(b)(i) shall not be available to any Party that has breached in any material respect its obligations under this
Agreement in any manner that shall have proximately caused the failure of the Closing to be consummated prior
to the Termination Date; provided, further, that the Termination Date may be extended by either Party, in its
respective sole discretion, on one or more occasions (A) for up to a total of an additional ninety (90) days if on the
Termination Date (or any subsequent date to which the Termination Date has been extended that is fewer than
ninety (90) days after the Termination Date) the conditions set forth in Section 5.01(a) or Section 5.01(b) are not
satisfied or waived but all other conditions to Closing have been satisfied or waived (or, in the case of conditions
that by their nature are to be satisfied at the Closing or on the Closing Date, are reasonably capable of being
satisfied on such date), (B) for up to a total of an additional ninety (90) days if the Termination Date has been
extended for a total of an additional ninety (90) days pursuant to Section 6.01(b)(i)(A) and the conditions set forth
in Section 5.01(a) or Section 5.01(b) remain unsatisfied as of the end of such ninety (90) day period, but all other
conditions to Closing have been satisfied or waived (or, in the case of conditions that by their nature are to be
satisfied at the Closing or on the Closing Date, are reasonably capable of being satisfied on such date) and neither
the Seller nor the Purchaser have in good faith identified any material issue that would lead either to reasonably
believe that the conditions set forth in Section 5.01(a) or Section 5.01(b) would not be satisfied if the Termination
Date was extended for an additional ninety (90) days and (C) for up to a total of an additional ninety (90) days if
the Termination Date has been extended for a total of an additional ninety (90) days pursuant to Section 6.01(b)(i)
(B) and the conditions set forth in Section 5.01(a) or Section 5.01(b) remain unsatisfied as of the end of such
ninety (90) day period, but all other conditions to Closing have been satisfied or waived (or, in the case of
conditions that by their nature are to be satisfied at the Closing or on the Closing Date, are reasonably capable of
being satisfied on such date) and neither the Seller nor the Purchaser have in good faith identified any material
issue that would lead either to reasonably believe that the conditions set forth in Section 5.01(a) or Section 5.01(b)
would not be satisfied if the Termination Date was extended for an additional ninety (90) days; or
(ii)

any Legal Restraint shall become final and non-appealable.

(c)
Termination by the Seller. The Seller shall have the right to terminate this Agreement, at
any time prior to the Closing, if:
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(i)
there has been a breach of any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement
made by the Purchaser in this Agreement, or any representation and warranty shall have become untrue after the
date of this Agreement, such that Section 5.02(a) or Section 5.02(b) would not be satisfied and such breach or
failure to be true is not curable or, if curable, is not cured prior to the earlier of (A) thirty (30) days following
notice to the Purchaser from the Seller of such breach or failure and (B) the Termination Date; provided, that, the
Seller shall not have the right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 6.01(c)(i) if the Seller is then in
material breach of any of its representations, warranties, covenants or agreements under this Agreement; or
(ii)
if (A) the conditions to Closing set forth in Section 5.01 and Section 5.02 have been
satisfied or waived (other than those conditions that, by their terms, are to be satisfied at Closing; provided, that,
those conditions would have been satisfied if the Closing were to occur on such date), (B) the Purchaser fails to
consummate the Closing within two (2) Business Days of the date the Closing should have occurred pursuant to
Section 1.05, (C) the Seller has confirmed by written notice to the Purchaser that it is ready, willing and able to
consummate the Closing on the date of such written notice and throughout the immediately subsequent three (3)
Business Day period and (D) the Purchaser fails to consummate the Closing within three (3) Business Days
following receipt of such written notice.
(d)
Termination by the Purchaser. The Purchaser shall have the right to terminate this
Agreement, at any time prior to the Closing, if:
(i)
there has been a breach of any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement
made by the Seller in this Agreement, or any such representation and warranty shall have become untrue after the
date of this Agreement, such that Section 5.03(a) or Section 5.03(b) would not be satisfied and such breach or
failure to be true is not curable or, if curable, is not cured prior to the earlier of (A) thirty (30) days following
written notice to the Seller from the Purchaser of such breach or failure and (B) the Termination Date; provided,
that, the Purchaser shall not have the right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 6.01(d) if the
Purchaser is then in material breach of any of its representations, warranties, covenants or agreements under this
Agreement; or
(ii)
if (A) the conditions to Closing set forth in Section 5.01 and Section 5.03 have been
satisfied or waived (other than those conditions that, by their terms, are to be satisfied at Closing; provided, that,
those conditions would have been satisfied if the Closing were to occur on such date), (B) the Seller fails to
consummate the Closing within two (2) Business Days of the date the Closing should have occurred pursuant to
Section 1.05, (C) the Purchaser has confirmed by written notice to the Seller that it is ready, willing and able to
consummate the Closing on the date of such written notice and throughout the immediately subsequent three (3)
Business Day period and (D) the Seller fails to consummate the Closing within three (3) Business Days following
receipt of such written notice.
(e)
Termination Procedure. This Agreement may be terminated only pursuant to Section
6.01(a) - (d). In order to terminate this Agreement pursuant to Section 6.01(a) - (d), the Party desiring to
terminate this Agreement shall give written notice of such termination to the other Parties in accordance with
Section 9.03, specifying the provision of this Agreement pursuant to which such termination is affected.
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Section 6.02 Effect of Termination and Abandonment. In the event of termination of this Agreement
pursuant to Section 6.01, this Agreement shall immediately become void and have no effect without any liability
or obligation on the part of the Seller or the Purchaser (or any stockholder, Affiliate or Representative thereof),
whether arising before or after such termination, based on, arising out of or relating to this Agreement or the
negotiation, execution, performance or subject matter of this Agreement (whether in contract or in tort or
otherwise, or whether at law (including at common law or by statute) or in equity); provided, however, that in the
event of a valid termination pursuant to Section 6.01, nothing in this Agreement shall relieve any Party from
liability for any Willful Breach of this Agreement prior to such termination.
ARTICLE VII
TAX MATTERS
Section 7.01 MCC of Virginia. The Parties shall treat the transfer of the Transferred Equity Interests of
Magellan Complete Care of Virginia LLC (“MCC of Virginia”) under this Agreement as an “applicable asset
acquisition” of the assets of MCC of Virginia within the meaning of Section 1060 of the Code (and similar
provisions of state and local Law) and neither the Seller nor the Purchaser shall, nor shall they permit their
respective Affiliates to, file any Tax Return or other document with, or make any statement or declaration to,
any Taxing Authority that is inconsistent with such treatment, except (x) pursuant to Section 7.07(d) with
respect to the Section 338(h)(10) Election with respect to the Transferred Equity Interests of MCC of Virginia,
which the Parties shall treat as a protective election or (y) as otherwise required by a final determination within
the meaning of Section 1313(a) of the Code.
Section 7.02 Tax Returns.
(a)
The Seller, at the Seller’s sole expense, shall prepare and timely file, or shall cause to be
prepared and timely filed, (i) all combined, consolidated or unitary income Tax Returns that include the Seller or
any of its Affiliates (other than the Transferred Entities), on the one hand, and any of the Transferred Entities, on
the other hand, (“Combined Income Tax Returns”), (ii) except as provided below, all Tax Returns (other than
Combined Income Tax Returns) required to be filed by or with respect to the Transferred Entities and the
Transferred Assets for all Pre-Closing Tax Periods (other than any Straddle Period). Following the Closing, the
Purchaser or the Transferred Entities, as applicable, shall timely remit or cause to be timely remitted all Taxes
shown as due on all such non-Income Tax Returns filed after the Closing. The Seller shall timely remit, or cause
to be timely remitted, all Taxes shown as due on all such Income Tax Returns. If any position reflected on any
Tax Return of a Transferred Entity for Pre-Closing Tax Periods (other than any Straddle Period) could reasonably
be expected to affect the Tax liability of the Purchaser (with respect to the Transferred Entities) or the Transferred
Entities in any Post-Closing Tax Period, the Seller shall provide to the Purchaser a copy of such Tax Return or an
applicable pro forma statement (and any other information in the possession of the Seller reasonably requested by
the Purchaser relevant for determining the impact on the Tax liability of the Purchaser (with respect to the
Transferred Entities) and the Transferred Entities in any Post-Closing Tax Period of such Tax Return) for the
Purchaser’s review, and the Seller shall consider in good faith any reasonable comments made by the Purchaser
with respect to such Tax Return or pro forma statements within ten (10) Business Days of receipt thereof. The
Purchaser shall timely file or cause to be timely filed all such non-Income Tax Returns referred to in clause (ii)
above that are due to be filed by
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the Transferred Entities following the Closing within five (5) Business Days of receipt of such Tax Returns from
the Seller. The Purchaser and the Seller shall reconcile amounts paid by the Purchaser pursuant to this Section
7.02(a) every six (6) months commencing on the first six (6)-month anniversary of the Closing Date and
continuing thereafter until six (6) months following the filing of the last non-Income Tax Return pursuant to this
Section 7.02. In the event the amount of non-Income Taxes that are accrued or otherwise reflected in the
calculation of the Post-Closing Adjustment in accordance with Section 1.10 exceeds the cumulative amount
remitted by the Purchaser, the Purchaser shall promptly pay such excess to the Seller. If the cumulative amount
remitted exceeds the amount of non-Income Taxes that are accrued or otherwise reflected in the calculation of the
Post-Closing Adjustment in accordance with Section 1.10, the Seller shall promptly pay such excess to the
Purchaser.
(b)
The Purchaser shall promptly provide (or cause to be provided) to the Seller, in accordance
with Section 7.04(a), any information related to the Transferred Entities, the Transferred Assets, the Assumed
Liabilities or the MCC Business in the possession of the Purchaser reasonably requested by the Seller to facilitate
the preparation and filing of any Tax Returns described in Section 7.02(a), if the Seller does not otherwise have
access to the underlying books and records necessary to prepare such information.
(c)
For purposes of apportioning Taxes in connection with any Straddle Period, (i) in the case
of Taxes based upon or related to income, payroll, sales, premiums or receipts, the amount of any such Taxes
allocable to the portion of the Straddle Period ending on the Closing Date shall be determined based on an interim
closing of the books as of the close of business on the Closing Date, and (ii) in the case of Taxes other than Taxes
described in clause (i), the amount of such Taxes allocable to the portion of the Straddle Period ending on the
Closing Date shall be the product of (x) the amount of such Taxes for the entire period and (y) a fraction the
numerator of which is the number of calendar days in the period ending on and including the Closing Date and the
denominator of which is the number of calendar days in the entire period.
(d)
The Purchaser, at the Purchaser’s sole expense, shall prepare and timely file, or shall cause
to be prepared and timely filed all Straddle Period Tax Returns of the Transferred Entities and all Straddle Period
Tax Returns relating solely to the Transferred Assets (other than those filed by the Seller pursuant to Section
7.02(a)) and shall timely remit, or cause to be timely remitted, all Taxes due in respect of such Tax Returns. Not
later than fifteen (15) Business Days prior to the due date (taking into account any extensions validly obtained) for
the filing of any Tax Return required to be filed by the Purchaser under this Section 7.02(d), the Purchaser shall
provide to the Seller a copy of such Tax Return or an applicable pro forma statement (and any other information in
the possession of the Purchaser reasonably requested by the Seller relevant for determining the amount of any PreClosing Taxes with respect to such Tax Return, if any) for the Seller’s review, and the Purchaser shall consider in
good faith any reasonable comments made by the Seller with respect to such Tax Return or pro forma statement
within ten (10) Business Days of receipt thereof. Not later than three (3) Business Days before the due date for
the payment of Taxes shown as due on any such Tax Returns, the Seller shall pay to the Purchaser an amount
equal to such Taxes, if any, reflected on the pro forma statements (as revised to reflect the Seller’s reasonable
comments to the extent described above), less the amount of any such non-Income Taxes that are accrued or
otherwise reflected in the calculation of the Post-Closing Adjustment in accordance with Section 1.10. In the
event the amount of non-Income Taxes that are accrued or
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otherwise reflected in the calculation of the Post-Closing Adjustment in accordance with Section 1.10 exceed the
amount reflected, the Purchaser shall promptly pay such excess to the Seller.
Section 7.03 Tax Contests.
(a)
If any Taxing Authority notifies the Purchaser or any of its Affiliates of a Tax Claim that
relates to Pre-Closing Taxes, then the Purchaser shall promptly provide written notice thereof to the Seller. Such
notice shall include a copy of the relevant portion of any correspondence received from the Taxing Authority.
(b)
The Seller shall have the sole right and obligation to control, at its own expense, any Tax
Claim relating solely to Tax Returns of the Transferred Entities for Pre-Closing Tax Periods (other than Straddle
Periods), Tax Returns relating to the Transferred Assets for Pre-Closing Tax Periods (other than Straddle Periods)
and Combined Income Tax Returns; provided, however, that with respect to any Tax Claim (other than any Tax
Claim relating to any Combined Income Tax Returns), the outcome of which could reasonably be expected to
increase the Tax liability of the Purchaser, any Transferred Entity or any of their Affiliates (other than as a result
of an issue being raised by a Taxing Authority which merely by the application of the same or similar principles
could be expected to result in a proposed deficiency for any Post-Closing Tax Period), the Seller shall provide
copies of material written correspondence between the Seller and the Taxing Authority relating to such Tax Claim
(subject to redaction of information unrelated to such Tax Claim).
(c)
The Purchaser shall have the sole right and obligation to control, at its own expense, any
Tax Claim relating solely to the Straddle Period Tax Returns of the Transferred Entities and the Straddle Period
Tax Returns relating solely to the Transferred Assets; provided, however, that with respect to any such Tax Claim
the outcome of which could reasonably be expected to increase the amount of Pre-Closing Taxes or Taxes that are
Excluded Liabilities (as described in Section 2.04(e)) other than as a result of an issue being raised by a Taxing
Authority which merely by the application of the same or similar principles could be expected to result in a
proposed deficiency for any subsequent taxable period, the Purchaser shall (i) provide copies of material written
correspondence between the Purchaser and the Taxing Authority relating to such Tax Claim (subject to redaction
of information unrelated to such Tax Claim) and (ii) not settle, compromise or abandon any such Tax Claim
without obtaining the prior written consent of the Seller, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld,
conditioned or delayed.
(d)
The Purchaser shall have the sole right and obligation to control, at its own expense, any
Tax Claim relating solely to Tax Returns of the Transferred Entities for Post-Closing Tax Periods (other than
Straddle Periods); provided, however, with respect to any such Tax Claim (other than any such Tax Claim
relating to any combined, consolidated or unitary income Tax Return) the outcome of which could reasonably be
expected to increase the amount of Pre-Closing Taxes or Taxes that are Excluded Liabilities (as described in
Section 2.04(e)) other than as a result of an issue being raised by a Taxing Authority which merely by the
application of the same or similar principles could be expected to result in a proposed deficiency for any PreClosing Tax Period, the Purchaser shall provide copies of material written correspondence between the Purchaser
and the Taxing Authority relating to such Tax Claim (subject to redaction of information unrelated to such Tax
Claim).
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(e)
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, (i) the Seller shall have the
exclusive right to control in all respects, and none of the Purchaser or any of its Affiliates shall be entitled to
participate in, any Tax Claim with respect to any Tax Return of the Seller or any of its Affiliates (other than the
Transferred Entities) that does not relate to the Transferred Assets, the Transferred Entities or the MCC Business
and the Seller shall not be required to provide any Person with any such Tax Return or copy thereof in respect of
such Tax Claim, and (ii) the Purchaser shall have the exclusive right to control in all respects, and none of the
Seller nor any of its Affiliates shall be entitled to participate in, any Tax Claim with respect to any Tax Return of
the Purchaser or any of its Affiliates (other than the Transferred Entities) that does not relate to the Transferred
Assets, the Transferred Entities or the MCC Business and the Purchaser shall not be required to provide any
Person with any such Tax Return or copy thereof in respect of such Tax Claim.
(f)
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, the provisions of this Section
7.03 shall apply to Third-Party Claims related to Taxes.
Section 7.04 Cooperation and Exchange of Information.
(a)
Not more than thirty (30) days following receipt of a request from a Party, the other Party
shall, and shall cause its Affiliates to, provide to the requesting Party a package of Tax information materials
within the possession of such other Party or its advisors, including schedules and work papers, requested by the
requesting Party to enable the requesting Party to prepare and file all Tax Returns required to be prepared and
filed by it pursuant to Section 7.02.
(b)
Each Party shall, and shall cause its Affiliates to, provide to the other Party such
cooperation, documentation and information as either of them reasonably may request in connection with (i) filing
any Tax Return (including Tax Returns required to be filed pursuant to Section 7.02(a)(ii)), amended Tax Return
or claim for refund, (ii) determining a liability for Taxes or an indemnity obligation under Section 2.06 or Section
7.10 or a right to a refund for Taxes or (iii) preparing for or conducting the defense of any Tax Claim.
(c)
Each Party shall retain all Tax Returns, schedules and work papers, and all material records
and other documents relating to Tax matters of the Transferred Entities (or with respect to the Transferred Assets,
the Assumed Liabilities and the MCC Business) for their respective taxable periods beginning before the Closing
Date until the later of (i) the expiration of the statute of limitations for the taxable periods to which the Tax
Returns and other documents relate and (ii) seven (7) years following the due date (without extension) for such
Tax Returns. Thereafter, the Party holding such Tax Returns or other documents may dispose of them unless the
other Party first provides reasonable notice that it intends to take possession of such Tax Returns and other
documents at such other Party’s expense. Each Party shall make its employees reasonably available on a mutually
convenient basis at its cost to provide explanation of any documents or information so provided.
Section 7.05 Tax Sharing Agreements. The Seller shall terminate or cause to be terminated, at or before
the Closing, all Tax sharing, allocation or indemnification agreements (other than this Agreement, any agreement
exclusively between or among the Transferred Entities or any agreement not primarily related to Taxes), if any, to
which any of the Transferred Entities,
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on the one hand, and any of the Non-MCC Entities, on the other hand, are parties, and none of the Transferred
Entities, or any of their respective Affiliates, shall have any rights or obligations thereunder after the Closing.
Section 7.06 Refunds . The Seller shall be entitled to all refunds of Pre-Closing Taxes or Taxes that are
Excluded Liabilities (as described in Section 2.04(e)) or credits in lieu of such refunds, except to the extent such
refunds or credits in lieu of such refunds are accrued as an asset in the calculation of the Post-Closing Adjustment
in accordance with Section 1.10. The Purchaser shall pay, or cause its Affiliates to pay, to the Seller the amount of
any such refunds or credits to which the Seller is entitled pursuant to the preceding sentence in readily available
funds within thirty (30) days of the actual receipt of the refund or credit or the application of such refund or credit,
in each case net of any reasonable, documented out-of-pocket costs (including Taxes) of the Purchaser or its
Affiliates incurred in connection with such refund or credit. To the extent permitted under applicable Law, all
such Tax refunds will be claimed in cash rather than as a credit against future Tax liabilities. Neither the
Purchaser nor any of its Affiliates shall carry back any item of loss, deduction or credit which arises in any PostClosing Tax Period to any Pre-Closing Tax Period. If any refund or credit paid over to the Seller pursuant to this
Section 7.06 is subsequently disallowed or recaptured in whole or in part, the Seller shall promptly return such
excess to the Purchaser; provided, that, in no event shall the Seller be obligated to return any amounts to the
Purchaser pursuant to this Section 7.06 in excess of the amounts it received from the Purchaser pursuant to this
Section 7.06. For the avoidance of doubt, this Section 7.06 shall not apply to reimbursements in connection with
ACA Insurer Taxes and any related Tax gross-ups.
Section 7.07 Post-Closing Actions and Elections.
(a)
Without the prior written consent of the Seller (which consent shall not be unreasonably
withheld, conditioned or delayed), the Purchaser shall not, and shall cause its Affiliates not to (i) amend, refile,
revoke or otherwise modify any Tax Return of the Transferred Entities relating to any Pre-Closing Taxes (ii)
voluntarily approach any Taxing Authority regarding Pre-Closing Taxes or (iii) except as otherwise contemplated
by this Agreement, take any action with respect to the MCC Business on the Closing Date after the Closing that is
outside the Ordinary Course of Business.
(b)
The Parties shall apply the “next day” rule of Treasury Regulation Section 1.1502-76(b)(1)
(ii)(B) (and similar provisions of state and local Law) with respect to any actions taken pursuant to Section 4.04(e)
on the Closing Date.
(c)
Except as otherwise provided in Section 7.07(d) and notwithstanding anything to the
contrary contained herein, the Purchaser shall not make, and shall cause its Affiliates (including the Transferred
Entities) not to make any election with respect to any Transferred Entity (including any election pursuant to
Section 338 of the Code or Treasury Regulation Section 301.7701-3), which election would be effective on or
prior to the Closing Date.
(d)
The Purchaser and the Seller shall jointly complete and make elections under Section
338(h)(10) of the Code with respect to the purchase and sale of the equity interests of MCC Florida, MCC
Arizona and MCC of Virginia, in each case on IRS Form 8023 or in such other manner as may be required by
Treasury Regulations, and shall jointly make comparable
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elections in the manner required under any analogous provisions of state or local Law concerning the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement (any such election under the Code or other Law, a “Section 338(h)(10)
Election”). The Parties agree that the Section 338(h)(10) Election with respect to the Transferred Equity Interests
of MCC of Virginia shall be treated as a protective election. The Purchaser shall, with the assistance and
cooperation of the Seller, prepare or cause to be prepared all such forms required for making any Section 338(h)
(10) Election, including any attachments to IRS Form 8023 (and all forms under analogous provisions of state or
local Law), in accordance with all applicable Laws and consistent with the Adjusted Allocations (to the extent the
Adjusted Allocations are agreed by the Parties pursuant to Section 1.07), and the Purchaser shall deliver such
forms and related documents to the Seller within ten (10) days following the date the Purchaser provides the Seller
the Adjusted Non-SWH Allocation pursuant to Section 1.07. The Seller shall return such forms to the Purchaser
no later than ten (10) days after receipt thereof from the Purchaser.
Section 7.08 Transfer Taxes. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, the Purchaser
and the Seller shall each be responsible for one-half of all Transfer Taxes and related fees imposed on or payable
in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. The Party responsible under applicable Law
for filing the Tax Returns with respect to such Transfer Taxes shall prepare and timely file such Tax Returns at
such Party’s sole cost and expense and promptly provide a copy of such Tax Return to the other Party. The Seller
and the Purchaser shall, and shall cause their respective Affiliates to, cooperate to timely prepare and file any Tax
Returns or other filings relating to such Transfer Taxes, including any claim for exemption or exclusion from the
application or imposition of any Transfer Taxes.
Section 7.09 Non-Transferred Assets. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in Section 4.10, to the
extent not prohibited by applicable Tax Laws, the Seller and the Purchaser agree to treat and report, and to cause
their respective Affiliates to treat and report, on their Tax Returns, any Non-Transferred Assets as assets owned by
the Transferee Party after the Closing.
Section 7.10 Tax Indemnification.
(a)
From and after the Closing, the Seller shall indemnify and hold the Purchaser Indemnified
Parties harmless from all Pre-Closing Taxes and any reasonable out-of-pocket legal and accounting fees and
reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection therewith.
(b)

Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary:

(i)
the Purchaser Indemnified Parties shall not have any right to indemnification under
this Section 7.10 with respect to, or based on, Taxes to the extent such Taxes (A) are due to the unavailability of
any net operating losses, credits or other Tax attributes in any Post-Closing Tax Period, (B) result from
transactions or actions taken by the Purchaser Indemnified Parties on the Closing Date after the Closing which are
outside of the Ordinary Course of Business to the extent such transactions or actions are not contemplated by this
Agreement, or (C) are accrued or otherwise reflected in the calculation of the Post-Closing Adjustment in
accordance with Section 1.10 (and, for the avoidance of doubt, the Seller shall have no obligation under this
Agreement to pay any Taxes described in this clause (C)); and
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(ii)
the indemnification obligation of the Seller under this Section 7.10 shall be subject
to the provisions of Section 2.06(f)(iv).
(c)
If the Seller makes any payment to a Purchaser Indemnified Party pursuant to the
provisions of this Section 7.10, the Seller shall be subrogated to all rights of the Purchaser Indemnified Party in
respect of any Losses or Taxes indemnified by the Seller provided that such subrogation could not reasonably be
expected to have an adverse effect on the operations, affairs, customer or supplier relationships or prospects of the
MCC Business; provided, however, that the Seller’s right to subrogation with respect to insurance carriers shall
not be subject to the proviso in the immediately preceding sentence; provided, further, that the Seller’s right to
subrogation shall at all times be limited by the terms of the R&W Policy to the extent the R&W Policy
specifically limits or restricts such right.
(d)
The indemnification rights of the Purchaser Indemnified Parties under this Section 7.10
shall survive in full force and effect until the expiration of the applicable statute of limitations, at which time they
shall terminate and no claims shall be made for indemnification under this Section 7.10 thereafter.
(e)
All indemnification payments under this Agreement shall be treated as adjustments to the
Purchase Price for income Tax purposes to the extent consistent with applicable Law.
Section 7.11 Written Notice. A Purchaser Indemnified Party’s failure to give reasonably prompt written
notice to the Seller of any actual, threatened or possible claim or demand that might give rise to a right of
indemnification under Section 7.10 or rights with respect to participation or otherwise with respect to a Tax Claim
pursuant to Section 7.03 shall not relieve the Seller of any Liability that the Seller may have to the Purchaser
Indemnified Party unless the failure to give such written notice actually prejudiced the Seller with respect to such
claim.
ARTICLE VIII
EMPLOYEE MATTERS
Section 8.01 Offer of Employment; Continuation of Employment.
(a)
No later than thirty (30) days prior to the Closing, the Purchaser shall, or shall cause its
Affiliates to, provide an offer letter offering employment, the terms and conditions of which shall include the
compensation, benefits, and other terms set forth below in this Section 8.01(a), effective as of the Closing, to each
individual who, immediately prior to the Closing is a MCC Business Employee, except where a MCC Business
Employee’s employment transfers automatically to the Purchaser or its Affiliates as a result of transactions
contemplated by this Agreement, whether pursuant to applicable Law or as a result of the transfer to the Purchaser
of the Transferred Equity Interests (including, for the avoidance of doubt, any MCC Business Employees who
remain employed by any of the Transferred Entities as of the Closing).
(b)
For the period commencing at the Closing and ending on the first (1st) anniversary of the
Closing Date (the “Continuation Period”), the Purchaser shall, or shall cause its Affiliates to, provide to each
MCC Business Employee: (i) the same general location of employment and a comparable position, in each case,
as in effect immediately prior to the Closing,
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(ii) annual base salary and base wages and cash incentive compensation opportunities, in each case, that are no
less favorable than the annual base salary and base wages and cash incentive compensation opportunities provided
to such MCC Business Employee as of immediately prior to Closing, and (iii) employee benefits that are
substantially comparable in the aggregate to the employee benefits provided to such MCC Business Employee as
of the date hereof. Each MCC Business Employee who accepts employment with the Purchaser and its Affiliates
as of the Closing, or whose employment continues with the Transferred Entities, the Purchaser or any of their
respective Affiliates as of the Closing, shall be referred to herein as a “Transferred Employee.” The Seller shall,
and shall cause its Affiliates to, use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to assist the Purchaser and its Affiliates in
their reasonable efforts to extend offers to the MCC Business Employees in accordance with the terms hereof,
including by using Commercially Reasonable Efforts to provide the Purchaser and its Affiliates, after the date
hereof and prior to the Closing, with reasonable access to the MCC Business Employees, as reasonably requested
by the Purchaser.
(c)
Terms and Conditions of Employment. In the case of Transferred Employees not primarily
based in the U.S., the Purchaser and its Affiliates shall, in addition to meeting the requirements of Section 8.01(a),
comply with any additional obligations or employment standards arising under applicable Laws governing the
terms and conditions of employment.
(d)
Bonuses. As of the Closing Date, the Purchaser shall assume all obligations in respect of
the performance period that includes the Closing Date to each Transferred Employee pursuant to any cash
incentive or bonus program covering such Transferred Employee as of the Closing Date. Consistent with the
Purchaser’s obligations under Section 8.01(a), the Purchaser shall, or shall cause its Affiliates to, maintain the
same targets under the cash incentive or bonus programs in effect prior to the Closing Date for the applicable
performance measurement period which includes the Closing Date, and the amount that shall be paid to each
Transferred Employee for the period through the Closing Date shall be no less than the amount accrued as of the
Closing Date; provided, that, any such obligations assumed by the Purchaser shall be included in the calculation
of the Net Asset Value.
(e)
Vacation and Paid Time Off. Effective as of the Closing Date, the Purchaser shall, or shall
cause its Affiliates to, to the extent permitted by applicable Law and subject to any required consents, assume or
retain, as the case may be, all obligations of the Seller and its Affiliates for the accrued and unused vacation and
paid time off of the Transferred Employees and former employees of the MCC Business, and shall reimburse the
Seller and its Affiliates for any accrued and unused vacation and paid time off required to be paid by the Seller or
its Affiliates to any Transferred Employees or former employees of the MCC Business at or following the
Closing; provided, that, any such obligations assumed by, or repaid by, the Purchaser shall be included in the
calculation of the Net Asset Value. Transferred Employees shall be permitted to use such accrued and unused
vacation and paid time off in accordance with Purchaser’s policies and procedures, as in effect from time to time.
Neither the Seller nor any of its Affiliates shall have any obligation or liability to pay or provide any vacation or
paid time off payments claimed by any Transferred Employee after the Closing Date.
(f)
Severance Benefits. The Purchaser shall indemnify the Seller and its Affiliates against any
claims and Losses for payments in lieu of notice or severance or termination
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payments, penalties, compensation or expenses in respect of an MCC Business Employee which arise (whether
pursuant to contract, customary practice or applicable Law) as a result of the Purchaser or its Affiliates failing to
make an offer of employment that complies with Section 8.01(a) to each MCC Business Employee. In addition,
the Purchaser shall, or shall cause its Affiliates to, provide severance benefits to any Transferred Employee who
is terminated during the Continuation Period in an amount that is no less favorable than the severance benefits
(including severance payments, transition payments and continued health coverage) set forth on Section 8.01(f) of
the Seller Disclosure Letter, at the time of termination.
(g)
Retention Plan. Prior to Closing, the Seller shall institute a retention program with respect
to the MCC Business Employees mutually selected prior to the date hereof by the Seller and the Purchaser, which
program shall provide for cash bonus for MCC Business Employees. Retention payments under such program
shall be made by the Purchaser following the Closing in accordance with the terms of thereof; provided, that,
fifty-percent (50%) of the retention obligations under such program, including employer-side payroll taxes
applicable to such fifty-percent (50%) portion of the retention obligations, shall be included in the calculation of
the Net Asset Value.
(h)
Assumption of Employee Liabilities. The Purchaser or its Affiliates shall assume or retain,
as the case may be, any and all Liabilities relating to, arising out of, or resulting from the employment or services,
or termination of employment of any MCC Business Employee who is a Transferred Employee, to the extent such
Liabilities arise prior to, at or after the Closing.
(i)
Assumption of Assumed Employee Plans. The Purchaser or its Affiliates shall assume all
Liabilities and assets with respect to, each Assumed Employee Plan and shall assume or discharge all Liabilities
under such Assumed Employee Plan. The Seller and its Affiliates shall have no Liability for Assumed Employee
Plans; provided, that, any such obligations assumed by the Purchaser which constitute severance benefits or other
current liabilities of Seller or any of its Affiliates shall be included in the calculation of the Net Asset Value.
(j)
Participation in Employee Plans other than Assumed Employee Plans. Except as otherwise
specifically provided in this Agreement or as required by the Employee Plans, all MCC Business Employees will
cease, effective as of the Closing Date, any participation in, and any benefit accrual under, each Employee Plan
that is not an Assumed Employee Plan. The Seller and its Affiliates shall take all necessary actions to effect such
cessation of MCC Business Employees under such Employee Plans that are not Assumed Employee Plans.
(k)
COBRA. From and after the Closing Date, the Purchaser shall (or shall cause its Affiliates
to) (i) assume all obligations to provide continued health coverage in accordance with COBRA to Transferred
Employees and their qualified beneficiaries who elect the health coverage offered by the Purchaser or any of its
Affiliates, regardless of the time of their qualifying event, including all obligations with respect to all health
claims incurred on or after the Closing Date, and (ii) to the extent Transferred Employees and their qualified
beneficiaries who experience a qualifying event in connection with the Closing (for example, because of a
resulting change in employer) elect COBRA coverage under an Employee Plan that is not an Assumed
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Employee Plan instead of the coverage offered by the Purchaser or its Affiliates, reimburse the Seller and its
Affiliates for the costs incurred in providing such COBRA coverage.
(l)
Flexible Spending Accounts. The Seller and the Purchaser shall take all actions necessary
or appropriate so that, effective as of the Closing Date, (i) the account balances (whether positive or negative) (the
“Transferred FSA Balances”) under any applicable flexible spending plans of the Seller or its Affiliates
(collectively, the “Seller FSA Plans”) of the Transferred Employees who are participants in the Seller FSA Plans
shall be transferred to one or more comparable plans of the Purchaser or its Affiliates (collectively, the “Purchaser
FSA Plans”), (ii) the elections, contribution levels and coverage levels of such Transferred Employees for the plan
year of transfer shall apply under the Purchaser FSA Plans in the same manner as under the Seller FSA Plans; and
(iii) such Transferred Employees shall be reimbursed from the Purchaser FSA Plans for claims incurred at any
time during the plan year of the Seller FSA Plans in which the Closing Date occurs that are submitted to the
Purchaser FSA Plans from and after the Closing Date on the same basis and the same terms and conditions as
under the Seller FSA Plans. As soon as practicable after the Closing Date, and in any event within fifteen (15)
Business Days after the amount of the Transferred FSA Balances is determined, the Seller shall pay the Purchaser
the net aggregate amount of the Transferred FSA Balances, if such amount is positive, and the Purchaser shall pay
the Seller the net aggregate amount of the Transferred FSA Balances, if such amount is negative.
(m)
401(k) Plan. In accordance with its terms, the Magellan Health, Inc. Retirement Savings
Plan (the “Seller 401(k) Plan”) shall provide Transferred Employees with a right to elect a distribution from the
Seller 401(k) Plan to a qualified defined contribution plan sponsored by the Purchaser or its Affiliates (the
“Purchaser 401(k) Plan”), and the Purchaser 401(k) Plan shall accept the rollover of any “eligible rollover
distribution” (within the meaning of Section 402(c)(4) of the Code) from the Seller 401(k) Plan, including plan
loans.
(n)
Credit for Service; Health Care Coordination. The Purchaser shall provide each
Transferred Employee with credit for his or her years of service with the Seller and any of its Subsidiaries,
including the Transferred Entities (and any predecessors), prior to the Closing for purposes of eligibility to
participate, vesting and benefit accrual rates under the employee benefit plans of the Purchaser and its Affiliates
after the Closing if and to the extent such service was credited under a comparable Employee Plan in which the
Transferred Employee participated in immediately prior to the Closing; provided, that, the foregoing shall not
apply for benefit accrual purposes under any defined benefit pension plan or to the extent that its application
would result in a duplication of benefits for the same period of service. The Purchaser shall, or shall cause its
Affiliates to, provide that no pre-existing conditions, exclusions or waiting periods shall apply to the Transferred
Employees and their respective covered dependents under the group health plans provided for such Transferred
Employees, except to the extent such condition or exclusion was applicable to an individual Transferred
Employee and his or her covered dependents prior to the Closing under the comparable Employee Plans. To the
extent the Transferred Employees begin participating in any Purchaser group health plan, the Purchaser shall
provide each Transferred Employee and his or her covered dependents with credit for deductibles, co-insurance,
copayments and out-of-pocket requirements paid during the portion of the plan year in which the Purchaser plan is
introduced and prior to the Transferred Employee’s participation in such Purchaser group
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health plan in satisfying any applicable deductible, co-insurance, co-payments or out-of-pocket requirements.
(o)

WARN Compliance.

(i)
The Seller shall be solely responsible for providing any notice and paying any
obligations or other Losses required, as well as any and all liability arising directly or indirectly, under the WARN
Act, or its state or local equivalents, as a result of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including, but
not limited to, in respect to any mass layoff, termination, or relocation by the Seller of the employment of any of
its employees at or prior to the Closing. The Seller acknowledges and agrees that the Purchaser does not assume
or agree to discharge any obligations of the Seller under COBRA with respect to any current or former employees
of the Seller terminated at or prior to the Closing. The Seller shall indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the
Purchaser from and against any and all liabilities, damages, costs, and expenses with respect to any liability
assessed upon or incurred by the Purchaser that is the responsibility of the Seller under this Section 8.01(o)(i).
(ii)
The Purchaser shall be solely responsible for providing any notice and paying any
obligations or other Losses required, as well as any and all liability arising directly or indirectly, under the WARN
Act, as a result of any “employment losses” (as defined by the WARN Act) suffered by Transferred Employees
following the Closing. The Purchaser acknowledges and agrees that the Seller does not assume or agree to
discharge any obligations of the Purchaser under COBRA with respect to any Transferred Employees terminated
after the Closing. The Purchaser shall indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the Seller from and against any and
all liabilities, damages, costs, and expenses with respect to any liability assessed upon or incurred by the Seller
that is the responsibility of the Purchaser under this Section 8.01(o)(ii).
(p)
Effect of Agreement; No Third-Party Beneficiaries. Notwithstanding anything herein to
the contrary, each of the Seller and the Purchaser hereby acknowledges and agrees, on behalf of itself and on
behalf of its Affiliates, that all provisions contained in this Article VIII are included for the sole benefit of the
parties hereto, and that nothing in this Agreement, whether express or implied, shall (i) be treated as an
amendment or other modification of any Employee Plan or other employee benefit plan, agreement or other
arrangement or (ii) create any third party beneficiary or other right (A) in any other Person, including any current
or former director, officer, employee or independent contractor of any of the Seller, the Transferred Entities or any
of their respective Affiliates or any participant in any Employee Plan or other employee benefit plan, agreement or
other arrangement (or any dependent or beneficiary thereof), or (B) to continued employment with the Purchaser,
the Seller, the Transferred Entities or any of their respective Affiliates. Notwithstanding anything in this Article
VIII to the contrary, to the extent any provision of this Article VIII conflicts with applicable Law, applicable Law
shall govern.
ARTICLE IX
GENERAL PROVISIONS
Section 9.01 Modification or Amendment. Subject to the provisions of applicable Law, at any time prior
to the Closing, this Agreement (including any schedules, annexes or exhibits
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hereto, the Seller Disclosure Letter and the Purchaser Disclosure Letter) may be amended, modified or
supplemented in writing by the Parties hereto.
Section 9.02 Waiver.
(a)
Any provision of this Agreement may be waived prior to the Closing if, and only if, such
waiver is in writing and signed by the Party against whom the waiver is to be effective.
(b)
No failure or delay by any Party in exercising any right, power or privilege hereunder shall
operate as a waiver thereof nor shall any single or partial exercise thereof preclude any other or further exercise
thereof or the exercise of any other right, power or privilege. Except as otherwise herein provided, the rights and
remedies herein provided shall be cumulative and not exclusive of any rights or remedies provided by Law.
Section 9.03
Notices. Notices, requests, instructions or other documents to be given under this
Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed given, when delivered by email with receipt confirmed, to the
following e-mail address for such Party:
if to the Purchaser:
Molina Healthcare, Inc.
200 Oceangate, Suite 100
Long Beach, California 90802
Attention: Jeff Barlow, Chief Legal Officer
Burt Park, Deputy General Counsel
Email:
jeff.barlow@molinahealthcare.com
burt.park@molinahealthcare.com
with copies to (which shall not constitute notice):
Sheppard Mullin Richter & Hampton, LLP
1901 Avenue of the Stars #1600
Century City, CA 90067
Attention: Aytan Dahukey, Esq.
Eric Klein, Esq.
Email:
adahukey@sheppardmullin.com
eklein@sheppardmullin.com
if to the Seller:
Magellan Health, Inc.
4801 E. Washington Street
Phoenix, Arizona
Attention: David Haddock
Email:
haddockd@magellanhealth.com
with copies to (which shall not constitute notice):
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Weil, Gotshal & Manges LLP
767 Fifth Avenue
New York, New York 10153
Attention: Raymond O. Gietz
Email:
raymond.gietz@weil.com
or to such other persons or addresses as may be designated in writing by the Party to receive such notice as
provided above.
Section 9.04
Severability. The provisions of this Agreement shall be deemed severable and the
invalidity or unenforceability of any provision shall not affect the validity or enforceability of the other provisions
hereof so long as either the economic or legal substance of the transactions contemplated hereby is not affected in
a manner materially adverse to any Party or such Party waives its rights under this Section 9.04 with respect
thereto. If any provision of this Agreement, or the application thereof to any Person or any circumstance, is
invalid or unenforceable, (a) a suitable and equitable provision negotiated in good faith by the Parties shall be
substituted therefor in order to carry out, so far as may be valid and enforceable, the intent and purpose of such
invalid or unenforceable provision and (b) the remainder of this Agreement and the application of such provision
to other Persons or circumstances shall not, subject to clause (a) above, be affected by such invalidity or
unenforceability, except as a result of such substitution, nor shall such invalidity or unenforceability affect the
validity or enforceability of such provision, or the application thereof, in any other jurisdiction, in each case, so
long as either the economic or legal substance of the transactions contemplated hereby is not affected in a manner
materially adverse to any Party or such Party waives its rights under this Section 9.04 with respect thereto.
Section 9.05
Counterparts; Effectiveness. This Agreement may be executed in any number of
counterparts (including by facsimile or by attachment to electronic mail in portable document format (PDF)), each
such counterpart being deemed to be an original instrument, and all such counterparts shall together constitute the
same agreement, and shall become effective when one or more counterparts have been signed by each of the
Parties hereto and delivered to the other Parties hereto.
Section 9.06 Entire Agreement. This Agreement (including any schedules, annexes or exhibits hereto,
the Seller Disclosure Letter and the Purchaser Disclosure Letter) and the Confidentiality Agreements constitute
the entire agreement, and supersede all other prior agreements, understandings, representations and warranties
both written and oral, among the Parties, with respect to the subject matter hereof.
Section 9.07
No Third-Party Beneficiaries. Except as provided in Section 2.06, Section 4.07 and
Section 7.10, each Party agrees that (A) their respective representations, warranties, covenants and agreements set
forth in this Agreement are solely for the benefit of the other Parties, in accordance with and subject to the terms
of this Agreement and (B) this Agreement is not intended to, and does not, confer upon any Person other than the
Parties any rights or remedies under this Agreement, including the right to rely upon the representations and
warranties set forth in this Agreement
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Section 9.08 Governing Law and Venue; Waiver of Jury Trial.
(a)
THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE DEEMED TO BE MADE IN AND IN ALL RESPECTS
SHALL BE INTERPRETED, CONSTRUED AND GOVERNED BY AND IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE
LAW OF THE STATE OF DELAWARE WITHOUT REGARD TO THE CONFLICT OF LAW PRINCIPLES
THEREOF. ANY AND ALL CLAIMS, CONTROVERSIES AND CAUSES OF ACTION ARISING OUT OF
OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT AND THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY,
WHETHER SOUNDING IN CONTRACT, TORT OR STATUTE, SHALL BE GOVERNED BY THE LAW OF
THE STATE OF DELAWARE, WITHOUT GIVING EFFECT TO ANY CONFLICT OF LAWS OR OTHER
RULE THAT WOULD RESULT IN THE APPLICATION OF THE LAWS OF A DIFFERENT JURISDICTION.
(b)
Each of the Parties (i) consents to submit itself to the personal jurisdiction of the Court of
Chancery of the State of Delaware or, if such court lacks subject matter jurisdiction, any federal court located in
the State of Delaware in the event any dispute arises out of this Agreement or any of the transactions
contemplated hereby, (ii) agrees that it will not attempt to deny or defeat such personal jurisdiction by motion or
other request for leave from any such court, (iii) agrees that it will not bring any Action relating to this Agreement
or any of the transactions contemplated hereby in any court other than the Court of Chancery of the State of
Delaware or, if such court lacks subject matter jurisdiction, any federal court located in the State of Delaware,
(iv) waives any objection that it may now or hereafter have to the venue of any such Action in the Court of
Chancery of the State of Delaware or, if such court lacks subject matter jurisdiction, any federal court located in
the State of Delaware or that such Action was brought in an inconvenient court and agrees not to plead or claim
the same and (v) consents to service being made through the notice procedures set forth in Section 9.03. Each of
the Seller and the Purchaser hereby agrees that service of any process, summons, notice or document by U.S.
registered mail to the respective addresses set forth in Section 9.03 shall be effective service of process for any
Action in connection with this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby. EACH OF THE PARTIES TO
THIS AGREEMENT HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ALL RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY
ACTION, PROCEEDING OR COUNTERCLAIM ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT
OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED BY THIS AGREEMENT.
(c)
EACH PARTY ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT ANY CONTROVERSY
WHICH MAY ARISE UNDER THIS AGREEMENT IS LIKELY TO INVOLVE COMPLICATED AND
DIFFICULT ISSUES, AND THEREFORE EACH SUCH PARTY HEREBY IRREVOCABLY AND
UNCONDITIONALLY WAIVES ANY RIGHT SUCH PARTY MAY HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN
RESPECT OF ANY LITIGATION DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO
THIS AGREEMENT, OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED BY THIS AGREEMENT. EACH
PARTY CERTIFIES AND ACKNOWLEDGES THAT (i) NO REPRESENTATIVE, AGENT OR ATTORNEY
OF ANY OTHER PARTY HAS REPRESENTED, EXPRESSLY OR OTHERWISE, THAT SUCH OTHER
PARTY WOULD NOT, IN THE EVENT OF LITIGATION, SEEK TO ENFORCE THE FOREGOING
WAIVER, (ii) EACH SUCH PARTY UNDERSTANDS AND HAS CONSIDERED THE IMPLICATIONS OF
THIS WAIVER, (iii) EACH SUCH PARTY MAKES THIS WAIVER VOLUNTARILY AND (iv) EACH SUCH
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PARTY HAS BEEN INDUCED TO ENTER INTO THIS AGREEMENT BY, AMONG OTHER THINGS, THE
MUTUAL WAIVERS AND CERTIFICATIONS IN THIS SECTION 9.08(C).
Section 9.09
Assignment. This Agreement shall not be assigned by operation of law or otherwise
without the prior written consent of each of the Parties, and any assignment without such consent shall be null and
void; provided, that, the Purchaser shall be entitled to assign its obligations hereunder to an Affiliate of the
Purchaser, but no such assignment shall relieve the Purchaser of any liability or obligation hereunder.
Section 9.10 Specific Performance.
(a)
The Parties acknowledge and agree that irreparable damage would occur and that the
Parties would not have any adequate remedy at Law in the event that any of the obligations, undertakings,
covenants or agreements of the Parties were not performed in accordance with their specific terms or were
otherwise breached, and that monetary damages, even if available, would not be an adequate remedy therefor. It
is accordingly agreed that the Seller, on the one hand, and the Purchaser, on the other hand, shall be entitled to
seek an injunction or injunctions to prevent breaches of this Agreement by the other Party, and to enforce
specifically the terms and provisions of this Agreement by a decree of specific performance, in accordance with
Section 9.08 of this Agreement, without the necessity of proving actual harm or damages or posting a bond or
other security therefor, this being in addition to any other remedy to which such Party is entitled at law or in
equity, and each Party agrees that it will not oppose the granting of an injunction, specific performance or other
equitable relief on the basis that any other Party has an adequate remedy at law or that any award of specific
performance or other equitable remedy is not an appropriate remedy for any reason at law or in equity. Each Party
further agrees that it shall not take any position in any legal proceeding concerning this Agreement that is contrary
to the terms of this Section 9.10. The Purchaser shall cause its Affiliates to perform its respective obligations
under this Agreement.
(b)
For the avoidance of doubt, in no event shall the exercise of a Party’s right to seek specific
performance pursuant to this Section 9.10 reduce, restrict or otherwise limit such Party’s right to terminate this
Agreement pursuant to Article VI and/or pursue all applicable remedies at law to the extent not limited by this
Agreement.
Section 9.11 Further Assurances. If at any time before or after the Closing, the Purchaser or the Seller
reasonably believes or is advised that any further instruments, deeds, assignments or assurances are reasonably
necessary or desirable to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or to carry out the
purposes and intent of this Agreement at or after the Closing, then the Purchaser and the Seller and their
respective officers and directors shall execute and deliver all such proper instruments, deeds, assignments or
assurances and do all other things reasonably necessary or desirable to consummate the transactions contemplated
by this Agreement and to carry out the purposes and intent of this Agreement.
Section 9.12 Interpretation.
(a)
The table of contents and the Article, Section and paragraph headings or captions herein are
for convenience of reference only, do not constitute part of this Agreement and
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shall not be deemed to limit or otherwise affect any of the provisions hereof. Where a reference in this Agreement
is made to a Section or Exhibit, such reference shall be to a Section of or Exhibit to this Agreement unless
otherwise indicated. Whenever the words “include”, “includes” or “including” are used in this Agreement, they
shall be deemed to be followed by the words “without limitation”. The words “hereof”, “herein” and “hereunder”
and words of similar import when used in this Agreement shall refer to this Agreement as a whole and not to any
particular provision of this Agreement. The word “or” when used in this Agreement is not exclusive. The word
“extent” in the phrase “to the extent” shall mean the degree to which a subject or other thing extends, and such
phrase shall not mean simply “if”. All terms defined in this Agreement shall have the defined meanings when
used in any certificate or other document made or delivered pursuant hereto unless otherwise defined therein. The
definitions contained in this Agreement are applicable to the singular as well as the plural forms of such terms and
to the masculine as well as to the feminine and neuter genders of such term. Any agreement, instrument or statute
defined or referred to herein or in any agreement or instrument that is referred to herein means such agreement,
instrument or statute as from time to time amended, modified or supplemented, including (in the case of
agreements or instruments) by waiver or consent and (in the case of statutes) by succession of comparable
successor statutes and references to all attachments thereto and instruments incorporated therein.
(b)
The Parties have participated jointly in negotiating and drafting this Agreement. In the
event that an ambiguity or a question of intent or interpretation arises, this Agreement shall be construed as if
drafted jointly by the Parties, and no presumption or burden of proof shall arise favoring or disfavoring any Party
by virtue of the authorship of any provision of this Agreement.
Section 9.13
Definitions. For purposes of this Agreement, each of the following capitalized terms
has the meaning specified in this Section 9.13:
“ACA Insurer Taxes” means Health Insurer Fees (HIF) under §9010 of the Patient Protection and
Affordable Care Act and the related regulations.
“Accounting Principles” means the accounting principles, practices and methodologies set forth in
Exhibit B.
“Accounts Receivable Accrual” means the aggregate dollar amount attributable to the premium
capitation receivables for services performed by the RBC Entities and/or SWH MA, as applicable, with respect to
the period of time prior to the Measurement Time.
“Action” means any action, controversy, complaint, inquiry, grievance, hearing, suit (whether in
contract or tort or otherwise), mediation, arbitration, demand, notice of proceeding, administrative proceeding,
litigation or proceeding (whether at law or in equity, whether civil or criminal) by or before any arbitrator,
Governmental Entity or intermediary contractor of a Governmental Entity.
“Adjusted Statutory Capital” means an amount equal to the total capital and surplus of each of the
RBC Entities, calculated as of the Measurement Time and in accordance with the Applicable RBC Entity
Accounting Principles; provided, however, that in no event shall Adjusted
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Statutory Capital (or any components thereof) include any Tax assets or liabilities (other than non-Income Tax
assets and liabilities and amounts owed to the Transferred Entities and their Affiliates as reimbursements in
connection with ACA Insurer Taxes and any related Tax gross-ups).
“Affiliate” means, with respect to any specified Person, any other Person that, at the time of
determination, directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, Controls, is Controlled by or is under
common Control with such specified Person.
“Affiliate Contract” means any Contract between the Seller or any of its Subsidiaries (other than
the Transferred Entities), on the one hand, and any Transferred Entity on the other hand, other than any Ancillary
Agreement.
“AlphaCare Stock” means the issued and outstanding shares of capital stock of AlphaCare
Holdings, Inc. held by the Business Seller.
“Ancillary Agreements” means the Assignment and Assumption Agreement and Bill of Sale, the
Transition Services Agreement and any other Contract entered into, or any document or certificate delivered in
connection with, this Agreement.
“Antitrust Laws” means the HSR Act and the other federal, state and foreign statutes, rules,
regulations, orders, decrees and other Laws and Orders set forth in Section 4.04(a) of the Seller Disclosure Letter
that are designed or intended to prohibit, restrict or regulate actions having the purpose or effect of
monopolization or restraint of trade or competition.
“Applicable Date” means December 31, 2017.
“Applicable RBC Entity Accounting Principles” means the accounting principles, practices and
methodologies set forth in Exhibit C.
“Assignment and Assumption Agreement and Bill of Sale” means the Assignment and Assumption
Agreement and Bill of Sale, dated as of the Closing Date, by and between the Seller and the Purchaser,
substantially in the form of Exhibit D.
“Assumed Employee Plan” means each Employee Plan listed on Section 2.01(h) of the Seller
Disclosure Letter.
“Bankruptcy and Equity Exception” means bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent transfer,
reorganization, moratorium and similar Laws of general applicability relating to or affecting creditors’ rights and
to general equity principles.
“Business Day” means any day of the year on which banks are not required or authorized by Law
to close in New York City.
“Cash” means (a) cash and cash equivalents (that are convertible to cash within the meaning of
GAAP), including cash in banks, marketable securities, short-term investments and other cash equivalent
instruments (whether in hand or credited to any account with any banking, financial or similar institution), all
interest thereon and inbound checks and outstanding wires less
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(b) outstanding outbound checks and outstanding outbound wires, in each case calculated in accordance with the
Accounting Principles and less (c) Restricted Cash.
“Closing Date Cash” means, without duplication, all Cash of the Non-RBC Entities as of the
Measurement Time.
“Closing Date Indebtedness” means, without duplication, all Indebtedness of the Non-RBC Entities
as of the Measurement Time.
“CMS” shall mean the United States Department of Health and Human Services Centers for
Medicare and Medicaid Services.
“Code” means the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.
“Commercial Agreements” mean (i) the Services Agreement to be entered into at Closing between
the Seller (or its applicable Subsidiary) and the Purchaser (or its applicable Subsidiary) for the provision of
behavioral health care services, (ii) the Services Agreement to be entered into at Closing between the Seller (or its
applicable Subsidiary) and the Purchaser (or its applicable Subsidiary) for the provision of utilization management
services and (iii) the Services Agreement to be entered into at Closing between the Seller (or its applicable
Subsidiary) and the Purchaser (or its applicable Subsidiary) for the provision of medical pharmacy services, each
consistent with the terms of the applicable Letter Agreement.
“Commercially Reasonable Efforts” means, where applied to carrying out specific tasks and
obligations of a party (on its own and/or acting through any of its Affiliates, agents or subcontractors), expending
reasonable, diligent, good faith efforts and resources to accomplish such task or obligation as a similarly situated
Person would normally use to accomplish a similar task or obligation under similar circumstances.
“Confidentiality Agreements” means (i) that certain Confidentiality Agreement, dated March 18,
2019, by and between the Seller and the Purchaser, as amended by that certain First Amendment, dated February
11, 2020, as further amended by that certain Side Letter, dated March 19, 2020; and (ii) that certain Clean Room
Agreement, dated September 18, 2019, by and between the Seller and the Purchaser, as amended by that certain
First Amendment, dated March 4, 2020.
“Contract” means any agreement, lease, license, contract, consent, settlement, note, mortgage,
indenture, arrangement, understanding or other obligation, excluding any Employee Plan.
“Control” means, as to any Person, the power to direct or cause the direction of the management
and policies of such Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by Contract or otherwise. The
terms “Controlled by”, “Controlled”, “under common Control with” and “Controlling” shall have correlative
meanings.
“Employee Plan” means any benefit or compensation plan, policy, program or arrangement
maintained, sponsored or contributed to by the Seller or any of its Subsidiaries covering MCC Business
Employees, including “employee benefit plans” within the meaning of
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Section 3(3) of the ERISA, and any incentive, bonus, deferred compensation, stock purchase, employment,
retirement, severance, restricted stock, stock option, stock appreciation rights or stock based plans, excluding any
statutory plans required pursuant to applicable Law.
“Enrollee” means an individual eligible for Medicare and/or Medicaid who is enrolled in the health
care benefit program offered by a Transferred Entity pursuant to a Government Program Contract.
“Environmental Laws” means any Law or Order relating to pollution, public or worker health or
safety, or the protection of the environment or natural resources.
“ERISA” means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended.
“Exchange Act” shall mean the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
“Fraud” means actual and intentional fraud with respect to the making of the representations and
warranties set forth in this Agreement as qualified by the Seller Disclosure Letter; provided, that, such actual and
intentional fraud shall only be deemed to exist if the individuals included in Section 9.13(a) of the Seller
Disclosure Letter (in the case of any claim for Fraud with respect to the representations and warranties set forth in
Section 3.01) or Section 9.13 of the Purchaser Disclosure Letter (in the case of any claim for Fraud with respect to
the representations and warranties set forth in Section 3.02) had actual knowledge (as opposed to constructive
knowledge) that the representations and warranties were actually breached or otherwise false, with the specific
intention that the claiming Person rely thereon to its detriment.
“Fundamental Representations” means the representations and warranties in Section 3.01(a)
(Organization, Good Standing and Qualification), Section 3.01(b) (Capital Structure) Section 3.01(c) (Corporate
Authority; Approval), Section 3.02(a) (Organization, Good Standing and Qualification) and Section 3.02(b)
(Corporate Authority; Approval).
“GAAP” means U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
“Governmental Entity” means any domestic, foreign or transnational governmental, competition,
executive or regulatory authority, court, agency, commission, body, board, ministry, bureau, commission,
administrative or quasi-governmental body exercising governmental authority or other legislative, executive or
judicial governmental entity or self-regulatory agency; provided, that, if any of the foregoing Persons is a
customer of the MCC Business, such Person shall not be considered a Governmental Entity to the extent acting
solely in its capacity as a customer of the MCC Business.
“Health Care Programs” means all lines of business, programs and types of services offered by the
Seller or any of its Subsidiaries that involve or relate to providing, arranging to provide, reimbursing, or otherwise
administering health care services, as applicable, including Federal Health Care Programs, commercial risk
(individual, small group, large group), workers compensation, the Federal Employees Health Benefits Program,
the Children’s Health Insurance Program, TRICARE, administrative services only and network rental, including
self-funded group health plans.
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“Health Regulatory Laws” means any Law relating to healthcare, pharmacy regulation, health
insurance, managed care or related regulatory matters, including, to the extent applicable, (A) the Federal Health
Care Program Anti-Kickback Statute (42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7b) and any state anti-kickback Law; (B) the Federal
Ethics in Patient Referrals Act (42 U.S.C. § 1395nn) and any state Law affecting self-referrals; (C) the Federal
False Claims Act (31 U.S.C. §§ 3729, et seq.) and any state Law false claims prohibitions; (D) the Federal Civil
Monetary Penalties Law (42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7a and 1320a-7b); (E) the Federal Program Fraud Civil Remedies
Act (31 U.S.C. § 3801 et seq.) and the Federal Health Care Fraud Law (18 U.S.C. § 1347); (F) the Consolidated
Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985, as amended; (G) any state or federal Laws governing the privacy,
security, transmission or protection of health care information belonging to individuals or entities, including
HIPAA; (H) the Federal Food Drug and Cosmetic Act, 21 U.S.C. §§ 301 et seq.; (I) the Controlled Substances
Act, 21 U.S.C. §§ 801 et seq. and any state Law related to the sale, storage, distribution, or manufacture of
controlled substances; (J) Section 340B of the Public Health Service Act, 42 U.S.C. § 256b; (K) Medicare (Title
XVIII of the Social Security Act), including Part D Requirements; (L) Medicaid (Title XIX of the Social Security
Act) and state Medicaid Laws; (M) the Affordable Care Act; (N) state Law regulating insurance, insurance
products, and health maintenance organizations, including form and rate filing, reserving, marketing, investment,
financial, claims, underwriting, and premium collection and refunding; (O) state Law regulating independent
adjusters, quality improvement organizations, or substantially similar types of functions; (P) state Law regulating
the provision of administrative, management or other services related to any Health Care Programs, including the
including the administration of health care claims or benefits or processing or payment for health care items and
services, treatment or supplies furnished by providers, including the provision of the services of pharmacy benefit
managers, third party administrators, third party prescription program administrators, utilization review agents and
persons performing quality assurance, credentialing, and coordination of benefits, prescription drug discount plan
operators and/or substantially similar types of functions; (Q) state Law regulating consumer protection or unfair
trade practices or the claims made or promotional or marketing efforts undertaken by the Seller or any of its
Subsidiaries; (R) state Law regulating the operation of pharmacies; (S) state prompt pay Laws; (T) state licensure,
permitting, and registration Laws; (U) quality, safety and accreditation standards and requirements; (V) state feesplitting Laws and Laws related to the corporate practice of medicine or other health professions; (W) The Mental
Health Parity and Addiction Equity Act of 2008; and (X) any federal, state or local statute or regulation relevant to
false statements or claims including: (I) making or causing to be made a false statement or representation of a
material fact to any Governmental Entity; or (II) knowingly and willfully making or causing to be made any false
statement or representation of a material fact for use in determining rights to any benefit, payment or permit. For
the avoidance of doubt, any reference to any Health Regulatory Law shall include such Health Regulatory Law’s
implementing rules, regulations, and guidance.
“HIPAA” means the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, as amended and
supplemented by the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act (Pub. L. No. 111-5)
and the implementing regulations of each, when each is effective and as each is amended from time to time.
“HIPAA Commitments” means those PCT Laws for “Protected Health Information” or “Electronic
Protected Health Information” (as those terms are defined in 45 CFR § 160.103).
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“HSR Act” means the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended.
“Income Taxes” means all Taxes based upon, measured by, or calculated with respect to net
income, franchise or profits (but not any gross income Taxes and not any withholding Taxes other than
withholding Taxes that are imposed as an advance or pre-payment of income Taxes), and all Taxes substantially
similar thereto.
“Indebtedness” means, with respect to any Person, without duplication, (i) all obligations or
undertakings for borrowed money (including deposits or advances of any kind to such Person); (ii) all obligations
evidenced by bonds, debentures, notes or similar instruments; (iii) any obligation for a lease classified as a capital
lease in the Financial Statements or required to be capitalized in accordance with GAAP; (iv) any obligation of the
MCC Business for deferred purchase price with respect to the acquisition of any business, asset or securities,
whether contingent or otherwise, all amounts owed under any earn-out or similar performance payment with
respect to the acquisition of any business, asset or securities, at the maximum value, whether contingent or not, or
any seller notes or post-closing true-up obligations; (v) any obligation of the MCC Business with respect to
interest rate protection agreements, interest rate swap agreements, foreign currency exchange agreements or other
hedging agreements or arrangements; (vi) any obligation secured by a Lien on any property of the MCC Business;
(viii) any declared but unpaid dividends; and (vii) all guarantees of any of the obligations set forth in clauses
(i) through (vii); and (ix) all accrued and unpaid interest, fees, penalty payments, breakage costs, premiums,
charges and other expenses owing in respect of obligations of the kind referred to in clauses (i)-(viii) above.
“Insolvency Protection Reserve Capital” means the amount of reserve capital of SWH MA as of
the open of business on the Closing Date calculated in accordance with the definitions and principles described in
the Insolvency Protection Reserve Requirement Capital Schedule; provided, however, that in no event shall
Insolvency Protection Reserve Capital (or any components thereof) include any Tax assets or liabilities (other than
non-Income Tax assets and liabilities and amounts owed to the Transferred Entities and their Affiliates as
reimbursements in connection with ACA Insurer Taxes and any related Tax gross-ups).
“Insolvency Protection Reserve Requirement” means the value under the column titled “Insolvency
Protection Reserve Requirement” for SWH MA as of the Measurement Time in accordance with the definitions
and principles described in the Insolvency Protection Reserve Requirement Capital Schedule.
“Insolvency Protection Reserve Requirement Capital Schedule” means the schedule set forth in
Exhibit E in this Agreement and which sets forth the calculation methodology of the Insolvency Protection
Reserve Capital for SWH MA.
“Intellectual Property” means collectively, (i) patents, patent applications and statutory invention
registrations, (ii) registered or applied for trademarks or service marks and all related goodwill, (iii) domain
names, (iv) copyrights and (v) trade secrets under applicable Law, including confidential and proprietary
information.
“IRS” means the U.S. Internal Revenue Service.
-88-

“IT Assets” means the Assigned IT Assets and all computer and other information technology
systems of the Transferred Entities, including hardware, software, computer systems, databases, data rights and
documentation, reference and resource materials relating thereto and all Contracts and contractual rights
associated with any of the foregoing.
“Knowledge of the Purchaser” means the actual knowledge of the individuals identified on Section
9.13 of the Purchaser Disclosure Letter.
“Knowledge of the Seller” means the actual knowledge of the individuals identified on Section
9.13(a) of the Seller Disclosure Letter after due inquiry with their respective direct reports.
“Law” means any applicable federal, state, local, foreign or transnational law, code, statute,
ordinance, common law, rule, regulation, order, permit by law, enactment, ordinance, directive, policy, judgment,
operating manual, decree or other decision, in each case, of any court or other tribunal or any other Governmental
Entity.
“Lease” means any lease, sublease or license.
“Liability” means any liability or obligation (whether known or unknown, whether asserted or
unasserted, whether absolute or contingent, whether accrued or unaccrued, whether liquidated or unliquidated,
whether incurred or consequential and whether due or to become due).
“License” means any permit, license, certification, approval, registration, consent, authorization,
franchise, concession, variance, exemption and order issued or granted by a Governmental Entity
“Lien” means any pledge, lien, charge, mortgage, encumbrance or security interest of any kind or
nature whatsoever (including with respect to Intellectual Property), except as imposed by this Agreement, the
Organizational Documents of the Transferred Entities or applicable securities Laws.
“Losses” means all losses, damages, costs and out-of-pocket expenses (including reasonable and
documented attorneys’ fees); provided, however, that Losses shall not include indirect, special, incidental,
punitive or exemplary damages except for indirect, special, incidental, punitive or exemplary damages actually
due to a Third Party.
“Material Adverse Effect” means any change, event, occurrence, development, circumstance,
condition or effect that, individually or in the aggregate, (x) has or would reasonably be expected to have a
material adverse effect on the financial condition, properties, assets, business or results of operations of the MCC
Business, taken as a whole, or (y) has or would reasonably be expected to prevent or materially impair or delay
the ability of the Seller Parties to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, excluding, for the
purposes of clause (x) of this definition, any such effect resulting from or arising in connection with: (1) changes
in, or events generally affecting, the financial, securities or capital markets, (2) general economic or political
conditions in the United States or any foreign jurisdiction in which the Seller or the Transferred Entities operate,
including any changes in currency exchange rates, interest rates, monetary policy, budgetary constraints or
inflation, (3) changes in, or events generally affecting, the industries in
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which the MCC Business operates, (4) any acts of war, sabotage, civil disobedience or terrorism or natural
disasters (including hurricanes, tornadoes, floods or earthquakes), (5) any failure by the MCC Business to meet
any internal or published budgets, projections, forecasts or predictions in respect of financial performance for any
period, (6) a decline in the price of the Seller Common Stock, or a change in the trading volume of the Seller
Common Stock, on the NASDAQ, provided that the exceptions in clauses (5) and (6) shall not prevent or
otherwise affect a determination that any change, effect, circumstance or development underlying such failure or
decline or change (if not otherwise falling within any of the exclusions pursuant to the other clauses of this
definition) has resulted in, or contributed to, a Material Adverse Effect, (7) changes in Law, (8) changes in GAAP
or SAP (or authoritative interpretation thereof), (9) the taking of any specific action expressly required by this
Agreement or taken with the Purchaser’s written consent or the failure to take any specific action expressly
prohibited by this Agreement, (10) the announcement or pendency (but, for the avoidance of doubt, not the
consummation) of this Agreement or any other transaction agreement, either by the Seller or any other third party,
including the impact thereof on the relationships with employees, customers, suppliers, distributors, partners, and
other third parties with whom the Seller has a relationship, (11) any sustained pandemic arising from a virus,
infectious disease or other contagion (including COVID-19 and any resulting change to any state, local or federal
budgets or the financial condition of Providers) or (12) any of the matters for which the Seller has provided to the
Purchaser Indemnified Parties indemnification pursuant to Section 2.06(b)(viii); provided, further, that the
changes, effects, circumstances or developments set forth in the foregoing clauses (1), (2), (3), (4), (7), (8) and
(11) shall be taken into account in determining whether a “Material Adverse Effect” has occurred to the extent
such changes, effects, circumstances or developments have a disproportionate adverse effect on the MCC
Business, taken as a whole, relative to other participants in the industries in which the MCC Business operates,
but in such event, only the incremental disproportionate impact of such changes, effects, circumstances or
developments shall be taken into account in determining whether a “Material Adverse Effect” has occurred.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, it is acknowledged and agreed, that any change, event, occurrence, development,
circumstance, condition or effect shall not be taken into account in determining whether a “Material Adverse
Effect” has occurred to the extent resulting from or arising in connection with (i) the New York State Budget for
FY 2020-2021 or (ii) changes adopted by CMS that would have the effect of preventing or delaying an increase in
the Star Rating of the MCC Business’ health plans.
“Material Health Care Provider” means the top five (5) Providers in each of the State of New
York, the Commonwealth of Virginia, the State of Florida, the State of Arizona and the Commonwealth of
Massachusetts, based on annual aggregate payments made by or on behalf of the Transferred Entities for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2019.
“MCC Business” means the business currently conducted by the Seller and its Subsidiaries of
contracting with state Medicaid agencies and CMS to manage, on either a risk-based or non-risk based basis, total
medical benefits or long-term support services for Medicaid (both mandatory and optional) and dual eligible
Medicaid and Medicare populations. The MCC Business shall not include (i) contracting with any Person other
than state Medicaid agencies or CMS or (ii) contracting with state Medicaid agencies or CMS (or any other
person) for the provision or management of services other than long-term support services or services other than
the total medical benefit, including, but not limited to, behavioral health, employee assistance programs,
radiology, pharmacy, or other specialty services.
-90-

“MCC Business Employee” means each individual who is employed by the Seller or any of its
Subsidiaries (including the Transferred Entities) and who provides a majority or all of their working hours or
services to the MCC Business, including those employees on medical leave, family leave, military leave or
personal leave under the policies of the Seller or any of its Subsidiaries, as applicable, excluding those employees
set forth on Section 9.13(b) of the Seller Disclosure Letter (as the same may be updated prior to Closing by
mutual agreement of the Parties) who will be assigned to the Behavioral Health division of the Seller. The Seller
will determine in good faith between the date hereof and the Closing those employees of the Seller and its
Subsidiaries that constitute MCC Business Employees.
“MCC Environmental Liabilities” means any Liability under or related to Environmental Laws
arising from the ownership or operation of the MCC Business, the Transferred Entities or the Transferred Assets.
“MCC IP” means all Intellectual Property (a) owned by the Transferred Entities or (b) that is
Assigned IP.
“Measurement Time” means 11:59 p.m. on the last calendar day prior to the Closing Date.
“Medical Claims” means, with respect to any measurement period, the aggregate dollar amount of
claims incurred by the RBC Entities and SWH MA with respect to covered medical services provided prior to the
Closing Date.
“Medical Claims Reserve” means the amount accrued or reserved by the RBC Entities and/or SWH
MA, as applicable, for liabilities for Medical Claims incurred but not reported, incurred but pending or otherwise
unpaid and all other actuarial liabilities and accruals (including profit share, risk share and all other similar items),
in each case, calculated as of the Measurement Time in accordance with (1) SAP for the RBC Entities and (2)
GAAP for SWH MA.
“Moelis” means Moelis & Company LLC.
“NASDAQ” means the NASDAQ Global Select Market.
“Net Asset Value” means the Transferred Assets set forth on the Reference Net Asset Value
Schedule as of the Measurement Time minus the Assumed Liabilities set forth on the Reference Net Asset Value
Schedule as of the Measurement Time, in each case calculated in accordance with the Accounting Principles.
“Net Working Capital” means the current assets of the Non-RBC Entities as of the Measurement
Time minus the current liabilities of the Non-RBC Entities as of the Measurement Time, in each case including
only those financial statement line items set forth in the Reference Net Working Capital Schedule and calculated
in accordance with the Accounting Principles; provided, however, that in no event shall Net Working Capital (or
any components thereof) include any Excluded Assets or Excluded Liabilities, any Tax assets or liabilities (other
than non-Income Tax assets and liabilities and amounts owed to the Transferred Entities and their Affiliates as
reimbursements in connection with ACA Insurer Taxes and any related Tax gross-ups) or any Restricted Cash.
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“Non-MCC Entity” means the Seller and its Subsidiaries (other than a Transferred Entity).
“Non-RBC Entities” means each of the Transferred Entities, other than the RBC Entities and SWH
MA.
“OCR” means U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Office for Civil Rights.
“Order” means any order, judgment, injunction, ruling, writ, award or decree of any Governmental
Entity.
“Ordinary Course of Business” means the ordinary and usual course of normal day-to-day
operations of the businesses of the Transferred Entities, as conducted by the Seller and the Transferred Entities
prior to the date hereof consistent with past practice.
“Organizational Documents” means any corporate, partnership or limited liability organizational
documents, including certificates or articles of incorporation, bylaws, certificates of formation, operating
agreements (including limited liability company agreement and agreements of limited partnership), certificates of
limited partnership, partnership agreements, stockholder agreements and certificates of existence, as applicable.
“Part D Requirements” means all rules, policies and requirements established for the operation of a
qualified prescription drug coverage and set forth in Section 1860D-1 et seq. of the Social Security Act, and the
regulations promulgated thereunder at 42 C.F.R. Part 423, each as may be amended, supplemented or interpreted
by CMS from time to time.
“PCI DSS” means the Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard, issued by the Payment Card
Industry Security Standards Council, as may be revised from time to time.
“PCT Laws” means all Laws, including but not limited to HIPAA, the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act
and the Telephone Consumer Protection Act, governing (a) privacy of Personal Information and NPI or (b) the
collection, retention, use, storage, processing, transfer, disposal, destruction or disclosure of Personal Information
and/or NPI, each of the foregoing clauses (a) and (b) above as and to the extent applicable to the Non-MCC
Entities (solely with respect to the MCC Business) and the Transferred Entities.
“Permitted Liens” means (i) Liens for Taxes or other governmental charges not yet delinquent and
payable or that are being contested in good faith by appropriate Proceedings, (ii) Liens arising in the Ordinary
Course of Business in favor of vendors, carriers, warehousemen, repairmen, mechanics, workmen, materialmen,
construction or similar Liens, (iii) Liens affecting the interest of the grantor of any easements benefiting owned
real property and Liens of record attaching to real property, fixtures or leasehold improvements that would not,
individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to materially impair the continued use and operation of
the assets to which they relate in the business of such entity and its Subsidiaries as presently conducted, (iv) Liens
specifically reflected in the consolidated balance sheet of the Seller as of December 31, 2019 and the notes thereto
set forth in the Seller’s annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019, (v) Liens,
exceptions, defects or irregularities in title, easements,
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imperfections of title, claims, charges, security interests, rights-of-way, covenants, restrictions, and other similar
matters that would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to materially impair the continued
use and operation of the assets to which they relate in the business of such entity and its Subsidiaries as presently
conducted and (vi) any license, covenant or other right to or under Intellectual Property.
“Person” means any individual, corporation (including not-for-profit), general or limited
partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, estate, trust, association, organization, Governmental Entity
or other entity of any kind or nature.
“Personal Information” means any data and other information that is capable of identifying a
natural person, and is regulated by one or more Laws; provided, that, Personal Information includes “Protected
Health Information” and “Electronic Protected Health Information” (as those terms are defined in 45 CFR
§ 160.103).
“Post-Closing Tax Period” means any taxable period beginning after the Closing Date and the
portion of any Straddle Period beginning after the Closing Date.
“Pre-Closing Tax Period” means any taxable period ending on or before the Closing Date and the
portion of any Straddle Period ending on and including the Closing Date.
“Pre-Closing Taxes” means (regardless of any disclosure of any matter set forth in the Seller
Disclosure Letter or any other disclosure schedule): (a) all Taxes of the Transferred Entities with respect to any
Pre-Closing Tax Period (determined in the case of any Straddle Period in accordance with Section 7.02(c)); (b) all
Taxes of another Person imposed on any Transferred Entity or for which any Transferred Entity or the Purchaser
is liable (1) under Treasury Regulations Section 1.1502-6 (or any similar provision of state, local or foreign Law)
by reason of such Transferred Entity or any Seller Party having been a member of any combined, consolidated,
affiliated or unitary tax group on or prior to the Closing Date, (2) by reason of any contract (other than (x) any
customary commercial agreement entered into in the Ordinary Course of Business that is primarily not related to
Taxes, such as a license, lease or credit agreement or (y) any employment agreement), in each case, entered into
by any Transferred Entity prior to the Closing, or (3) by reason of the assumption, successor or transferee liability
or by operation of law, in each case, with respect to any event or transaction relating to the Transferred Entities
occurring prior to the Closing; and (c) all Taxes (other than Transfer Taxes) incurred on the deemed sale of assets
pursuant to the Section 338(h)(10) Elections.
“Proceedings” means any civil, criminal or administrative actions, suits, claims, hearings,
arbitrations, investigations or other proceedings.
“Provider” means any health care practitioner, health care facility, health care agency or other
practitioner or entity with which the Transferred Entities contract for the provision of health care services,
supplies, case/care management, home care transportation or other services to Enrollees in accordance with the
applicable Government Program Contract.
“Provider Advances” means all loans and advances to Providers extended by the Transferred
Entities.
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“Provider Advances Receivable” means the aggregate amount of all Provider Advances that remain
outstanding as of the Measurement Time.
“Purchaser Material Adverse Effect” means any event, change, circumstance or effect that,
individually or in the aggregate, prevents, materially delays, materially impairs or has a material adverse effect on
the ability of the Purchaser to consummate the Closing or the other transactions contemplated hereby (including
obtaining the financing necessary to pay the Purchase Price).
“RBC Entities” means each of Magellan Complete Care of Arizona, Inc., MCC of Virginia, Senior
Whole Health of New York, Inc. and MCC Florida.
“Restricted Cash” means any cash which is not freely usable by the Purchaser because it is subject
to restrictions, limitations on use or distribution by Law, Contract or otherwise, including without limitation,
restrictions on dividends and repatriations or any other form of restriction.
“Reference Adjusted Statutory Capital Schedule” means the schedule set forth in Exhibit F in this
Agreement and which sets forth the calculation methodology of the Adjusted Statutory Capital for each of the
RBC Entities.
“Reference Net Asset Value Schedule” means the schedule set forth in Exhibit G in this Agreement
and which sets forth the calculation methodology of the Net Asset Value prepared in accordance with the
Accounting Principles.
“Reference Net Working Capital Schedule” means the schedule set forth in Exhibit H in this
Agreement and which sets forth the calculation methodology of the Net Working Capital of the Non-RBC Entities
prepared in accordance with the Accounting Principles.
“Representatives” means, with respect to any Person, such Person’s directors, managers, officers,
employees, investments bankers, attorneys, accountants and other advisors or representatives.
“Required Statutory Capital” means the aggregate value under the column titled “Required
Statutory Capital” for each of the respective RBC Entities as of the opening of business on the Closing Date in
accordance with the definitions and principles described in the Reference Adjusted Statutory Capital Schedule.
“SAP” means, as to any RBC Entity, the statutory accounting principles prescribed or permitted by
Law or Governmental Entities seated in the jurisdiction where such RBC Entity is domiciled and responsible for
the regulation thereof, consistently applied.
“SEC” means the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission.
“Securities Act” means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
“Seller Common Stock” means the common stock of the Seller, par value $0.01 per share.
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“Seller Guarantees” means, collectively, all letters of credit, guarantees, surety bonds, performance
bonds and other financial assurance obligations issued or entered into by or on behalf of (or for the account of) the
Seller or any of its Subsidiaries (other than by the Transferred Entities) in connection with the MCC Business.
“Seller Transaction Expenses” means (i) any and all fees and expenses incurred (including fees and
expenses payable or agreed or committed to be paid) by any Transferred Entity, whether accrued or not, in
connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including all fees and expenses of accountants,
experts, finders, financial advisors, service providers, consultants and counsel engaged by the Seller or its
Affiliates relating to the negotiation, implementation and closing of the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement and (ii) any and all cash bonuses, cash retention payments, severance, change in control, restricted
cash awards or similar cash payments (including the employer portion of any payroll, social security,
unemployment or similar Taxes) in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, except to
the extent such expenses are Assumed Liabilities or otherwise reflected in the Net Asset Value.
“Shared Contracts” means all Contracts of the Seller and its Subsidiaries as of the Closing Date
under which goods, services or other rights are made available to the MCC Business, on the one hand, and the
business of the Non-MCC Entities, on the other hand, including the Contracts listed or described in Section 4.12
of the Seller Disclosure Letter.
“Straddle Period” means any taxable period beginning on or before and ending after the Closing
Date.
“Subsidiary” means, with respect to any Person, any other Person of which at least a majority of
the securities or ownership interests having by their terms ordinary voting power to elect a majority of the board
of directors or other persons performing similar functions is directly or indirectly owned or controlled by such
Person and/or by one or more of its other Subsidiaries.
“SWH MA” means Senior Whole Health, LLC.
“Target Net Working Capital” means Two Million Seven Hundred Six Thousand Eight Hundred
Twenty-Two Dollars ($2,706,822).
“Tax Claim” means any claim, audit, examination, contest, litigation or other proceeding with
respect to Taxes.
“Tax Return” means all returns and reports (including elections, declarations, disclosures,
schedules, estimates and information returns) supplied to a Taxing Authority relating to Taxes.
“Taxes” means any federal, state, local or non-U.S. income, gross receipts, franchise, estimated,
alternative minimum, capital, net worth, premium, sales, use, transfer, value added, excise, stamp, real property,
personal property, social security, unemployment, disability, payroll or withholding taxes or other duties or
charges in the nature of a tax imposed by a Governmental Entity, including, without limitation, ACA Insurer
Taxes and any interest, penalties or additions imposed in respect of the foregoing.
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“Taxing Authority” means any Governmental Entity responsible for the administration, collection
or imposition of any Tax.
“Third-Party” any Person who is not a Party to this Agreement or an Affiliate of a Party to this
Agreement or a Representative of the foregoing.
“Third-Party Claim” any action, suit, claim or other Proceeding made or brought by a Third-Party.
“Transfer Taxes” means any and all transfer Taxes (excluding, for the avoidance of doubt, Income
Taxes), including sales, use, excise, goods and services, stock, conveyance, gross receipts, registration, business
and occupation, securities transactions, real estate, land transfer, stamp, documentary, notarial, filing, recording,
permit, license, authorization and similar Taxes, fees, duties, levies, customs, tariffs, imposts, assessments,
obligations and charges.
“Transferred Equity Interests” means the AlphaCare Stock and the issued and outstanding equity
interests of the MCC Companies.
“Transition Services Agreement” means the Transition Services Agreement, to be dated as of the
Closing Date, by and between the Seller and the Purchaser, substantially in the form of Exhibit I.
“Treasury Regulations” means the regulations promulgated under the Code.
“Willful Breach” means either (i) a breach by a Party of any of its obligations under this
Agreement that is a consequence of an act or omission knowingly undertaken or omitted by the breaching Party
with the intent of causing a breach of this Agreement or (ii) subject to the satisfaction or waiver (by the Party for
whom such condition may be waived) of the conditions to Closing set forth in Article V (other than those
conditions that by their terms are to be satisfied at Closing, provided that those conditions would have been
satisfied if the Closing were to occur on such date), the willful or intentional failure of the breaching Party to
promptly consummate the Closing in accordance with Section 1.05 and the transactions contemplated to be
consummated at the Closing in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement.
[SIGNATURE PAGES FOLLOW]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have duly executed this Agreement, each as of the date first
written above.

MAGELLAN HEALTH, INC.
By:/s/ Jonathan N. Rubin
Name: Jonathan N. Rubin
Title: Chief Financial Officer

[Signature Page to Stock and Asset Purchase Agreement]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have duly executed this Agreement, each as of the date first
written above.

MOLINA HEALTHCARE, INC.
By:/s/ Mark Keim
Name: Mark Keim
Title: Executive Vice President

[Signature Page to Stock and Asset Purchase Agreement]

ANNEX A
(I)

MCC Companies
Florida MHS, Inc.
SWH Holdings, Inc.
The Management Group, LLC
Magellan Complete Care of Virginia, LLC
Magellan Complete Care of Arizona, Inc. (f/k/a Magellan of Arizona, Inc.)

(II)

MCC Subsidiaries
Senior Health Holdings, LLC
Senior Health Holdings, Inc.
Senior Whole Health Management Company, Inc.
AlphaCare Holdings, Inc.
Senior Whole Health, LLC
Senior Whole Health of New York, Inc.

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATIONS
I, Kenneth J. Fasola, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10‑Q of Magellan Health, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements
were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of,
and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a‑15(e) and 15d‑15(e)) and internal control over financial
reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a‑15(f) and 15d‑15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to
be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including
its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of
the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case
of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of
directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant
role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: May 11, 2020

/s/ Kenneth J. Fasola
Kenneth J. Fasola
Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATIONS
I, Jonathan N. Rubin, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10‑Q of Magellan Health, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements
were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of,
and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a‑15(e) and 15d‑15(e)) and internal control over financial
reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a‑15(f) and 15d‑15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to
be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including
its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of
the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case
of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of
directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant
role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: May 11, 2020

/s/ Jonathan N. Rubin
Jonathan N. Rubin
Chief Financial Officer

Exhibit 32.1
Certification Required by Rule 13a‑14(b) and 18 U.S.C. Section 1350
(as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes‑Oxley Act of 2002)
I, Kenneth J. Fasola, as Chief Executive Officer of Magellan Health, Inc. (the “Company”), certify, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350 (as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes‑Oxley Act of 2002), that to my knowledge:
(1)

the accompanying Quarterly Report on Form 10‑Q of the Company for the quarterly period ended
March 31, 2020 (the “Report”), fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(2)

the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition
and results of operations of the Company.

Date: May 11, 2020

/s/ Kenneth J. Fasola
Kenneth J. Fasola
Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit 32.2
Certification Required by Rule 13a‑14(b) and 18 U.S.C. Section 1350
(as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes‑Oxley Act of 2002)
I, Jonathan N. Rubin, as Chief Financial Officer of Magellan Health, Inc. (the “Company”), certify, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350 (as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes‑Oxley Act of 2002), that to my knowledge:
(1)

the accompanying Quarterly Report on Form 10‑Q of the Company for the quarterly period ended
March 31, 2020 (the “Report”), fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(2)

the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition
and results of operations of the Company.

Date: May 11, 2020

/s/ Jonathan N. Rubin
Jonathan N. Rubin
Chief Financial Officer

